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COSH was first established in 1987. It is a statutory body vested with functions, as set out
in the “Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance” (Cap. 389), to protect and

improve the health of the community by:

1. Informing and educating the public on the harm of smoking and its adverse
effects on health;

2. Conducting and coordinating research into the cause, prevention and cure of
tobacco dependence;

3. Advising the Government, community health organizations or any public body
on matters relating to smoking and health.

Under such a charter, COSH has taken up the role as an active player and commentator
on all issues relating to tobacco control. We aim to act within our charter in response to
the changing local environment as it affects the promotion of tobacco and the epidemic

caused by smoking.
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=& Chairman
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Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH
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Mr Antonio KWONG, a qualified solicitor, is a
businessman. He joined COSH in 2009 and was
appointed as COSH Chairman in 2014. He is the
Chairman of the Information & Research Committee and
Legislation Committee, Vice-chairman of the Executive
Committee and also a member of the Community
Liaison Committee and Education & Publicity Committee.

EI=EE Vice-chairman
AiE 2+ MH
Ms Yolanda NG Yuen-ting, MH
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Ms Yolanda NG is a Councilor of Wan Chai District and
actively involved in public services. She joined COSH in
2008 and is the Chairman of the Executive Committee
and Community Liaison Committee and also a member
of the Education & Publicity Committee, Information &
Research Committee and Legislation Committee.
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Dr Amy CHIU is the Deputy Director
of Department of Health from 2018.
She joined COSH as an ex-officio
member in 2018 and is a member of
the Executive Committee.
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Ms Ada HO is an entrepreneur, she
founded a social enterprise and non-
profit organization. She joined COSH
in 2014 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Dr Daniel HO is an Associate
Professor in the School of Public
Health, The University of Hong
Kong. He joined COSH in 2017 and
is a member of the Education &
Publicity Committee, Community
Liaison Committee, Information &
Research Committee and Legislation
Committee.
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Ms HSU Siu-man
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Ms HSU Siu-man is a registered
social worker in youth organization.
She joined COSH in 2014 and is a
member of the Education & Publicity
Committee.
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Dr David LAM Tzit-yuen
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Dr David LAM is the Vice President of
The Hong Kong Medical Association.
He joined COSH in 2018 and is a
member of the Community Liaison
Committee.
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Dr Haston LIU Wai-ming
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Dr Haston LIU is a dentist and also
the President of Hong Kong Dental
Association. He joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Education &
Publicity Committee.
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Dr Christina MAW is the Hospital
Chief Executive of Grantham Hospital
and Tung Wah Hospital, Hospital
Authority. She joined COSH in 2015
and is a member of the Community
Liaison Committee.
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Dr Loletta SO is a Consultant in
Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern
Hospital. She joined COSH in 2018
and is a member of the Education &
Publicity Committee and Information
& Research Committee.
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Mr Teddy TANG

Chun-keung, MH, JP
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Mr Teddy TANG is a secondary school
principal and the Chairman of The
Hong Kong Association of the Heads
of Secondary Schools. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Mr Henry TONG
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Mr Henry TONG is the Managing
Director of an enterprise and the
Chairman of Committee on Home-
School Co-operation. He joined
COSH in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee and
Information & Research Committee.
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Mr Richard TSANG Lap-ki
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REHEREBEZESERM
THEBEBEZEE -

Mr Richard TSANG is the Chairman of
a public relations consultancy group.
He joined COSH in 2016 and is the
Chairman of the Education & Publicity
Committee and also a member of the
Executive Committee.
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Dr Stewart TUNG Yuk, JP
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Dr Stewart TUNG is a Consultant in
Tuen Mun Hospital. He joined COSH
in 2018 and is a member of the
Education & Publicity Committee.
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Dr Kelvin WANG Man-ping
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Dr Kelvin WANG is the Associate
Professor in the School of Nursing,
The University of Hong Kong. He
joined COSH in 2018 and is a member
of the Information & Research
Committee.
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Ms Sandy WONG
Hang-yee, JP
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Ms Sandy WONG is Consultant Solicitor
at a law firm and the Past President
of Hong Kong Federation of Women
Lawyers. Ms Wong is actively involved
in public service. She joined COSH in
2017 and is a member of the Education
& Publicity Committee and Legislation
Committee.

Z B Member

=L ER
Prof Samuel WONG
Yeung-shan
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Prof Samuel WONG is Professor and
Deputy Director of School of Public
Health and Primary Care, and also
the Associate Dean (Education) of
Faculty of Medicine of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He joined
COSH in 2014 and is a member
of the Information & Research
Committee.
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Safeguarding Public Health has been the top objective
of Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (COSH)
since its establishment in 1987. COSH has spared no
effort in spreading smoke-free messages and raising
public awareness of the hazards of tobacco, as well
as encouraging smokers to quit smoking through
publicity and education programmes. In 2018-2019,
COSH organized a series of promotional activities
under the theme of “Smoke-free Athlete”, aiming to
encourage the general public in developing healthy
habits and replacing smoking by doing exercise. At the
same time, in view of the alarming growth and global
popularity of electronic cigarettes and new smoking
products during the year, COSH promoted and
strengthened the public education about the potential
risks of these smoking products, and also proactively
advocated the Government and the Legislative Council
for a total ban on new smoking products in order to
strive for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

F % BIEE MH
Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH
Chairman
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FFEIRE Chairman’s Report

According to the Thematic Household Survey Report No. 64 of
the Census and Statistics Department, daily cigarette smokers
accounted for 10.0% of all persons aged 15 and over in 2017
in Hong Kong, the lowest on record, thereby highlighting the
result of effective tobacco control policies. Yet there are still over
615,000 daily smokers in Hong Kong. In 2018, the Government
set out the target of reducing the smoking prevalence to 7.8% by
2025 in “Towards 2025: Strategy and Action Plan to Prevent and
Control Non-communicable Diseases in Hong Kong"” To achieve
this target and the goal of achieving a smoke-free Hong Kong as
soon as possible, we must continue to strengthen our efforts in
curbing the tobacco epidemic. In the past year, COSH introduced
a series of innovative programmes targeting different segments of
the community, which successfully spread smoke-free messages
and were widely supported by the public.

“Be a Smoke-free Athlete” was the first such publicity initiative.
To raise public awareness on the adverse effect of smoking and
secondhand smoke, COSH invited the public to be a ‘Smoke-free
Athlete’ by saying no to cigarettes and motivating their family and
friends who smoke to replace their smoking habit with physical
exercise. Over 60 companies, government departments, non-
governmental organizations, hospitals, schools and organizations
supported the programme by organizing various promotional
events across the territory to spread smoke-free messages. More
than 4,500 citizens joined as "Smoke-free Athletes’, promising to
stay smoke-free and to replace smoking with a healthy habit.
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To sustain the supportive atmosphere of “Smoke-free Athlete’,
COSH organized “Smoke-free Run cum Carnival”in January 2019
to encourage smokers to resist tobacco cravings by running, as
well as motivate the public to build a smoke-free healthy lifestyle.
The event attracted around 1,600 runners and some runners
showed their support to smokers in kicking the habit by forming
a Smoke-free Buddy team to participate in the event. COSH also
invited local cartoon character, B.Duck to design a set of key
visuals with smoke-free tips to spread the messages among the
general public.

COSH collaborated with the School of Nursing and School
of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong to launch the
9" "Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community Campaign in order to
solicit support for smoking cessation from the community. With
the support of the 18 District Councils and district organizations,
over 100 community-based recruitments and promotional
activities were held across the territory, reaching over 60,000
citizens and recruiting more than 1,200 smokers to join the
smoking cessation contest.

Although the hazards of smoking are commonly known, some
elder smokers with long smoking history remain unaware
of current cessation services available. Since 2012, COSH has
organized the “Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project” to
enhance the knowledge and clear the myths of smoking and
cessation among senior citizens. Through health talks, elderly
centre visits, “Be Healthy, Be a Smoke-free Elderly” publicity events
and sharing by Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors, smoke-free
messages were disseminated to more than 2,000 elderly smokers
during the year.
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To encourage business sectors in cultivating a smoke-free
culture, COSH tailored publicity programmes for industries with
high smoking prevalence. Following the success of “Smoke-
free Construction Force” in 2016-2017 and “Smoke-free Catering
Force”in 2017-2018, “Smoke-free Drivers Club” programme, with
full support from various industry associations and smoking
cessation service providers, was launched this year targeting
the transportation industry. More than 60 companies and
organizations in the industry joined the “Smoke-free Drivers Club”
as corporate members, reaching over 72,000 practitioners. More
than 1,800 drivers and passengers also joined and pledged for
a smoke-free journey. Through publicity and smoking cessation
support, COSH hoped to strengthen the participation of the
transportation industry in promoting a smoke-free culture which
brings positive impacts on the occupational safety, health and
professional image of drivers.

Delivering smoke-free messages to the next generations at an
early stage can deter them from lighting up the first cigarette
and is crucial in striving for a smoke-free Hong Kong. COSH has
launched a series of education programmes that cater to the
needs of children and teenagers at different development stages,
and equip them with smoke-free knowledge. COSH introduced
a brand-new interactive drama titled “Smoke-free Family” in
collaboration with schools, Chung Ying Theatre, The Education
Bureau as co-organizer alongside support from Ocean Park
Hong Kong. The drama highlighted the importance of building a
smoke-free family among primary school students. Over the years,
the “School Interactive Education Theatre” programme has toured
for about 2,000 performances and reached more than 540,000
students and teachers.
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With over 250 teenagers enrolled, the “Smoke-free Teens
Programme 2018-2019" organized by COSH and co-organized by
The Education Bureau instilled knowledge on tobacco control
and the harms of smoking in youngsters, as well as provide
training on various skills through workshop and training camps.
The Smoke-free Teens organized innovative smoke-free activities
and promoted via social media to propagate the importance of
a smoke-free lifestyle among citizens from different strata and at
all ages. In addition, more than 110 “Smoke-free New Generation”
health talks were conducted in kindergartens, primary schools
and secondary schools during the school year 2018 to 2019 and
attended by over 20,000 students.

To further reduce smoking prevalence, COSH urges the
Government to strengthen tobacco control measures and
formulate long-term and comprehensive tobacco control
policies to protect public health. COSH is seriously concerned
that e-cigarettes and new smoking products such as heat-not-
burn tobacco products have been rapidly emerging around
the world in recent years, and have been promoted as trendy
items targeting non-smokers, especially young adults, which
renormalize smoking behaviour. However, studies have found that
these products contain harmful substances and are hazardous
to health. COSH welcomed the Government's proposal to ban
the import, manufacture, sale, distribution and advertisement of
e-cigarettes and other new smoking products suggested in the
2018 Policy Address. The bill has been submitted to the Legislative
Council for review.
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FFEIRE Chairman’s Report

In order to strengthen the awareness among schools and
community on e-cigarettes and other new smoking products,
COSH held three briefing sessions to enhance the knowledge
about the harms of these products, at which over 400 teachers,
students, social workers, parents, nurses and public health
practitioners attended. COSH also hosted two press conferences
in collaboration with different organizations to call for public
support on a total ban on new smoking products. COSH urged
the Legislative Council to pass the bill promptly in order to
prevent these products from becoming the gateway to smoking
and avoid the health risks posed to the public, especially the next
generation.

Two new Announcements in the Public Interest (APls) were
produced this year to enhance the promotion synergy, both
of which received wide support. The “Quit for Strength” API
encouraged smokers to improve their health by quitting smoking
and doing exercises. The “Tobacco Mutated to Harm” APl aimed
to alert the public on the hazards of all forms of tobacco products
and remind them not to try.

Tobacco control in Hong Kong has taken a big leap over the past
three decades. The efforts in curbing the tobacco epidemic must
continue to be strengthened and be prepared for the challenges
ahead. We hope that the smoking rate in Hong Kong will drop
to a single digit and achieve a smoke-free Hong Kong as soon
as possible. | would like to express our appreciation towards the
enthusiasm and invaluable recommendations of COSH Council
members and would also like to thank the Government and
various sectors of the community for their support in tobacco
control throughout the years. We will continue our mission and
unite every sector in the community to strive for a smoke-free
Hong Kong.
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Quit for Strength
Replace Smoking by Doing Exercise
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g Kong Council on Smoking and Health (“COSH") has been spreading smoke-
messages and encouraging smoking cessation among all walks of life through
sified publicity and education programmes. COSH noticed that giving up long-

smoking could be difficult as some quitters may encounter the challenge of
drawal symptoms and mood swing. Thus, strong determination and perseverance
re the keys for successful quit attempts. A research found that aerobic exercise can
elp distract the smoking intention and reduce tobacco cravings. COSH organized a
eries of publicity events with the core theme of “Replace Smoking by Doing Exercise”
in the year 2018 to 2019 to motivate the mass public to develop healthy habits and
become smoke-free, as well as support their families and friends to quit for strength
- and a healthy life.
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Physical Exercise Aids Relieving Stress and
Smoking Cessation

Life in Hong Kong is face-paced. According to the Thematic
Household Survey Report No. 64 of the Census and Statistics
Department, 6.6% of the daily cigarette smokers started smoking
because of easing tension, equivalent to around 40,600 smokers.
Meanwhile, some attributed the reasons for failing to give up
smoking to ‘cigarette smoking had formed a habit / favourite
(49.5%) and “Necessity for easing tension” (14.7%). The results
reflected that smoking becomes part of smokers' daily habit.
They also had misconception that smoking can help to deal with
stress. Nicotine in tobacco causes a release of dopamine in brain
that creates a “relaxed illusion” for smokers. In fact, it will raise the
adrenaline level, increase heart rate, narrow blood vessels and
elevate blood pressure which do not make people at ease.

"

Doing exercise has been scientifically proven as one of the
effective ways to relieve pressure that helps improve both
physical and mental health, as well as strengthen the heart and
lung function. Hormones like dopamine and endorphins are
naturally produced in brain through exercise. Dopamine could
change the reward pathways of human's brain and induce the
feelings of pleasure to replace the one induced by nicotine, also
to cope with the cravings and withdrawal symptoms, including
dizziness, headache, temper tantrum, distraction, insomnia, and
mood swing. 10 to 15 minutes exercise of moderate intensity
can help reduce the urge to smoke, such as yoga, running, rope-
skipping, swimming or hiking.
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Be a Smoke-free Athlete for a Healthy
Lifestyle

To echo the theme “Tobacco and Heart Disease” set by the World
Health Organization for World No Tobacco Day 2018, COSH
launched a publicity programme “Smoke-free Athlete” to promote
a smoke-free healthy lifestyle among the general public. COSH
recruited "Smoke-free Athletes” to pledge for smoke-free and pick
up healthy hobby to replace smoking and improve heart health
with family and friends, such as doing exercise.

Nine sessions of “Be a Smoke-free Athlete” promotion and
recruitment events were held at shopping malls and streets
across the territory. Sports game booths, including football,
basketball and curling were set up to promote the benefits of
doing exercises.

At the kick-off event of the programme, Dr LOUIE Hung-tak from
Department of Physical Education of Hong Kong Baptist University
explained how smoking affects sport performances, while Hong
Kong swimming athlete Stephanie AU and ultra-runner Steve LO
were sharing their experiences on stress relief through swimming
and running respectively. They also recommended smokers to
kick the habits by doing exercises to strengthen the quit will.
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To widely spread the smoke-free messages in the community,
COSH united the power from different sectors and district
organizations. Over 60 corporations, government departments,
non-governmental organizations, hospitals, schools and
organizations supported the “Be a Smoke-free Athlete” publicity
programme by organizing various promotional activities from
May to June 2018 across the territory. More than 4,500 members
of public joined as“Smoke-free Athletes”.

In the meantime, COSH invited local cartoon B.Duck to design a
set of key visuals on sports and healthy tips applying on different
promotional collaterals. “Smoke-free Athlete One-minute Exercise
Challenge” was also designed for the citizens to share their
enjoyable moment of 1-minute exercise and motivate them to
build an exercise habit. Nearly 500 participants engaged in this
challenge.

“Join in, Be Smoke-free” Promotional Videos

COSH produced a new Announcement in the Public Interest (API)
titled “Quit for Strength”in 2018-2019 to reinforce the message of
developing healthy habits and quitting smoking for strength and
a more enjoyable life. The APl was broadcasted via TV channels
and online platform to penetrate the smoke-free messages in the
community. In addition, Dr LOUIE Hung-tak and Steve LO were
featured in three promotional videos jointly produced by COSH
and Television Broadcasts Limited to clear the myths of smoking
such as for relaxation, social life and refreshing minds. These
videos were displayed on TV and online platforms to encourage
the public to be a“Smoke-free Athlete”

1833183
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“Get-set, Go” for Smoke-free Run

A research in the United States revealed that running can aid in
cessation and deduction on tobacco use. It also showed that
increasing physical exercise may reduce smoking rate. 70% of
the smoking respondents stopped smoking gradually when
they started running on a regular basis. In view of the growing
popularity of distance running in Hong Kong, COSH organized
the “Smoke-free Run cum Carnival” in early 2019 to promote the
benefit of a smoke-free lifestyle and avoid smoking triggers by
doing exercises.

Participants joined the "Smoke-free Run” under different
categories including: Individual, Smoke-free Family Team, School
Team, Corporate Team and Smoke-free Buddy Team. The buddy
team aimed to motivate non-smokers to form running groups
with smokers for showing support and encouragement to sustain
smokers’ cessation motivation. Around 1,600 participants joined
and over 40 organizations and smoking cessation service partners
showed their support to the event. Sports game booths and
information booths were set up at the carnival and successfully
introduced the smoking hazards, positive impact on physical
activity and smoking cessation services in Hong Kong to the
participants and their family members.

29
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Besides, two sessions of “Smoke-free Run” Training Workshops
were held by COSH. An experienced distance running coach
was invited to offer participants trainings to get prepared for
the “Smoke-free Run”. The coach shared basic running skills and
tips on how to cope with tobacco cravings through running.
Ex-smokers also shared their successful quit stories and remarked
the importance of family and friends' support for strengthening
quitters' determination and increasing the success rate at a quit
attempt.

Physical Exercise Anytime and Anywhere

People working in office always sit in workplace and are lack
of exercise for long hours. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of
Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewell Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong
was invited to introduce the “Zero-time Exercise” which can be
done anytime and anywhere. The exercise does not require any
equipment, only simple movements while sitting, standing or
walking for all ability levels. When a cigarette craving hits at office,
smokers can try doing zero-time exercise, drinking more water

and eating low calorie snacks.
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Smoking is hazardous to health and increases the risk of fatal
diseases. To safeguard one's health and the family's wellbeing,
COSH urges everyone to extinguish any bad habits such as
smoking and develop a healthy lifestyle through physical exercise.
Meanwhile, doing exercise yields stronger willpower for quitters
to overcome nicotine addiction and relieve stress in the process
of smoking cessation. With strong perseverance, appropriate

cessation support and encouragement from family and friends
which are the keys for a successful quit, smokers can stay away
from tobacco hazards to regain healthy life ultimately.
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2018/11/26

2019/1/13

2019/2

2019/3/25
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“Be a Smoke-free Athlete” Publicity
Campaign

Kick-off event of Smoke-free Publicity
Programme for World No Tobacco Day

The 9""Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign

“Enact a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and Other
New Tobacco Products”Press Conference

“Support to Enact a Total Ban on
E-cigarettes and Other New Tobacco
Products”Briefing Sessions

“Support to Enact a Total Ban on
E-cigarettes and Other New Smoking
Products” Press Conference

“Smoke-free Drivers Club”Programme
New APIs “Tobacco Mutated to Harm”and
"Quit for Strength”

“Smoke-free Run cum Carnival”

Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

The 9""Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community
Campaign Prize Presentation Ceremony
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Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
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2018/4 -2019/3  [#EFEZKED] 718/2018-2019 Project 2018-2019

2018 BT ERER 2 4 t R 40 1 2018 Kwai Chung Hospital Support for
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2018/5/9 World No Tobacco Day cum Smoke-free
[0 | 3% 0B B R . /
Exercise for Healthy Heart Ceremony
L N Hong Kong International Dental Expo and
2018/8/24-26 EAEE FRHEE B & 2018 g rond P

Symposium 2018

Smoke-free Promotion Campaign of

2018/10 - 201 o e
8/10-2019/3 EABBEREEHELE) The Hong Kong Jockey Club

Lingnan University Health Awareness

2018/10/15-19 sEm NE R ETE

Programme

2018/10/27-28 - . . “Be Healthy, Be a Smoke-free Elderly”
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CLPP Safety, Health & Environment (SHE)

2018/11/3 RETHT2EFEIRIRE 2018

Day 2018

. Central and Western District Health Festival

2018/11/3-4 2018/2019 F[Z Fr 7o (& [ FE &7

2018/2019
2018/12/9 SFIRERZEAR 2018 Gammon Family Fun Day 2018

. Hong Kong Cancer Day 2018 —
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“Anti-Cancer, Say No To Alcohol”

. . Hong Kong St John Ambulance Brigade
EEENHWIEH S EE Jhong J
2019/3/10 KEBERERLE 2019 Youth Command
SR R
= - Healthy Family Fun Day 2019

2019/3/16 RRBLEHIRIR 2019 Ka Fuk Fun Day 2019
“Yan Chai STEM FAIRE 2019" of Yan Chai
2019/3/16 {7 BERT [ 1= % STEM FAIRE 2019 .
Hospital
N "An Extraordinary Sunday with the New
2019/3/17 BEFSEe [ ERNEEHK] 4 4

Voice” of The New Voice Club of Hong Kong
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2018/4 -2019/3

2018/7 —2019/3

2018/10-2019/3

2019/3/15

LEHBEET Youth Education Programmes
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BHBR K EHE Liaison with Academia and Community

2018/4/9,4/16 &
11/6

2018/5/7-8

2018/9/29

2018/10/27

2018/11/14

2019/1/22
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Health Talks for "Smoke-free New
Generation”

“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2018-2019

School Interactive Education Theatre
"Smoke-free Family”

“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2018-2019
Award Presentation Ceremony

HKU School of Nursing —
Nursing Programmes

Hospital Authority Convention 2018

HKU Youth Quitline — Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop

“From Coding to STEM" Showcase cum
Competition Award Presentation Ceremony

The School of Nursing, Union Hospital —
Nursing Programmes

Kwai Chung Hospital's Smoke-free Seminar
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2018/9/13-15 Fr R AREES RS S
2018/10/6 BB EIEE M
2018/11/2-4 FETNEEREIEEEMAT S
2018/11/19-23 B A IETE 2018
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ZE5EE Visits

2018/5/18 SRPVTEBERL,

2018/6/5 EEfE2

2018/11/30

= B S =5 26 ER BA S 2
2019/1/29 BAERBERABEBRIRE

JEED Events

The 12™ Asia Pacific Conference on Tobacco
or Health

Symposium on Cancer Challenge in
Hong Kong

The 19" National Symposium on Tobacco
Control

Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control
2018

Seminar on Harms of E-cigarettes

Smoke-free Visit to Macao

A Scholar of Research Programme from the
United States

Exchange Students of Li Ka Shing Faculty of
Medicine, The University of Hong Kong
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“Be a Smoke-free Athlete” Publicity Campaign

World Health Organization designated 31 May every year as
World No Tobacco Day to draw global attention to the tobacco
epidemic and advocate for effective policies to reduce tobacco
consumption. “Tobacco and heart disease” is the theme of World
No Tobacco Day 2018. In order to echo the theme and promote
the smoke-free lifestyle, COSH launched a publicity campaign
with the theme of “Smoke-free Athlete” to encourage the public
to say no to cigarettes, as well as support their families and friends
to replace smoking by a healthy habit such as participating in
various kinds of sports to resist the tobacco cravings and improve
heart health.

Kick-off Event

COSH, in collaboration with Television Broadcasts Limited,
organized a kick-off event on 20 May 2018 at Plaza Hollywood.
Officiating guests included Dr CHUI Tak-yi, Acting Secretary
for Food and Health, Dr Cindy LAI, Acting Director of Health,
Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and Yolanda NG, COSH
Vice-chairman. Besides, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of
Community Medicine cum Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong and
Dr LOUIE Hung-tak from Department of Physical Education of
Hong Kong Baptist University explained how to resist tobacco
cravings through doing exercises and how smoking affects
sports performance. Artists Tracy CHU, Joey LAW and LEUNG Ka-
ki, together with Hong Kong swimming athlete Stephanie AU
and ultra runner Steve LO promoted the benefits of a smoke-free
lifestyle through interactive games and performances.
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Moreover, COSH produced three promotional videos in
collaboration with Television Broadcasts Limited which were
premiered at the event. The videos were hosted by Dr LOUIE
Hung-tak, Steve LO and LEUNG Ka-ki to clear the myths on
smoking and urge the public to be a “Smoke-free Athlete”

“Be a Smoke-free Athlete”

To enhance public awareness on World No Tobacco Day, COSH
held the "Be a Smoke-free Athlete” with over 60 companies,
government departments, non-governmental organizations,
hospitals, schools and organizations supported as working
partners. They organized various publicity events across the
territory from May to June 2018 in order to encourage different
stakeholders and the general public to show support, as well
as to spread the smoke-free messages to every corner of the
community. Over 4,500 citizens registered as the “Smoke-free
Athletes” to say no to cigarettes and motivate smokers to replace
smoking by doing exercise.

39




40

SEE Events

[fRER R — D EhE

REBRAMESNE ZEETRNEADHH
BEERIBEERRE —DEKE] ZBTR
ER-—DERRETHEERSBE XUE
BB RBRENER CHBESR L

B MESREATESERENEER
REGF BRI AE - HAR 5] T 5004 [ EfE R
250 -

Facebook 2% B

S—FHE: BRIIEZTRLE[EBERT
AEE|EY ZTEER2018F5A19HE
6 A 30 B Hi [ 28 ¥ Facebook M E & - TR
A AE KR AYBDUCkiEF I NEBE FREE
1 A B AR S BERER B AR A - WiEBA
RIEEEE B ig NHEEEE L - AFEELE o

S R AR

ZEER08FSAZcA AR EERR
ETNG  BERRZAESE | A5 REHER
EB) - BE WEEHHTJJH)\EX%HME&%J&
SH[EERT —DEKRE ] OB SHRE
EE)E R B % {8 B BDuck R 51 #Y 1F B 1k B
u BRI EERT] EXBHEIR - TEXK
MEZEBNES  RNEREREREELES -
Bmwﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%%mﬁﬂﬁ HEIAR
BERIFMERETERE

TEBAE - www.smokefree hk/exercise

“Smoke-free Athlete One-minute Exercise Challenge”

To encourage smoking cessation by doing exercise, COSH
launched the “Smoke-free Athlete One-minute Exercise Challenge”
to motivate smokers developing new healthy habits to replace
smoking. Around 500 participants recorded designated running
movement in one minute and shared the happy moment of
doing exercise in a creative and funny way.

Facebook Lucky Draw

Besides, a Facebook lucky draw promotion was held from 19 May
to 30 June 2018 to urge the public to join as “Smoke-free Athlete”
and spread smoke-free messages by sharing a tailored photo with
creative B. Duck filter effects among their families and friends on
social media for promoting a smoke-free lifestyle.

Shopping Mall and Street Promotion

Nine sessions of shopping mall and street promotion activities
were organized during May to June 2018 across the territory
to encourage the public to join the “Smoke-free Athlete” and
participate in the "Smoke-free Athlete One-minute Exercise
Challenge”. Sports game booths designed by B.Duck were set
up in some shopping malls and the “Smoke-free Athletes” had
enjoyed playing football, basketball and curling to adopt a
smoke-free and healthy lifestyle. B.Duck also joined to support
and encourage the citizens to develop healthy habits.

Activity Website: www.smokefree hk/exercise
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Advocacy on a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and
Other New Smoking Products

New smoking products gained popularity globally in recent years.
They had been promoted as healthy, no harm or less harmful. The
novel packaging design and various flavours attracted youngsters
to use. Electronic cigarettes (e-cigarettes) and heat-not-burn
(HNB) tobacco products use among youngsters in other countries
surged exponentially. It was alarming that the use in Hong Kong
students had also increased substantially.

The Government first introduced the legislative proposals to
strengthen tobacco control in May 2015 including the ban on
e-cigarettes. To nip it in the bud, COSH held a press conference on
15 June 2018 to urge the Legislative Council to enact a total ban on
alternative smoking products promptly for protecting the public
health. COSH had also spared no effort in education and publicity,
three briefing sessions were held in September and October 2018 to
raise public awareness on the hazards of new smoking products.

In September 2018, COSH and 71 organizations jointly sent a letter
to the Chief Executive. A joint press conference was also held by
COSH, The Hong Kong Medical Association, Hong Kong Dental
Association and The Federation of Medical Societies of Hong Kong
on 27 September to urge for banning the e-cigarettes and other
new tobacco products completely, and a timeline for total ban of
smoking. The Chief Executive proposed a total ban on the import,
manufacture, sale, distribution and advertisement of e-cigarettes and
other new smoking products in the 2018 Policy Address released in
October 2018 which demonstrated the Government’s determination
to safeguard public health. COSH welcomed the measure and
conducted another press conference on 15 October 2018, together
with various professional organizations and community associations,
to urge the Government to put the legislation forward and press for
immediate review and endorsement by the Legislative Council with
no further delay. COSH also proposed the Government to take a bold
step to formulate a goal for a total ban of smoking in order to protect
the public from tobacco epidemic and achieve a smoke-free Hong
Kong.
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“Enact a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and Other New
Tobacco Products” Press Conference

To stop the new smoking products from becoming a gateway
to youth smoking, COSH, together with The Hong Kong Medical
Association, Hong Kong Doctors Union and Hong Kong Dental
Association, hosted a press conference on 15 June 2018 to urge
the Government to totally ban e-cigarettes and other new tobacco
products to safeguard public health. Speakers included Dr Daniel
HO, Associate Professor, School of Public Health of The University
of Hong Kong (HKU), Dr Kelvin WANG, Assistant Professor, School
of Nursing of HKU, Dr David LAM, Honorary Secretary of The Hong
Kong Medical Association, Dr YEUNG Chiu-fat, President of Hong
Kong Doctors Union, Dr Haston LIU, President of Hong Kong Dental
Association, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, Yolanda NG, COSH
Vice-chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director.

Antonio KWONG remarked, “COSH has serious concerns on the
growth of e-cigarettes and new tobacco products including Heat-
not-burn (HNB) tobacco products in recent years. They targeted
non-smokers, particularly the youngsters to try. Some smokers
may switch to these products instead of quitting smoking. There
is no safe form of tobacco. Harmful chemicals were also found
in these emerging tobacco products bringing health risks to the
public. The Government should ban these products as soon as
possible to nip it in the bud.”

The School of Public Health of HKU found that the use of
e-cigarettes and other new tobacco products may become
a gateway to smoking among the youngsters and children.
According to the school-based survey on smoking among
students in 2016/17, the prevalence rate of ever e-cigarette
use among the secondary school students was 8.7% while the
prevalence rate of ever e-cigarette use among P4-P6 students
was 1.4%. For those P4-P6 students who had ever tried cigarette
and e-cigarette, 73% of them tried e-cigarettes first.

Besides, e-cigarettes had been promoted as a smoking cessation
tool. However, according to the survey conducted by the Youth
Quitline of School of Nursing, HKU in 2014-2015, only around
13.4% of the young smokers who had ever used e-cigarettes
quitted smoking at 6-month follow-up, which is lower than
those who had never used e-cigarettes (20.8%). This showed that
e-cigarette use did not help quit smoking nor reduce smoking in
youth and adults.
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To prevent the potential health risks associated with the use and
secondhand smoke of e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products,
COSH, The Hong Kong Medical Association, Hong Kong Doctors
Union and Hong Kong Dental Association urged the Government
to implement a total ban as soon as possible.

Briefing Sessions

In order to strengthen awareness on e-cigarettes and other
new tobacco products in schools and the community, as well
as to equip the youngsters with the knowledge on the harms,
prevent them from using these products and uptake of smoking,
three briefing sessions were conducted on 21 September,
12 and 22 October 2018 respectively with a total of over 400
participants, including teachers, students, social workers, parents,
nurses and public health practitioners.

Moderator of the three briefing sessions was Prof LAM Tai-
hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health
of HKU. Speakers included Dr Daniel HO, Associate Professor,
School of Public Health of HKU, Dr David LAM, Surgeon and
Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman. Legislative Council members,
Dr Hon Pierre CHAN and Hon IP Kin-yuen also attended the
briefing session to express their supportive views on the total ban
of e-cigarettes and other new tobacco products as well as a total
ban on smoking.
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“Support to Enact a Total Ban on E-Cigarettes and Other
New Smoking Products” Press Conference

Different sectors in the community showed support for the
legislation after series of education and publicity activities.
COSH, together with tobacco control groups, academia, medical
and healthcare professionals, education sector, youth service
organizations, patient groups and other sectors, organized a joint
press conference on 15 October 2018 aiming to express concerns
about the enactment of a total ban on e-cigarettes and other
new smoking products.

At the press conference, the myths of a total ban would lead
to a surge in the smuggling activities of these products were
busted. As recommended by the World Health Organization, the
most effective measure against smuggling was tight control and
aggressive enforcement. Promotion and education should also
be strengthened to enhance public awareness on the illegality of
illicit cigarettes. The Hong Kong Customs and Excise Department
had adopted stringent enforcement against illicit cigarette
activities on all fronts. To counteract the potential illicit market of
the new smoking products after the enactment of the legislation,
COSH urged the Hong Kong Customs and Excise Department and
the related government departments to step up enforcement
strategy to protect public health.

The e-cigarettes and the new tobacco products’ use in Hong
Kong had increased substantially, thus the Government and the
Legislative Council should take full account of public opinions, to
implement the ban as soon as possible to stop its epidemics and
protect public health, especially for the next generation.

The press conference was jointly hosted by:

Tobacco Control Groups

- Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health

- The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

- Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

- United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service
- HKU Youth Quitline
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Academia
- Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong
- Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Medical and Healthcare Professionals

- Hong Kong Academy of Medicine

- The Hong Kong Medical Association

- The Federation of Medical Societies of Hong Kong
- Hong Kong Doctors Union

- Hong Kong Dental Association

- Hong Kong College of Cardiology

- The Hong Kong Academy of Nursing

- The Pharmaceutical Society of Hong Kong

- The Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Hong Kong

Education Sector

- Hong Kong Aided Primary School Heads Association

- Hong Kong Subsidized Secondary Schools Council

- Hong Kong Association of the Heads of Secondary Schools
- Subsidized Primary Schools Council

- 18 Districts' Federations of Parent-Teachers Associations

Youth Service Organization

- The Boys'& Girls Clubs Association of Hong Kong

Patient Groups
- Hong Kong Alliance of Patients’ Organization

- Hong Kong Patients'Voices
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The 9" “Quit to Win” Smoke-free Community
Campaign

COSH has been organizing the “Quit to Win"Contest since 2009 to
provide an alternative platform to motivate and assist smokers in
quitting smoking, in addition to cessation clinics. The “Quit to Win"
Contest recruits over 1,000 smokers to kick the habit every year.

To develop a supportive atmosphere for smoking cessation and
increase public awareness on tobacco control, COSH has launched
"Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community Campaign with the support
from the District Councils and community organizations since
2012. The Campaign motivates smokers to quit and promotes the
smoke-free lifestyle through the “Quit to Win" Contest and a series
of district-based smoke-free promotion activities. The Campaign
also includes media promotion, smoking cessation counseling
and scientific research.

With the continuous support from the 18 District Councils
and district working partners, COSH has launched the
9" *Quit to Win" Smoke-free Community Campaign and organized
over 100 recruitment and promotion activities across the territory.
Together with the support from Correctional Services Department
(CSD), The Hong Kong Jockey Club, Link Asset Management
Limited, also more than 20 industry associations and companies
from the catering, construction and transportation industry, the
Campaign promoted smoke-free message to a wide spectrum of
the society.

Smoking Cessation Counseling Trainings

Two sessions of Smoking Cessation Counseling Training were
conducted on 7 and 25 June 2018 in collaboration with the
School of Nursing and School of Public Health of The University
of Hong Kong (HKU). Nearly 90 staff and volunteers from district
working partners, supporting organizations and university
students joined the trainings which enhanced their knowledge
on tobacco control and smoking cessation counseling skills for
organizing recruitment sessions and smoke-free promotion. All
participants were awarded with certificates after completing the
trainings.



REHBBRBELAABFLEER L S EEHEE
PRERERESHR(RRBFEEI)MKE
% BRAREEESREIFRFEFEL
ZEQHBREREBENRABEISAKE
RKER URERMEHEERFF A
FEFRETE BT [REARK] LBNSEE
BEELREZEANMEAELFEDFEKAE
BE - REABERE [HERNRK ] 8B
WE - —FER=FENWHT  BBITETHEN
BARARBIEHERTIE - WIARE - /NMEF
FIEm BRI IVETT

HEREREEEETEE

S B2 N2018F6AE0A M BRI =
BIERHNR B 18RET TR 705BE G
k505 BERERSEEE KBS
HBiB 1200 B WEA L2 IAELLLE - WigEE
=B EIE 8600002 MR - HiB400% H &
AEREHENBELRETIHRERNERPTR
FAMEBRS @I NEREEE dEsE -
RFEg RILE HBLRINESEEE -
MTRERARERSEEREERE  WiREMR
HIEETIEREE -

L E B E

mESERSE b
S ML Mo s

JEED Events

Speakers included Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of
Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, HKU, Dr William LI, Associate
Professor, School of Nursing, HKU, Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director, Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager, Anita
CHAN and Kevin LUK, experienced smoking cessation counselors.
Winners of the previous "Quit to Win" Contests, CHENG Wai-
cheong and NG Ka-yan, were also invited to share their successful
quit stories. Programme details of “Quit to Win” Smoke-free
Community Campaign, hazards of smoking, secondhand and
third-hand smoke, tobacco control development in Hong Kong
and smoking cessation counseling skills were shared through
seminar, group discussion, role play and case studies.

District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

COSH and the district working partners organized about 70
recruitment sessions, some 50 smoke-free exhibitions and
promotion activities in 18 districts from June to September 2018.
More than 1,200 smokers were recruited to join the cessation
contest and smoke-free messages were disseminated to over
60,000 members of public. Over 400 staff and volunteers of the
district working partners assisted in organizing different smoke-
free promotion activities, including health talks, carnivals, drawing
competition, roadshow and outreach promotions across the
territory to increase public awareness on the “Quit to Win" Contest,
smoking hazards and tobacco control works.
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District Working Partners
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Central & Western

BES
Islands
FUBE
Kowloon City
e

Kwai Tsing
BE

Kwun Tong

pidi

North
RIKES
Sham Shui Po
2]

Southern

S|
Tai Po

B
Tsuen Wan

BT

Tuen Mun

=AL
Wong Tai Sin

JHSFE
Yau Tsim Mong
JCEA

Yuen Long

FRAREFERTEELRES

Steering Committee on Healthy City in the Central and Western District

Bl Z#H im0

Yuen Yuen V-learn Women Centre

BES B AR AR

Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women's Association Limited

NEEEE

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

HELR R REERTHE

Kwai Tsing Safe Community and Healthy City Association

BREEENTESLZE S

Kwun Tong Healthy City Steering Committee

RitAEE S GREE

Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services

Bl Z bt g RGH O

The Yuen Yuen Institute - Fanling Social Service Centre

TEEERES KIS S RISE

Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services

MRERZE2HEERAT

Southern District Healthy and Safe Association Limited

EroERRLE

Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association

NifeE RS

Tai Po District Residents Association

RNBEFhHS

Tai Po Youths Association

RZELTRFHEESEREE

Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee
BEEBRZEABUREETLFREFT O

Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of Seventh-day Adventists

EHER

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital
BEAREELZZHT

Wong Tai Sin District Healthy and Safe City
EBHE A BT R R RS

United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service
RKBEIREA R A

Tin Shui Wai Women Association Limited
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“Quit to Win" District Recruitment and Smoke-free Promotion Activities

H & Date it & District ih 2 Venue
2018/6/16 Hel X H RS
Kowloon City Homantin Plaza
2018/6/17 75 RIS
Yuen Long Tin Shui Shopping Centre
& = E X -t:f—iE
2018/6/18 L ek
Kwai Tsing Cheung Fat Plaza
2018/6/23 LB AR
Kowloon City Ching Long Shopping Centre
2018/6/23 Al PERS
North Choi Yuen Plaza
2018/6/24 A AMES
Tai Po Tai Wo Plaza
e = ZEREFE
Tsuen Wan Tai Pa Street, Tsuen Wan
2018/6/30 A BRI
Sham Shui Po Hoi Lai Shopping Centre
2018/6/30 =Ll el
Wong Tai Sin Tsz Wan Shan Shopping Centre
I TS S
2018/7/18&7/7 AR ATLRIS _
Tai Po Tai Yuen Commercial Centre
T IRIKE ) k2
Sham Shui Po Un Chau Estate
W H 82L&
ey ; =
2018/7/6-7 &7/1
018/7/6-7 & 7/15 ShaTin Ma On Shan Plaza
2018/7/8 =5 SRES
Kwai Tsing Kwai Chung Plaza
2018/7/8 T AREE
Yuen Long Tin Yan Shopping Centre
A = ERFEEAE
Southern Aberdeen Promenade
5018/7/13 P RIRELE 2
Central & Western Theatre Lane, Central
2018/7/14 4ok KBRS
Tuen Mun Siu Hong Commercial Centre
2018/7/14 i BERES
Yau Tsim Mong Hoi Fu Shopping Centre
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2018/7/15

2018/7/21

2018/7/21 &8/23

2018/7/22

2018/7/22 & 9/15

2018/7/26

2018/7/28

2018/7/29

2018/7/29

2018/8/2-3

2018/8/4

2018/8/4

2018/8/5

2018/8/11

2018/8/12

2018/8/12

2018/8/16

2018/8/17

2018/8/18

2018/8/18

(@
Eastern
JLBEW,
Kowloon City
AT

Yau Tsim Mong
P

Tuen Mun
BES
Islands

S
Eastern

&k
=

Tsuen Wan
e
ShaTin
3
Southern
[lich=y
Sai Kung
ElE
Kwun Tong

2k

=

Tsuen Wan
e
Tuen Mun
[rich=y
Sai Kung
CaE
Eastern
BF
Wan Chai
i)
Central & Western

i)'
Central & Western

BE
Kwun Tong
(=]

Sai Kung

NS

Siu Sai Wan Plaza

ERES

Oi Man Plaza

SO REE

Haiphong Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
BEEES

Kin Sang Shopping Centre
= R

Fu Tung Estate
HlESRREE

King's Road, Quarry Bay
SN 1

Citywalk

W B

Sha Kok Commercial Centre
() BB

Wah Fu () Shopping Centre
FES RO —

Metro City Plaza |
HIXTES

Sau Mau Ping Shopping Centre
ENERELER

Jockey Club Tak Wah Park
RRE%

Leung King Plaza

R

Sheung Tak Plaza

ERES

Oi Tung Shopping Centre

5 ST B R AT

Paterson Street, Causeway Bay
FRIEEET

Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan
EEESSHEEMERITI
HKJC Western Whitty Street
Off-course Betting Branch

JEA 75 3%

Shun Lee Commercial Centre
EERTKOHET

TKO Gateway, Tseung Kwan O



2018/8/19

2018/8/22

2018/8/25

2018/8/26

2018/8/26

2018/8/30

2018/8/31

2018/9/1

2018/9/2

2018/9/5

2018/9/8

2018/9/8

2018/9/8

2018/9/9

2018/9/14

2018/9/15

2018/9/15

2018/9/19

JHSRAE
Yau Tsim Mong

Kwun Tong

3]

Southern

/P9
Tuen Mun
T
Wan Chai
fr
Wan Chai

—“++ 3,?\%,%
=

Tsuen Wan
Kwun Tong
=AU
Wong Tai Sin
JHSRE

Yau Tsim Mong
B[R

Eastern

BES

Islands
FUBESL
Kowloon City
pid

North

pin’]

North

Kwun Tong
TTRA

Yuen Long

P

Central & Western

EE A
Argyle Centre

EREBEREVE

HKJC Choi Wan

Off-course Betting Branch
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HKJC Aberdeen Centre

Off-course Betting Branch

L= B
Shan King Estate

mEEERS

Russell Street, Causeway Bay

BHH L
Hopewell Centre

BANF

Lei Muk Shue Estate

FEES
Kai Yip Market
|A P

Upper Wong Tai Sin Estate
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“Quit to Win” Contest

The "Quit to Win" Contest encouraged smokers to quit smoking
through contest and prizes. Eligible participants received smoking
status assessment and brief smoking cessation counseling by
counselors at the recruitment sessions. The smoking cessation
counselors from the School of Nursing and School of Public
Health of HKU would follow up the quit status of the participants,
also provide advice and assistance by telephone interview at
one month, two months, three months and six months after
enrollment. They would also be referred to their preferred
smoking cessation service providers. Participants who quitted
successfully were invited to undertake a biochemical validation at
the 3-month follow-up. Validated participants were eligible to join
the lucky draw or to be selected for an interview to win fabulous
prizes.
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To encourage persons in custody to quit smoking, COSH
launched the “Quit to Win" Pilot Programme in Lo Wu Correctional
Institution and Stanley Prison in collaboration with CSD. The
programme recruited 30 smoking inmates to join the “Quit to Win"
Contest and determine to quit. To strengthen the determination
of participants and award the successful quitters, CSD organized
a pledging ceremony and award presentation ceremony on
10 October 2018 and 23 January 2019 respectively, in order to
motivate smoking inmates to strive for a smoke-free lifestyle.

Besides, the School of Nursing and School of Public Health of
HKU conducted a research study to evaluate the effectiveness of
the smoking cessation intervention as well as the Campaign to
understand the needs of quitters. According to the preliminary
results, the self-reported quit rate was 18.1% and 17.5% at 3-month
and 6-month follow-up respectively.

Prize Presentation Ceremony

COSH held a prize presentation ceremony on 25 March 2019
to award the winners of the 9™ "Quit to Win" Contest and
commend the District Council and various organizations for
their tremendous support in the Campaign. Honourable guests
included WOO Ying-ming, Commissioner of Correctional Services,
Dr FUNG Ying, Head of Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office,
Department of Health, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, Yolanda
NG, COSH Vice-chairman, Richard TSANG, Chairman of COSH
Education & Publicity Committee and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive
Director.

Winners of the 9™ "Quit to Win" Contest shared their successful
quit stories and tips with the audience at the ceremony. Other
guests, quitters as well as artists Louisa MAK and Hero YUEN
also joined the ceremony to promote the smoking hazards and
benefits of quitting through interactive games and performances.
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Winners of the 9* “Quit to Win” Contest:

The Champion, LAU Wai-ming had smoked for 41 years. In his
twenties, he suffered from pulmonary emphysema and removed
a large portion of lung’s superior lobe. However, he was not
determined to quit due to heavy dependence on nicotine.
Mr Lau felt that his health condition was getting worse in recent
years. In addition, a few of his smoking friends died of smoking-
related diseases such as nasopharyngeal cancer and lung cancer,
which raised his concern on the risk of fatal smoking-related
diseases. Hence, he determined to quit as soon as possible. To
resist temptation, Mr Lau avoided seeing his smoking friends
and visiting places that might induce him to smoke. He did not
allow smoking family members to smoke in front of him and re-
arranged all family gatherings in smoke-free venues. Being free
from tobacco, Mr Lau lived healthier and enjoyed his retirement
life with other healthy activities, such as social dance. He also
used his own experience to inspire his daughter to quit smoking
successfully. He hoped to encourage more family members and
friends to kick the habit.
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First runner-up CHOY Tak-yin is a securities specialist and
smoked up to three to four cigarettes per day. He perceived
smoking as social activity among co-workers and for relieving
stress. Mr Choy had a misconception that smoking cessation
is not necessary as he was not a heavy smoker until his son
was born three years ago, he worried about the health risks by
secondhand and third-hand smoke imposed to his son which
made him determined to quit. He enrolled the contest with
the encouragement from his wife, Mr Choy was then referred
to effective and appropriate smoking cessation services, such
as nicotine replacement therapy, acupuncture and counseling.
These helped him to cope with tobacco cravings and withdrawal
symptoms effectively. He refused to use e-cigarettes and
heat-not-burn tobacco products as these products were as
harmful as traditional cigarettes, not a healthier alternative
and unlikely to help quit smoking. After being smoke-free,
Mr Choy felt more energetic and had smoother breath than
before. He was able to tackle the pressure from work easily and
enjoyed a healthy lifestyle.

Second runner-up WANG Shu-zhao smoked for nearly 20 years
since he picked up the first cigarette for curiosity. Despite he
knew that secondhand and third-hand smoke adversely affect
the health of his family, he failed to quit the tobacco addiction.
He avoided smoking in front of his daughters to keep a good
image. However, his daughters found out that he was a smoker in
a friend’s gathering last year. He felt guilty about lying and setting
a bad example, so eventually he determined to quit. He got easily
irritated when he first started to stop smoking. By upholding the
faith and replacing smoking by doing exercises, he succeeded
in coping with the withdrawal symptoms and quitted smoking.
Without the concern on the hazards of secondhand and third-
hand smoke, Mr Wang had no more hesitation in giving daughters
a hug, nor hide away for smoking. His family praised that no more
bad smell of smoke and his daughters were willing to stay closer
with him, hence the family relationship had improved.

Campaign Website: www.quittowin.hk
Facebook Page: www.facebook.com/quittowinhk
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“Smoke-free Drivers Club” Programme

The use of transportation is an integral part of citizens’ everyday
life. In Hong Kong, over 12 million passenger journeys are made
on the public transport system every day, while the transportation
industry has over 320,000 labour force. According to the survey
conducted by the Occupational Safety and Health Council, more
than one-fourth (27%) of professional drivers smoke regularly. In
November 2018, COSH launched the “Smoke-free Drivers Club”
Programme to encourage smokers in the transportation industry
to quit smoking, strengthen the participation of the industry in
promoting smoke-free culture which brings positive impacts on
the occupational safety and health, productivity and image of
drivers, as well as to remind the drivers, passengers and industry
operators to comply with the smoking ban in public transport
carriers.

There were over 70 supporting organizations, including the
Transport Department, The Road Safety Council, Transport
Advisory Committee and various organizations of commercial
vehicle drivers which helped spread smoke-free messages among
the industry and the general public. (Please refer to page 154 to
page 157 for the list of supporting organizations and corporate
members of “Smoke-free Drivers Club”)

Kick-off Event

The kick-off event was held on 23 November 2018 and officiated
by Dr Jeff LEE, Head of Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office,
Department of Health, Joseph TSUI, Chief Transport Officer of
Transport Department, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and
Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director. A professional driver who
quitted smoking, representative from transportation industry and
an experienced smoking cessation counselor were invited to share
at the event on the benefits of smoking cessation, significant
role of transportation companies in promoting a smoke-
free culture and quit tips. Singers Phil LAM, Joey WONG and
Cath WONG also explained the smoking hazards through
games and encouraged the professional drivers to quit smoking.
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[EEFHS | 2E5BE Recruitment of “Smoke-free Drivers Club” Members

8RSl B ER XN A REELRXEK A More than 60 companies and organizations in the industry joined
[EEELN | Mg EPEEHELEE T the "Smoke-free Drivers Club” as corporate members, including
NAE - FFFELEELTNA - AR EH XY franchised bus companies, non-franchised bus companies, railway
MERR) - BRHRERREZAEAEAKERE companies, transportation and logistics companies, driving school
~EeAMESERE—RIESFENSE  and various organizations of commercial vehicle drivers. Smoking
- RBEBEEREENAESTIE BB cessation support was provided among corporate members to
ASHEBEEE  HEWEALAIE - 2] spread the smoke-free messages among their employees, such
5 T 838 72,000 A © as free health talks and industry-specific promotional collaterals.
Over 72,000 practitioners of transportation industry were
benefited from the Programme.
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Promotion Activities

A Facebook lucky draw campaign was held from 14 December
2018 to 22 February 2019 to urge the public to join the Smoke-
free Drivers Club as individual members and deliver smoke-free
messages among their networks to support their family and
friends to quit smoking via the social media platforms. Besides,
various sessions of roadshow promotion activities were organized
in January to February 2019 across the territory to disseminate
the smoke-free messages. More than 1,800 practitioners of
transportation industry, professional drivers, private car drivers and
passengers joined the club to say no to cigarettes and encourage
smokers to quit smoking. Many professional drivers pledged to
live smoke-free and were referred to smoking cessation services
providers on-site.

Two street interview videos were produced to bust the myths
about smoking while driving and reminded the general public of
Smoking (Public Health) Ordinance and shared the practical quit
tips for drivers, the videos were well received by the public.

Programme Website: www.smokefree.hk/drivers
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New APIs “Tobacco Mutated to Harm"” and
“Quit for Strength”

To promote the tobacco hazards and educate the public on new
smoking products, COSH launched two new APIs titled “Tobacco
Mutated to Harm" & "Quit for Strength”in November 2018 which
received positive feedback from the general public. The two APIs
aim to remind all citizens not to try any new forms of tobacco
products, as well as to promote smoking cessation.

The growth of e-cigarettes and new smoking products including
heat-not-burn tobacco products in recent years was alarming.
They were marketed as trendy products attracting non-smokers,
particularly the youngsters to try. APl “Tobacco Mutated to
Harm” aimed to alert the public that all tobacco products
including traditional cigarettes, heat-not-burn tobacco products,
e-cigarettes and other smoking products were all harmful and
reminded them not to try. The API"Quit for Strength” targeted
to echo the year theme of COSH to encourage smokers to quit
for strength and replace smoking by developing healthy habits
such as doing exercise to overcome the cravings of tobacco and
improve their health.
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“Smoke-free Run cum Carnival”

A study showed that running helps people quit smoking and
reduce tobacco consumption. Kicking the smoking habit can also
improve one’s sports performance, thus quitting smoking and
doing exercise were indeed complementary to each other. COSH
organized “Smoke-free Run cum Carnival”on 13 January 2019 at
Hong Kong Science Park which attracted nearly 1,600 runners to
encourage smokers to quit smoking through running. The event
was supported by over 40 organizations and smoking cessation
service providers, and the Auxiliary Medical Service provided on-
site first aid services. COSH also invited local cartoon character,
B.Duck to design a set of key visuals with smoke-free healthy tips
to promote smoke-free messages.

“Smoke-free Run” Training Workshops

To equip the participants for the "Smoke-free Run”’, COSH
organized two training workshops in Tsing Yi Sports Ground and
Hammer Hill Road Sports Ground on 7 and 21 December 2018
respectively. COSH invited WONG Ka-man, distance running
coach, to share the basic skills of running and the relationship
between exercise and smoking cessation. Quitters were also

invited to share their quit tips and successful experience.
60 participants joined the workshops to get prepared for the
“Smoke-free Run”.
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“Smoke-free Run”

The race starting ceremony was officiated by Dr CHUI Tak-yi,
Under Secretary for Food and Health, Dr Manny LAM, Senior
Medical and Health Officer of Tobacco and Alcohol Control
Office, Department of Health, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman
and Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman. The running race was
divided into different categories according to distances (10KM,
3KM and 800M), Individual, Smoke-free Family Team, School
Team, Corporate Team and Smoke-free Buddy Team. Participants
were encouraged to form a Smoke-free Buddy Team with a
smoking family member, to motivate them to stop smoking for
a healthy life. Representatives of the organizations and smoking
cessation service providers also attended the ceremony to show
their support. Smoke-free athlete, B.Duck also cheered for the
participant onsite and all participants did their utmost for the best
performance to strive for a smoke-free lifestyle.
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“Smoke-free Carnival”

To raise the participants’ awareness on tobacco hazards, smoking
cessation and tobacco control, a “Smoke-free Carnival” with
interesting games and exhibition booths was held on the race
day.

All participants acquired health information at the booths of
supporting organizations including Pok Oi Hospital Community
Health Care Centre, School of Nursing of The University of
Hong Kong, Wheel For Oneness, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
Integrated Centre on Smoking Cessation, Yau Tsim Mong
Community Network New Dynamics, Kwai Tsing Safe Community
and Healthy City Association and The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent
Society, Kowloon. Some of the game booths involved sports
elements such as high jump, rowing, basketball, football and
cycling which encouraged the participants to actively pursue a
healthy hobby. Two huge inflatable games titled “The Journey
to Quit Smoking” and “Go away! Smoking Hazards” were also
arranged for young children to instill smoke-free knowledge.

Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine &
Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public
Health, The University of Hong Kong demonstrated “Zero-time
Exercise” which can be done anytime and anywhere to encourage
participants to resist tobacco cravings by doing exercise. Also,
CHAN Ka-wing who successfully quitted smoking through
running was invited to share cessation tips and encourage other
smokers to kick the habit. He shared that he became more
energetic during work after giving up smoking. His performance
in running had also improved.

Campaign Website: www.smokefree.hk/run
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Advocacy on Raising Tobacco Tax

World Health Organization (WHO) reiterates that raising tobacco
tax is the single most effective tobacco control intervention,
which can effectively lower the smoking prevalence and
prevent youth from starting smoking. WHO recommended to
raise tobacco tax to 75% or above of the retail price of tobacco
products. Tobacco tax in over 30 countries have reached 75% or
above while about 60 countries reached 70% or above. Tobacco
tax in Hong Kong accounted for about 64% of the cigarette price
in 2018 which is below WHO's recommmendation.

According to the “Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2018"
conducted by COSH, 81.0% of all respondents supported a
tobacco tax hike in 2019, while more than one-fourth (27.0%)
of the current smokers also supported this measure. Current
smokers suggested that the cigarette retail price should be set at
a mean price of HK$255 to effectively motivate them to quit (retail
price in 2018 is HK$59). (For details of survey results, please refer
to page 97.)

The survey findings reflected that there was huge capacity for
raising tobacco tax in Hong Kong. In the view of this, COSH,
together with 75 organizations, sent an open letter to the
Financial Secretary in February 2019 to urge the Government to
raise tobacco tax by 100% in FY2019-2020 and formulate a long-
term policy on raising tobacco tax in order to meet government
target in reducing smoking prevalence to 7.8% by 2025. COSH
also advocated the Government to implement a multi-pronged
approach in tobacco control, including strengthening education
and publicity, legislations, enhanced smoking cessation services
and enforcement to protect public health.

COSH expressed strong disappointment that the tobacco tax
was frozen again in FY2019-2020 for the 5% consecutive year. But
relevant media coverage aroused public awareness on this issue.
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Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion Project
2018-2019

According to the Thematic Household Survey Report No. 64
released by the Census and Statistics Department, there are
615,000 daily cigarette smokers in Hong Kong, in which 23.9%
aged 60 years old or above. Smokers aged 50 years old or above
accounted for over 45% of the daily cigarette smokers in Hong
Kong. In order to meet the needs of elderly and invite them to
live a smoke-free healthy lifestyle, COSH launched the Elderly
Smoking Cessation Promotion Project 2018-2019, with the
support from the Elderly Commission, New Territories West Elder
Academies Cluster (NTWEAC), Housing Society Elderly Resources
Centre and district elderly centres. The project targeted to remind
the elderlies on tobacco hazards, clarify the misconceptions
of smoking cessation and encourage them to get rid of the
cigarettes.

Health Talks

From April 2018 to March 2019, COSH conducted 40 sessions
of health talks at elderly centres across the territory. Through an
interactive and interesting approach, the benefits of being smoke-
free and the importance of smoking cessation were promoted
to about 2,000 elderlies. They were also encouraged to share the
smoke-free messages with their families and friends.

Radio Promotion

COSH collaborated with Commercial Radio (CR) to produce radio
segments which broadcasted at the programme “Silver Age Club”.
Senior smoking cessation counselor, successful quitters and
Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors shared the quit tips and ways
to live smoke-free. Audio clips were also broadcasted to inform
the public on smoking hazards, debunk the myths of smoking
and promote the smoking cessation services. In addition, COSH
and CR conducted street interviews and promotion events which
were promoted through radio channel, so as to invite the general
public to support their smoking friends and family members,
especially the elder ones to quit smoking promptly.
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Smoke-free Promotion by Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors

To strengthen the collaboration with the community, COSH
invited the elderly volunteers of NTWEAC as Smoke-free
Elderly Ambassadors. They promoted smoke-free message and
motivated other elder smokers to kick the smoking habit during
visits to elderly centres, community activities and in their daily
life. They also distributed smoke-free leaflets with pledge cards to
smokers for recording their quit will.

“Be Healthy, Be a Smoke-free Elderly” Publicity Events

COSH conducted a series of street promotions with a group of
Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors and "Be Healthy, Be a Smoke-
free Elderly” promotion truck at various districts on 27 and
28 October 2018 to encourage the public to go smoke-free.
Citizens were invited to write down caring messages to support
their family members and friends to stay away from tobacco
hazards. Over 260 messages were collected and nearly 5,000
citizens were reached. Smokers were motivated by the Smoke-
free Elderly Ambassadors to kick the habits and referred to the
smoking cessation services.

A publicity event “Be Healthy, Be a Smoke-free Elderly” was held
on 14 November 2018 to further spread the smoke-free messages at
Domain Mall in Yau Tong. Officiating guests included Dr Jeff LEE,
Head of Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of
Health, Dr LAM Ching-choi, Chairman of Elderly Commission,
Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-
chairman.
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In a role play with the Smoke-free Elderly Ambassadors, Prof LAM
Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine and Sir Robert
Kotewall Professor in Public Health, School of Public Health, The
University of Hong Kong broke the myths of quitting smoking
and introduced different methods to stop smoking. Successful
quitter, CHU Kam-wing shared his quit experience. Artists
Victoria LAM and Andy LEUNG also took part in the event to
provide information on smoking hazards and benefits of being
smoke-free through interactive games.

2018 Kwai Chung Hospital Support for World
No Tobacco Day cum Smoke-free Exercise for
Healthy Heart Ceremony

Kwai Chung Hospital organized the “2018 Kwai Chung Hospital
Support for World No Tobacco Day cum Smoke-free Exercise for
Healthy Heart Ceremony” on 9 May 2018 to promote smoke-free
exercise for healthy heart and enhance public awareness on the
impact of tobacco use and exposure to secondhand smoke on
cardiovascular health.

Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director was invited to share the
successful quit stories of “Quit to Win” Contest winners by doing
exercise. Drama group of Kwai Chung Hospital performed during

the event to promote smoking hazards.




BBBIR T RHEEEMIE 2018

EATEESR018FEsH24HE26HR
EECRBRERLER [ HERBRITIEHEERE
Mat&2018]l - ZESEBRNRESLERE
BN mEeERETETYRSEMm
NEERESNHBEHE T ERAEIEERR
RERTHNEZABEEETE LM
GBE- N ZESEHFHESEFELR
PEHEFSEREER  UWRETREER
EREERS -

ONG COUNCIL ON SMOKING AND H EALTH

HONG K

BEEESREERTH

ZESHBEAESE EREAE BBREK
Rt @A - BRI UL BIEES - SEE
MEMEETALBRESR  MEATRARY
FEEMRENRBILRBBRE - BEESER
2018F 10 AE2019F3 A AT R 2 BIRH
—E ERMTRAIE - EREE TRE R
AR RS AEE A - BRI A E A
E—Ho

S ZEE MDD RIR2018F 128238 &
2019F1THI6AREER ITMBEREHRE
B - FRLKESENYEERREEBNED
R T REINEEEN - MASAREA
TREREREEN MEESNEHNERS
B2 IR 2019F 1 ARREDETERIFINN
ERIBEEN - RSRMETER  EHEEES -

JEED Events

Hong Kong International Dental Expo and
Symposium 2018

The Hong Kong Dental Association hosted the “Hong Kong
International Dental Expo and Symposium 2018" on 24 to 26
August 2018 at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre.
COSH was invited to set up an information booth for distributing
smoke-free publications and souvenirs among the participants to
introduce COSH’s education and publicity programmes, as well as
the tobacco control works in Hong Kong, in order to strengthen
the collaboration on tobacco control works with dental
professionals. Participants were also encouraged to sign a petition
to support a total ban on alternative tobacco products and strive
for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

Smoke-free Promotion Campaign of The
Hong Kong Jockey Club

To propagate smoke-free messages and smoking cessation, COSH
has been working closely with The Hong Kong Jockey Club to
organize various smoke-free programmes to advocate the smoke-
free culture in the community via its massive local network.
The Hong Kong Jockey Club provided free carbon monoxide breath
test at some of the branches from October 2018 to March 2019 so
that smoker had a better understanding of their health condition,
which boosted the smokers’ determination to quit smoking.

In addition, COSH was invited to set up promotion booths on
23 December 2018 and 16 January 2019 at Tsuen Wan branch to
promote smoke-free messages through promotional materials
and interactive games. Smoking cessation referrals were also
provided for smokers. Meanwhile, the latest APls and posters were
displayed at all branches across territory since January 2019.
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Lingnan University Health Awareness
Programme

Lingnan University organized the Health Awareness Programme
with the theme of "Habits for Healthy Lifestyle” to encourage
students in fostering a healthy lifestyle by building healthy habits
during 15 to 19 October 2018 including exhibitions, game booths,
health talks, workshops and physical training programmes. COSH
was invited to set up a game booth and exhibition to enhance the
university students’ tobacco control knowledge and encourage
them to say no to all forms of tobacco products. Promotional
leaflets and souvenirs were also distributed.

CLPP Safety, Health & Environment (SHE) Day
2018

CLP Power Hong Kong's annual event “Safety, Health &
Environment (SHE) Day” was held on 3 November 2018 at Black
Point Power Station in Tuen Mun. The event aimed to arouse
participants’ awareness on safety, health and environment
through a wide variety of programmes, including stage
performances, game booths and exhibitions. Over 5,000 staffs
and their families joined the event. COSH was invited to host the
“Find out the harmful effects of smoking” game booth to
introduce smoking hazards and promote the benefits of smoking
cessation, reaching more than 1,000 participants. Smoke-free
brochures and leaflets were distributed. COSH also urged the
public to join the Signatory Campaign of “Support to Enact a Total
Ban on E-cigarettes and Other New Tobacco Products’, to prevent
all forms of new smoking products from entering the Hong Kong
market.




2018/2019 FE A EREER

BRATAREREERRYE  TARRERE
HMEBEZEeHPAERKEBEN2018F
11 A3H k4 BREREEEEN2018/20194F
ErrnRERE ] - EFEEE Z otk - SEE
BRTEARNNENRE BB BF
BEEBPTRENEEIERET MMER
EHEBBENRRREREESEES - RalH
FEMRLH -

ZEREE SEERERR WAL L FHE
g ZRSNREBSBA - LENE /Y
B RIEEIMET - AN S 0 RS
HEmYE

RUIESARS R RERS

EMXEREEH 2018

ZEGRSMBEARAREE  R2018%F
NRAIBERBREKREESTRRE=FEE
SRR [ 2 FIRKERLSEH 2018 ] HREHL
R MBS0 22 EMNE T RERBIKE
BENMIFRAESR  EHEELENTRE -
O ZEEMREH-SHETRAH - XA
BEREN S IERHEAEE RS o

SEE) Events

Central and Western District Health Festival
2018/2019

To strengthen health education among the residents in Central
and Western District, the Steering Committee on Healthy City in
the Central and Western District collaborated with the Central
and Western District Office to host the “Central and Western
District Health Festival 2018/2019" on 3 to 4 November 2018 at
Sheung Wan Sports Centre. Promotion of disease prevention and
healthcare were delivered via exhibitions, game booths, health
talks, exercise demonstrations and free body checks. The event
attracted around a thousand of participants.

Annie NG, COSH Senior Project Manager was invited to join the
opening ceremony. COSH also set up a game booth, displayed
short videos and distributed pamphlets to educate the local
residents on the adverse effect caused by smoking and solicit
public support for a smoke-free Hong Kong.

Gammon Family Fun Day 2018

COSH was invited by Gammon Construction Limited to set up a
game booth in “Gammon Family Fun Day 2018" at Sheung Shui
Community Sports and Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Ms Tso Lung
Campsite on 9 December 2018. Over 500 staff and their families
received smoke-free messages via smoke-free brochures and
souvenirs. COSH also conducted the carbon monoxide breath test
and referred some smokers for smoking cessation services.
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Hong Kong Cancer Day 2018 - “Anti-Cancer,
Say No To Alcohol”

Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society has always been at the forefront
of fighting against cancer and hosted Hong Kong Cancer Day
2018 - "Anti-Cancer, Say No To Alcohol” on 9 December 2018 at
Kowloon Park. The event aimed to raise public awareness on the
importance of building healthy lifestyles and encourage public
to get rid of bad habits such as smoking and drinking alcohol
for cancer prevention. Attending guests included Dr Constance
CHAN, Director of Health. Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director
was also invited to join the opening ceremony.

Many people might have little idea on the association of cancers
with daily lifestyles, thus COSH introduced that smoking would
increase the risk of cancers in order to motivate smokers kicking
the smoking habit for cancer prevention, as well as to safeguard
public health from the harmful effect of secondhand smoke and
third-hand smoke.

Fjoar

Hong Kong St John Ambulance Brigade Youth
Command Healthy Family Fun Day 2019

St John Ambulance is dedicated to educating the public on the
importance of health and promoting the message of “Love and
Care”. "Family Fun Day 2019" was organized at Hing Fong Road
Playground in Kwai Chung on 10 March 2019. COSH was invited
to host a game booth and provide smoke-free collaterals to
spread the smoke-free messages. Information on healthy family
was provided in an interactive way through stage performances
and free body checks, which successfully attracted hundreds of
participants.
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Ka Fuk Fun Day 2019

The Yuen Yuen Institute Fanling Social Service Centre organized
“Ka Fuk Fun Day 2019" at Ka Fuk Estate in Fanling on 16 March
2019. COSH was invited to set up a game booth to raise public
awareness on tobacco control through interactive game, over
500 citizens participated in the carnival. COSH also distributed
tobacco control booklets and souvenirs to promote a smoke-free
Hong Kong.

“Yan Chai STEM FAIRE 2019” of
Yan Chai Hospital

Yan Chai Hospital (YCH) organized “Yan Chai STEM FAIRE 2019”
at YCH Lan Chi Pat Memorial Secondary School on 16 March
2019. It was a showcase of Science, Technology, Engineering
and Mathematics (STEM) games and works which designed by
their students and attracted more than 2,000 students, parents,
teachers and public to participate.

COSH was invited to set up a booth to exhibit how the winning
computer games of “From Coding to STEM” coding competition
disseminate smoke-free message to participants, also to collect
signatures for “Support to Enact a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and

Other New Tobacco Products”
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“An Extraordinary Sunday with the New
Voice” of The New Voice Club of Hong Kong

The New Voice Club of Hong Kong assists laryngectomies
and laryngeal cancer patients in regaining their voice and
reintegrating into the community through promoting self-help
and mutual help spirit. The Club hosted “An Extraordinary Sunday
with the New Voice” on 17 March 2019 at Shek Kip Mei Estate to
help the public understand their scope of services and facilities.
In addition, the Club arranged Chinese medical consultation,
health talks and body checks to deliver health messages.

COSH was invited to set up a game booth and distribute smoke-
free booklets to propagate the smoking hazards and encourage
smokers to kick the habits as soon as possible in order to lower
the risk of laryngeal cancer and other fatal diseases. Over
100 participants joined the programme.
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Health Talks for “Smoke-free New Generation”

Education is a significant part of tobacco control. Delivering
smoke-free messages to the next generation at an early stage
can help them recognize the importance of a smoke-free
environment, deter them from lighting up the first cigarette and
motivate them to encourage family members and friends to quit
smoking. Since 1991, COSH has organized health talks every year
in kindergartens, primary schools, secondary schools and tertiary
institutions across the territory to educate the children and youth
on smoking hazards.

During the school year 2018 to 2019, more than 110 health talks
were conducted, reaching over 20,000 students. The health talks
covered the harmful effects of smoking, secondhand smoke, third-
hand smoke, e-cigarettes and alternative smoking products, as
well as the latest information on tobacco control, such as tobacco
control legislation in Hong Kong, smoking cessation services and
marketing tactics of the tobacco industry. COSH educators also
introduced the responsibility of COSH and broadcasted the latest
promotional videos. A question-and-answer session was included
to enhance their smoke-free knowledge under a relaxing and

interactive atmosphere.
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“Smoke-free Teens Programme”2018-2019

Youngsters are the future leaders of the society to advance
tobacco control in Hong Kong. COSH has been sparing no
efforts in educating the youngsters on the knowledge of
smoking and health, encouraging them to adopt a smoke-free
lifestyle and being the major tobacco control force. “Smoke-
free Teens Programme” has been annually organized since 2012
to instill knowledge of tobacco control and smoking hazards in
youngsters, provide training on various skills as well as sustain
their pioneering role in advocating smoke-free culture in schools
or community.

The Programme has nurtured more than 2,200 Smoke-free Teens
to take the leading role in establishing a smoke-free environment.
Nearly 250 youngsters, aged 14 to 18, from around 30 secondary
schools enrolled for the 2018-2019 programme.

Smoke-free Training Camps

The leadership training camps were held during the summer
holiday in 2018. COSH organized a briefing session cum workshop
in advance, famous YouTuber FHProductionHK and YING Tao,
Multimedia News Manager of Ming Pao Newspaper Limited were
invited to share some useful tips on producing interesting online
videos and promoting smoke-free messages via social media in
order to get prepared for the smoke-free programme in schools
and the community.
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Four 2-Day-1-Night leadership training camps equipped
participants with knowledge on smoking hazards and smoking
cessation counseling techniques. Their skills on leadership,
creative and critical thinking, communication, problem solving,
team building and programme planning were enhanced through
diversified training activities and team building games.

Smoke-free Programmes in Schools and the Community

After joining the leadership training camp, the Smoke-free Teens
applied their knowledge to organize about 90 innovative smoke-
free programmes in their schools and the community between
September and December 2018, reaching over 18,100 students
and members of public from all walks of life. Smoke-free Teens
demonstrated enhanced skills in hosting different activities
including production of smoke-free short films, demonstration of
smoking hazards by creative experiment and conducting district
research on e-cigarettes and other new smoking products, in order
to motivate the general public to live smoke-free.
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Smoke-free Teens Alumni Programme and Summer
Internship Programme

In order to sustain the Smoke-free Teens' pioneering role in
advocating smoke-free culture, participants were encouraged
to join the Smoke-free Teens Alumni and continue to promote
smoke-free messages by attending sharing sessions, assisting
game booths and exhibitions in the community and participating
in other tobacco control activities organized by COSH.

Participants who have outstanding performance in the “Smoke-
free Teens Programme” will have the opportunity to join the
internship programme during the summer holiday next year, to
learn and experience organizing smoke-free activities, as well as
to get involved in the tobacco control work. Certificate will be
issued once the internship is completed.

Award Presentation Ceremony

An award presentation ceremony was held on 15 March 2019 to
commend the outstanding “Smoke-free Teens” of the 2018-2019
programme. Honourable guests included Kevin YEUNG, Secretary
for Education, Dr Tina CHAN, Assistant Director of Health
(Special Health Services), Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and
Yolanda NG, COSH Vice-chairman.

The champion team, Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial
Secondary School shared their experience in organizing a series
of creative activities with the theme of “Smoke-free, Make a Move”
which successfully reached around 1,800 citizens. They held a large
scale Smoke-free Carnival with overwhelming response from nearly
600 primary school students, teachers and parents from different
districts. Besides, they invited the public to count the savings after
kicking the smoking habits via a tablet APP and distributed smoke-
free collaterals. They hoped to encourage the smokers to kick
the habit and motivate the non-smokers to support their family
members and friends to quit smoking. They also produced a short
film which used “a cigarette” as a first person narrative for online
promotion to raise public awareness on the adverse effects of
smoking.
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TWE - EpmER KT R R Winner List:
DE BAEEREEBELSTE Champion: Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial Secondary
TE: BCEAeRE School
First runner-up: Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School
[1B 2 MEIE Teens BIFX | Second runner-up: Queen’s College Old Boys' Association
-BERBEREEAEEESREERE Secondary School
- BRELEHPS
- IS INA B RN Outstanding Smoke-free Teams:
- The Association of Directors & Former Directors of Pok Oi
ETEIEE Hospital Ltd. Leung Sing Tak College
www.smokefree hk/smokefreeteens - Ling Liang Church M H Lau Secondary School

- St Margaret’s Co-educational English Secondary and Primary

School
@ smokefreeteens

Programme Website: www.smokefree.hk/smokefreeteens
I@' smokefree_teens
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School Interactive Education Theatre
“Smoke-free Family”

"

Since 1995, the “School Interactive Education Theatre Programme
has been one of COSH’s major education and publicity
programmes to prevent youth smoking. In collaboration
with schools and local professional troupe, COSH's interactive
education theatres encourage the children and youngsters to
support a smoke-free lifestyle with their families. The Programme
contributed over 2,000 performances in primary schools across
the territory, reaching more than 540,000 students and teachers
over the years.

The Programme has different drama scripts every year, key
messages of tobacco control are delivered along with music, stage
effects and interesting presentation. Through the performance,
students learn about the harmful effects of smoking, secondhand
smoke, third-hand smoke and e-cigarettes, as well as receive positive
messages such as fallacies about smoking, say no to secondhand
smoke and ways to encourage family members to kick the smoking
habit. Parents are welcomed to attend the performances.
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The 2018-2019 Programme was co-organized by Education
Bureau. A brand-new interactive drama titled "Smoke-free
Family” was launched in collaboration with Chung Ying Theatre.
Students were equipped with skills to urge family members to
quit smoking and build a smoke-free family. With the support of
Ocean Park Hong Kong, a character Redd, was also featured in the
drama to spread smoke-free messages. 100 performances were
delivered to over 29,000 students and teachers. Special gratitude
was also given to Prof LAM Tai-hing for being the professional
consultant of the drama.

The story was about Siu-sun, a student of the “No Smoking
Primary School’, he and Siu-wai were in a team working on a
Liberal Studies project with the topic “How to help smokers
quit smoking” Siu-wai has tried different means to encourage
her family members to quit smoking but seems unsuccessful.
She started folding smoke-free paper cranes, hoping that her
dream would come true. Siu-sun decided to visit Siu-wai's
family to investigate their reasons for smoking. They understood
the hazards of smoking, secondhand smoke and third-hand
smoke, the potential risks of e-cigarettes and promotion tactics
of tobacco industry through the visit. With the support and
encouragement of Siu-sun and Siu-wai, Siu-wai’s father, mother
and grandfather ditched smoking successfully and built a smoke-
free family. Students actively participated in the interactive
sessions and promised to reject the first cigarette and motivate
their family members to kick the bad habit.
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Around 350 students, teachers and guests attended the premiere
which was held at the Jockey Club Auditorium, The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University on 11 October 2018. Honourable guests
included Dr Tina CHAN, Assistant Director of Health (Special
Health Services), Dr Andy TAM, Chief Curriculum Development
Officer (MCNE), Education Bureau, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair
Professor of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor
in Public Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong, Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman, Yolanda NG, COSH
Vice-chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director. The
Programme began its tours across the territory afterwards.

To strengthen the smoke-free knowledge of students, a
designated website, bring-home educational materials and
souvenirs were provided for participants to review the smoke-free
information after the drama. Through the “Smoke-free Greeting
Card and Slogan Design Competition’, students were encouraged
to utilize the knowledge they acquired in the drama to spread
the smoke-free messages in a creative way. A corresponding
"Smoke-free Teaching Kit" was also developed for teachers to
use in classes, together with the programme website and bring-
home educational materials in order to sustain the impact of the
Programme.

Programme Website: www.educationtheatre.hk
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HKU School of Nursing — Nursing Programmes

School of Nursing of The University of Hong Kong endeavors to
provide professional nursing training. Courses on tobacco control
and smoking cessation counseling are provided to enhance their
students awareness and participation in the works of curbing and
quitting tobacco use. COSH was invited to give guest lectures to
their Bachelor and Master programmes to equip students with
related knowledge and techniques.

On 9 April and 6 November 2018, Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior
Project Manager delivered presentations titled “Promoting Health
in the Community” and “The Harm of Tobacco on Public Health
and Its Prevention in Hong Kong” to over 300 undergraduate
students. Tobacco control measures in Hong Kong, as well as
COSH's education, publicity programmes and advocacy works
were introduced. Mr Chu also shared the smoking cessation
services available, loopholes and recent challenges of tobacco
control works in Hong Kong.

On 16 April 2018, presentation titled “Tobacco Control and
Smoking Prevention Programmes in Hong Kong” was given
to about 40 master students. Mr Chu shared the works and
achievements of COSH in fostering a smoke-free Hong Kong over
the years. He also introduced the global trend of tobacco control
and the challenges ahead for Hong Kong in curbing tobacco use.

Hospital Authority Convention 2018

Hospital Authority hosted the “Hospital Authority Convention
2018"on 7 to 8 May 2018 at Hong Kong Convention and
Exhibition Centre, it aimed to facilitate the sharing of knowledge
and experience on clinical advances. COSH was invited to set up
an information booth to introduce the tobacco control works in
Hong Kong and COSH'’s education and publicity programmes.
Publications and souvenirs were distributed to enhance the
collaboration on tobacco control with medical and healthcare
professionals.
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HKU Youth Quitline - Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop

The "Youth Quitline"is a youth-oriented smoking cessation hotline
established in 2005 by the School of Nursing of The University of
Hong Kong to help smokers aged 25 or below kick the habit. Over
the years, the “Youth Quitline” has been recruiting and nurturing
many young smoking cessation counselors.

COSH was invited to deliver a lecture at the Smoking Cessation
Counselor Training Workshop on 29 September 2018. Lawrence
CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager shared Hong Kong's smoking
prevalence, tobacco control policies and COSH’s role in striving
for a smoke-free Hong Kong. Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor
of Community Medicine & Sir Robert Kotewall Professor in Public
Health, School of Public Health, The University of Hong Kong
also conducted lectures on hazards of smoking and secondhand
smoke. The workshop also covered the tips and techniques on
smoking cessation counseling and motivational interviewing by
an experienced smoking cessation counseling nurse. Through
group discussions, participants were well equipped with related
theories and practical knowledge.

“From Coding to STEM” Showcase cum
Competition Award Presentation Ceremony

“From Coding to STEM" Competition was organized by Quality
Education Fund and The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society,
Kowloon, co-organized with COSH. It aimed to encourage
primary school students to create mini-games and animations by
using the concept and technique of coding, which embedded
smoke-free message to promote tobacco hazards and encourage
smokers to kick the habit. The showcase cum award presentation
ceremony was held on 27 October 2018 at Lee Shau Kee Building,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong and Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director, was invited to be one of the judges.
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The School of Nursing, Union Hospital —
Nursing Programmes

The School of Nursing, Union Hospital strives to provide a
comprehensive training for cultivating qualified nurses and
healthcare practitioners over the years. The courses equip nursing
students with knowledge of smoking hazards and health, tobacco
control and smoking cessation.

Lawrence CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager delivered a
presentation titled “Tobacco Control and Smoking Prevention
Programmes in Hong Kong" to about 40 students on 14 November
2018. He introduced the smoking hazards, tobacco control works
and achievements, as well as how to strengthen the tobacco
control policy in Hong Kong and the future challenges ahead.
To prevent the epidemic of new smoking products among the
youngsters, the students were informed about the potential health
risks of e-cigarettes, heat-not-burn tobacco products and shisha.

Kwai Chung Hospital’s Smoke-free Seminar

Kwai Chung Hospital has been supporting tobacco control
work actively by organizing various activities to strengthen the
knowledge of their frontline staff on the trend of tobacco control
through the Anti-smoking Workgroup formed by a group of
professions from different departments in the Hospital.

Annie NG, COSH Senior Project Manager delivered a presentation
titled “The harmful effects of electronic cigarettes and other new
tobacco products” to illustrate the hazards and potential risks
of these products in the smoke-free talk on 22 January 2019.
Other speakers included CHEUNG Yuen-kwan, Nursing Officer of
Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health.
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COSH maintains a close and longstanding relation with the mass
media, enabling the messages of tobacco control and COSH's
promotion activities to penetrate into all levels of the society
effectively. COSH Secretariat regularly fields interviews and
enquiries from different newspapers, publications, television and
radio stations, as well as other media platforms. COSH issued the
following press releases to the media during the year:

Press Release

“Be a Smoke-free Athlete”

2018/5/20 - Y _
HEE T RIE S MEE E) Say no to cigarette and do exercise
RESERRBUT Y AEHEZEIEE FBEHEM  COSH urges the Government to enact a total ban

2018/6/12 oo =R
FENERE on e-cigarettes and other new tobacco products

2018/6/15 PEHZEFEREMIAESER Enact a total ban on e-cigarettes and other new

RIERRIELRE [ BROARR

ZEgRBESRBABEREELELEFER

2018/9/27 —Eos T
H b A & A

2018/10/10 % B & [0l i BUR S AIIE & 1

tobacco products for the sake of public health

COSH and health professionals strongly request
for a total ban of electronic cigarettes and other
new tobacco products

COSH's response to the tobacco control policies
proposed in the 2018 Policy Address

Premiere of School Interactive Education Theatre

EREBHEKERS [ZETE)RE]

2018/10/11 Encourages students to build a “Smoke-free
SEFRIZER AR BIEREE
BRI R AR ER Family” with their family
018/10/15 YHEPEZEIETE MR NEE & Supporting the enactment of a total ban on
WL BARA e-cigarettes and other new smoking products
“Support to Enact a Total Ban on E-cigarettes and
A5 [YiE2EE NEFEREMMEHAAIESESD | Other New Tobacco Products” briefing sessions

BN e SEEENE RETRER

spread smoke-free messages and protect public
health
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HEi Date AT Press Release

e Publicity event of “Elderly Smoking Cessation
MmIEE L | 2 -
2018/11/14 @] 58l 2018-2019 Promotion Project 2018-2019"

HEHE - 2RISR | 5F)
[EERE - REURER ] SRS "Be Healthy, Be a Smoke-free Elderly”

Call on drivers and passengers to join the “Smoke-

2018/11/23 RERFEFIABENE free Drivers Club”
B FIHER A [ EIEELEES | Promote smoke-free culture to the transportation
industry

. “Smoke-free Run cum Carnival”
Fif&ﬁﬂikﬁﬁ’@% 2 FEE |

2019/1/13 Nearly 1,600 smoke-free athletes join hands to
3T 1,600 42 4B 42 52 00 B B A 2 / | Jom hen
promote a healthy lifestyle through running

Open Letter to Financial Secretary, HKSAR

HEARITRRME AR RARE Government
2019/1/17  $BANEEEET 100% I 1% 6 JZ 48 i & Raising tobacco tax by 100% next year and
BR BN ERERN B R Annual increase to reach Government's target in

reducing smoking prevalence

COSH welcomes the Government to put forward

ZEE® AZF“T FAEBEZEZILEFER o .
2019/2/13 N the legislation on a total ban on e-cigarettes and
i
g \ﬁﬂ*ﬁikﬁ B AERR other new smoking products
BT 1R BRI EEQOFRIE (NREAE){EE]) Urge for the immediate passage of the Smoking
L =EY) (Public Health) (Amendment) Bill 2019

COSH'’s response to the tobacco control policies

2019/2/27 & B B FBE = Hy e
. FHEERMRRSRORRERE proposed by The Budget

2019/3/15 [ #5/% Teens ] i EIZEED “Smoke-free Teens” promote smoke-free culture
R S in the community by innovative activities

s . - . The 9" “Quit to Win" Smoke-free Communit
2019/3/25 BIUE [ AUEARZR | WAt E) Campaign promotes smoking cessation anzj/
SIHME BB R AR 4
smoke-free lifestyle

Caution against a misleading promotion

2019/3/25  RPTREMNAZEREEMS FED) : : :
campaign on alternative smoking products
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The 12% Asia
13 - 15 septe

The 12t Asia Pacific Conference on Tobacco
or Health

"The 12 Asia Pacific Conference on Tobacco or Health” was held
in Bali of Indonesia on 13 to 15 September 2018, attended by over
1,000 delegates from 29 countries. The theme of the Conference
was “Tobacco Control for Sustainable Development: Ensuring A
Healthy Generation” which provided a platform for the delegates
to exchange views and share experiences on the implementation
of Framework Convention on Tobacco Control and tobacco
control policies, to stop the onslaught of the tobacco epidemic.

COSH sent a delegation comprising Antonio KWONG, Chairman,
Yolanda NG, Vice-chairman, Dr Daniel HO, Member, Vienna LA,
Executive Director and Secretariat staff. COSH was invited for
poster presentations to demonstrate the multi-pronged approach
in tobacco control including urging for banning e-cigarettes in
Hong Kong as well as enlargement of pictorial health warnings to
85% of cigarette packs. Annie NG, COSH Senior Project Manager
delivered a presentation titled “The effectiveness of School
Interactive Education Theatre in conveying smoke-free messages
among the children” to introduce the way enhancing the smoke-
free knowledge among primary students in Hong Kong through
interactive education theatre.
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Symposium on Cancer Challenge in Hong
Kong

The Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society organized the Symposium
on Cancer Challenge in Hong Kong on 6 October 2018 with
the theme “Sustainable Cancer Control Plan for Hong Kong”
COSH was invited as one of the supporting organizations. The
symposium aimed to provide an opportunity for healthcare
professionals, academia and policy makers in Hong Kong to
exchange ideas on developing a sustainable cancer control plan.
Renowned overseas and local speakers presented various topics
on strategy and policy formulation as well as experience in the
execution of cancer care. Vienna LAI, COSH Executive Director
attended the symposium with over 400 participants including
policy makers, senior health care and social service executives and
professionals to share experiences.

The 19t National Symposium on Tobacco
Control

“National Symposium on Tobacco Control”is organized by the
Chinese Association on Tobacco Control every two years. It aims
to provide a platform for tobacco control practitioners and public
health academics across the country to exchange the experience
on tobacco control. With the theme of “Smoke-free Healthy
China’, the 19" National Symposium on Tobacco Control was held
from 2 to 4 November 2018 in Shaoxing, Zhejiang Province and
attended by around 1,000 tobacco control experts and academics
from different provinces and overseas. COSH formed a delegation
comprising Antonio KWONG, Chairman, Vienna LAI, Executive
Director and Lawrence CHU, Senior Project Manager to participate
in the symposium. Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman was invited
to give a speech representing Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
regions at the opening ceremony.
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Prof LAM Tai-hing, Chair Professor of Community Medicine cum Sir
Robert Kotewall Professor in Public Health, The University of Hong
Kong (HKU) gave an oral presentation on the abstract “Hong Kong
should ban e-cigarettes and all new tobacco products” co-authored
by COSH and School of Public Health, HKU. The other two abstracts
submitted by COSH titled “Elderly Smoking Cessation Promotion
Project breaks the myths of smoking and cultivates smoke-free
attitude among the elderly”and "An observational study: strategies
of the tobacco industry to implement larger pictorial health
warnings on cigarette packs during the transition period” were
published in the abstract booklet of the symposium. The former
was awarded as one of the outstanding abstracts.

Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control
2018

World Health Organization (WHO) Collaborating Centre for
Smoking Cessation and Treatment of Tobacco Dependence
organized the “Fellowship Programme on Tobacco Control 2018"
in Hong Kong from 19 to 23 November 2018. It aimed to provide
tobacco control training for the tobacco control practitioners
working in the government or non-governmental organizations
in the countries of West-Pacific Region. Structured according
to “"MPOWER” laid down by WHO, the programme assisted the
participants to master the skills in tobacco control, through a
comprehensive overview of the latest tobacco control measures
and experience sharing. Participants’ knowledge including
legislation, enforcement, advocacy and publicity, development
and evaluation of cessation programmes were strengthened.
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International and local experts, including Dr Tina CHAN, Assistant
Director of Health (Special Health Services), Dr Becky FREEMAN,
Prof LAM Tai-hing, Kathleen LANNAN, Prof Judith MACKAY,
Therese SHUMAKER and Dr Homer TSO were invited to share their
experience and latest development in tobacco control. Antonio
KWONG, COSH Chairman was invited to deliver a presentation
titled “Role of COSH in Advocacy, Education and Publicity against
Tobacco Use in Hong Kong” which highlighted the experience
and challenges of COSH's works on education, publicity and
policy advocacy over the years. In addition to presentations and
workshops, visits to community-based smoking cessation clinics
were also arranged for introducing the smoking cessation services
in Hong Kong.

Seminar on Harms of E-cigarettes

Sale of e-cigarettes was banned in Macao since 1 January 2018.
Still there are many people have the misconceptions on these
products. Smoking Abstention and Good Health Association
of Macao organized the “Seminar on Harms of E-cigarettes” on
27 December 2018 to enhance the public awareness on the
harms and clarify the myths of e-cigarettes as a legitimate tool
for smoking cessation and healthier alternative of smoking.
Representing COSH and School of Public Health, The University
of Hong Kong, Dr Daniel HO, COSH Council Member delivered
a presentation named “Total ban of e-cigarettes to protect
public health”and shared the scientific findings on the harms of
e-cigarettes and other new tobacco products. He also introduced
COSH's education and publicity works on e-cigarettes and heat-
not-burn tobacco products, also the advocacy works of the total
ban of these products in Hong Kong.
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Smoke-free Visit to Macao

Macao had amended the Tobacco Prevention and Control Regime
and introduced a series of innovative tobacco control measures,
including smoking ban in areas within ten meters of all public
transport waiting areas; increased penalty of smoking offenses to
MOPS$1,500; prohibition of tobacco product display at the points
of sale; and ban on sale and promotion of e-cigarettes and heat-
not-burn tobacco products.

COSH formed a delegation, comprising Antonio KWONG,
Chairman, Christopher YU, Chairman of Education & Publicity
Committee, Dr Daniel HO, Council Member, Prof LAM Tai-hing, Co-
opted Member and Vienna LA, Executive Director to visit Macao
and understand the implementation and effectiveness of the
above tobacco control measures. The delegation was received
by Dr LEI Chin-ion, Director of Health Bureau, Dr CHEANG Seng-
ip, Deputy Director of Health Bureau and Dr TANG Chi-ho, Head
of Tobacco Prevention and Control Office of Macao to exchange
on the development and challenges in tobacco control. The
delegates also observed the implementation and execution of
the new tobacco control measures in Macao and explored the
feasibility to advocate for the same policies in Hong Kong.
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A Scholar of Research Programme from the
United States

Prof Daniel AMOS, scholar of the USA Government-funded
Fulbright Research Programme placed a second visit to COSH on
5 June 2018 to understand the tobacco control development in
Hong Kong and smoke-free education and publicity projects of
COSH. Antonio KWONG, COSH Chairman and Vienna LAI, COSH
Executive Director elaborated Hong Kong's achievement and
challenges in tobacco control, they also exchanged information
on smoking prevalence and new tobacco product use among
youth in both places. It was agreed that stringent policies should
be imposed to prevent epidemic of youth's tobacco use.

Exchange Students of Li Ka Shing Faculty of
Medicine, The University of Hong Kong

About 40 exchange students of Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,
The University of Hong Kong, from mainland China, South Korea,
Sweden, Taiwan and Thailand, visited COSH on 30 November
2018 and 29 January 2019. Under the theme of World Health
Organization's MPOWER tobacco control measures, Lawrence
CHU, COSH Senior Project Manager and Fung WONG, COSH
Project Manager introduced the tobacco control policies in Hong
Kong, as well as COSH's education, publicity programmes and
advocacy works. Participants also shared the latest developments
of tobacco control in other places.
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Resource Centre

COSH set up the Resource Centre to provide a variety of
information related to smoking and health. Members of public
can have access to the research reports, smoke-free promotional
and educational materials such as leaflets and posters.

Collections of the Resource Centre include various local and
international periodicals, journals, books, research papers,
conference proceedings, reference materials, statistics, education
materials and audio-visual materials about tobacco hazards, passive
smoking, smoking cessation and tobacco control legislation, etc.

Visitors of the Resource Centre include students, teachers, parents,
researchers, medical and healthcare practitioners, tobacco control
organizations and public health professionals. COSH also receives
visits from local and overseas delegations.

Enquiry Hotline

A hotline system (852) 2838 8822 is set up to provide 24-hour
enquiry service. The public can acquire information about smoking
and health, smoke-free legislations in Hong Kong, methods and
benefits to quit smoking and details of COSH's programmes.
The public can also make enquiries, suggestions and complaints
regarding smoking or other related issues via the hotline.

The hotline served as a means to collect public opinions on
tobacco control policies which are useful for the formulation of
COSH's future work plan. Any feedback, complaints or suggestions
received will be responded instantly or/and referred to relevant
government departments and organizations accordingly.

Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, COSH received 212 calls
from the public making enquiries, suggestions and complaints.
Major categories of cases included applications for COSH’s
education and publicity materials, general enquiries about COSH's
background information and projects, enquiries on tobacco control
legislation in Hong Kong and complaints on smoking offenses.
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COSH Website, Facebook Page and
E-Newsletter

To inform the public about the updated activities of COSH and the
latest information related to smoking and health, COSH's website
(www.smokefree.hk) is developed to provide the information
via internet. Between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019, COSH’s
website recorded over 551,000 page views. The top viewed pages
included smoking hazards, e-cigarettes and methods of cessation.

COSH's website adopted the accessibility design to facilitate
different segments of the community including persons with
disability to access to tobacco control information and COSH's
services. The website attains the requirements of Gold Award of
"Web Accessibility Recognition Scheme” organized by the Hong
Kong Internet Registration Corporation Limited. This scheme is
co-organized by the Office of the Government Chief Information
Officer and supported by Equal Opportunities Commission.
In 2018-2019, COSH's website was awarded the Triple Gold
Award. The other two project websites “Quit to Win” Smoke-free
Community Campaign (www.quittowin.hk) and School Interactive
Education Theatre Programme (www.educationtheatre.hk) also
achieved the Triple Gold Award and Gold Award respectively.

E-Newsletter is also released regularly covering the recent
findings on smoking hazards and smoking cessation around the
world, local and global development in tobacco control and the
latest activities of COSH. The general public can subscribe the
e-newsletter through COSH website.

As social media becomes popular and is one of the key
information sources, a Facebook page “Smoke-free Family” (www.
facebook.com/smokefreefamily) has been set up to interact with
the public, as well as release the latest hazards of smoking, tips
and reasons for smoking cessation and current news on tobacco
control. Members of public can also obtain the details of COSH’s
programmes and join via the Facebook page.

facebook
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Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2018

COSH’s Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey has been
conducted since 2012 to investigate the effectiveness of tobacco
control policy in Hong Kong and keep track of the public opinions
on the policy. It is a representative cross-sectional survey and
covers a wide scope of topics related to smoking and health,
including pattern of smoking and cessation, secondhand smoke
exposure, opinions towards existing and future tobacco control
measures, etc.

The School of Nursing and School of Public Health of The
University of Hong Kong were commissioned by COSH to
conduct the Tobacco Control Policy-related Survey 2018. Data
was collected by Public Opinion Programme of The University
of Hong Kong via telephone interview. From February to June
2018, the survey successfully collected the information from
the randomized sample of 5,132 respondents aged 15 years or
above who could speak Cantonese or Putonghua, including 1,713
never smokers, 1,707 ex-smokers and 1,712 current smokers.
Respondents were divided into different subsamples to answer
different question subsets consisting of core and random
questions. The final samples were weighted to the Hong Kong
population in 2018.

Results of the survey are shown below:
Pattern of Smoking and Cessation

e On average, current smokers consumed 11.6 cigarettes per
day. Over half (56.9%) of them smoked the first cigarette
within an hour after waking up, indicating a higher addiction
to nicotine.

e Nearly half (47.5%) of the current smokers had the intention to
quit. Only about a quarter (29.9%) had tried to stop smoking
in the past twelve months and they had tried quitting for 3.2
times on average.

o About 11.0% of ex-smokers and current smokers had ever
used smoking cessation services.
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Passive Smoking

Among all respondents, 15.1% lived with at least one smoker
and 13.8% reported secondhand smoke (SHS) exposure at
home in the past seven days.

Exposure to SHS in public places was common. 65.7% of
respondents reported that they had exposed to SHS in at least
one day in the past seven days. The most common places
were on the streets (82.1%), public transport stops (17.0%),
other outdoor public places (11.0%) and near rubbish bins
(10.9%).

In respondents who had been to restaurants and bars in the
past 30 days, 69.1% and 81.1% reported exposure to SHS at
outdoor areas of the respective venues.

Smoking ban was extended to the eight bus interchanges
at tunnel portal area in March 2016. However, 18.1% of
respondents reported that they had witnessed someone
smoking at these bus interchanges in the past 30 days.

Extension of Smoke-free Areas

In general, respondents supported to extend no-smoking area
to queuing line in public places (94.7%), public transport stops
(93.7%), busy streets (83.9%), pedestrian walkways (82.5%),
public areas of the residential buildings (82.5%), within three
metres of doorways of office buildings (77.5%), seating-out
areas of restaurants (69.1%), all public outdoor places (65.1%)
and seating-out areas of bars (56.1%).

Respondents overwhelmingly supported to ban smoking in
the venue where children are present, including in private
vehicles (88.7%), all public areas (86.1%) and home (74.9%).

72.0% of respondents agreed that the Government should
legislate to ban smoking while walking on the streets.

Over 80% (85.5%) of respondents thought that the
Government should raise the fine of smoking offenses (the
fine is HK$ 1,500 at present).
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e Majority (77.3%) of respondents supported that the person-in-
charge should be liable and penalized for smoking offense in
smoke-free premises under their management.

Regulations on Cigarette Packaging

e Hong Kong adopted larger pictorial health warnings (PHW)
with twelve types at 85% of cigarette pack area and required
to show the quitline number since December 2017. Among
current smokers, about one-fourth (27.4%) had seen the
quitline number on cigarette packs.

e Majority (88.2%) of current smokers had noticed the PHW on
cigarette packs in the past 30 days, which was much higher
than never smokers (35.7%) and ex-smokers (34.2%).

e Among the current smokers, more than half (53.8%) would
think of the risks of smoking after seeing the PHW, 26.1%
would consider quitting smoking and 9.0%, in the past
30 days, would stop to light a cigarette.

e Overall, most (78.8%) respondents agreed that the PHW
should be clearer and more threatening about the hazards of
smoking. 60.0% of respondents agreed to change the PHW
regularly.
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Tobacco Advertising and Promotion

e Most (69.2%) respondents had noticed the display of tobacco
products at points of sale in the past 30 days.

e Most (67.8%) respondents thought that the display of tobacco
products was a kind of advertisement and promotion. About
43.1% of all respondents reckoned that the display of tobacco
products encourages young people to smoke.

e Nearly two-thirds (67.0%) of all respondents agreed to ban the
N display of tobacco products at points of sale, while about half
BERERER (48.7%) of current smokers also supported.
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e Half (50.1%) of current smokers said that they would quit

BEH smoking if cigarette price increases. They reckoned that the
N price of a pack of cigarettes should be raised to HK$255 on
e ABH@BIOWXFE R B KM R A F average (median was HK$100) to make them quit smoking.

019F)IBINEER - XK B FIBINEETR
B Eh & BIMERZB(74.9%)

e HEEMEENBRREEES  BNK
(60.3%) B RS BB LAME B B A A& -

e B—¥Go1mBRREERTEERERE
ARMAE - MR ABEERZA=RETY
FaRBESs T (P ABEI100T) A
BE A PIARAE ©

97



SEE) Events

ETE - MAFRBEER G (NAE) RKE

81)\FK (81.5%) X 5h & BEEFRAE FIE o TFT
BXFEER > B35% BEFERABETFE -
EPUFEFHANLEERS  flLise
9 EHER BRF A ER6.2%

WD — (247%) Zah & G BINESE -
TEFFBEXGEET  B1.7% D LR INER
Ee TEMFERRARE[F](528%)
[ 88275 1(20.0%) & [ ¥ B F @R ZEER D
(14.4%) ©

)

RED RN E (71.5%) &EEH%WE%
(72.8%) R [E DN ZEAE A] A ERE i

BNEZ2IEED  2E 68 28K
SESEREER  BEEFENRINEE -
BB B EACEE L SHE DIRVE (55.3%) &
BT M 2 E R LE (54.9%) °

TP (85.19%) A& B HEF BKIE - TEFTE
XHEER  Bo3% BKLRRKE - EEH
FRRERBE[1FF 1664%) [+ EHA
(14.1%) & [ BBREZE A 1 (14.1%) ©

E-cigarettes, Heat-not-burn (HNB) Tobacco Products and
Waterpipe Tobacco

e Most respondents (81.5%) had heard about e-cigarettes.
Among all respondents, about 3.5% had ever used e-cigarettes.
The ever use rate was higher in younger people, e.g. 6.2%
among those aged 15 to 29 years old.

e About a quarter (24.7%) of respondents had heard about HNB
tobacco products and 1.7% had ever used the products. The
main reasons of using HNB tobacco products were “curiosity”
(52.8%), “cleaner” (20.0%) and “less harmful to personal health”
(14.4%).

e Most of overall respondents (71.5%) and current smokers
(72.8%) did not perceived HNB tobacco products as smoking
cessation products.

e The Government proposed to ban the import, manufacture,
sale, distribution and advertisement of alternative smoking
products, including e-cigarettes and HNB tobacco products.
More than half of respondents supported a ban on sale (55.3%)
and a total ban of HNB tobacco products as proposed by the
Government (54.9%)).

e Majority (85.1%) of respondents had ever heard about
waterpipe tobacco and 9.3% had ever used. The most
common reasons for using waterpipe tobacco were “curiosity”
(66.4%), “social reasons” (14.1%) and “encouraged by friends”
(14.1%).
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Opinions on Future Tobacco Control Policies

A majority (83.3%) of respondents agreed to increase the legal
age for purchasing cigarettes from the current 18 to 21 years
old, and it was agreed by 67.3% of current smokers.

e Respondents overwhelmingly agreed (79.1%) that public
officers should not commercially affiliated with the tobacco
industry and its representatives.

e More than half (57.3%) of respondents agreed that children
born in and after a specific year (e.g. 2018) should never have
access to cigarettes.

e About two-thirds of respondents supported a total ban on
sale of tobacco (65.9%) and total ban of smoking (69.1%) in
Hong Kong. The measures were also supported by 35.5% and
31.8% of current smokers respectively.

e Most (65.9%) respondents agreed to ban smoking if smoking
prevalence in Hong Kong decreases to 5% or lower.

e Most (70.4%) respondents supported the Government to set
2027 as the year for total ban of smoking in Hong Kong. It was
supported by 41.0% of current smokers.

To advocate for appropriate measures and raise public awareness
duly, COSH released the preliminary findings of specific topics in
different occasions.
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Aims and Strategies

To uphold sustainable development, COSH devises internal and
external strategies to promote a sense of responsibility regarding
environmental protection. To achieve this, COSH has adopted the
following environmentally friendly policies:

Enhance efficiency of energy consumption;
® Reduce paper consumption;
® Reduce waste and recycle; and

® Enhance awareness on environmental protection.

Environmental Protection Strategies

Enhance Efficiency of Energy Consumption

The Secretariat conserves energy by ensuring that staff members
switch off lights, air-conditioners, computers, the monitors of
computer, photocopiers, printers and other electrical appliances
immediately after use.

Energy efficiency is one of the considerations in purchasing
electrical appliances. IT equipment such as computers, the
monitors of computer and photocopiers with automatic energy
saving functions have also been used. Instead of using traditional
light bulbs, COSH has used compact fluorescent lamps.

Reduce Paper Consumption

To disseminate updated smoke-free information to the pubilic,
promotional materials such as posters, leaflets and brochures are
produced. COSH also maintains frequent communications with
the community and government departments. To reduce the
consumption of paper, the following measures are in place:

® Use of e-mail and intranet for internal and external
communication and transfer of document instead of
memorandums, letters and hardcopies, where possible;
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e Utilization of electronic-fax system and electronic document
management system to reduce the amount of printing;

® Reduction of the size and quantity of the printed promotional
materials and use of environmentally friendly paper;

®  Most of the tobacco control information, promotional materials
and publications have been uploaded to COSH website and
online applications are available for public access in order to
reduce the demand for hardcopies;

® Use electronic greeting cards in replacement of printed cards
on festive occasions;

® Use of "Print Preview" function to check the layout and style of
document before printing to avoid wastage; and

® Use of both sides of paper to reduce consumption.

Reduce Waste and Recycle

COSH supports waste reduction and recycling and joins the
"Computer and Communication Products Recycling Programme”
launched by the Environmental Protection Department. The
unserviceable computers and computer accessories are delivered
for recycling. In addition, recyclable printer toner cartridges have
been used.

Unwanted papers such as drafts of documents or documents
with printing errors have been collected for recycling. Recycling
boxes have been placed at convenient locations in the office to
encourage staff members to recycle waste paper.

Enhance Awareness on Environmental Protection

Staff have been informed on the aims and reminded to comply
with the green measures via staff meetings, email reminders and
notices.

Where applicable, service providers and working partners are
encouraged to follow the principles of environmental protection,
e.g. use of eco-friendly materials such as reusable water cup at
events and submission of document in electronic format.

COSH will continue to make every endeavor to comply with the
green measures,
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Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health
Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2019

To the Council Members of Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health

(incorporated in Hong Kong under the Hong Kong Council
on Smoking and Health Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Hong Kong Council
on Smoking and Health (“the Council”) set out on pages 104 to
125, which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 March 2019, and the statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2019, and of its
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of
the Council in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Information Other than the Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The Council members are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The annual report is expected to be
available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we will not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Council Members and
Those Charged Governance for the Financial
Statements

The Council members are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, and for such internal control
as the Council members determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Council members are
responsible for assessing the Council’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Council members either intend to liquidate the Council or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Council’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 17(5) of the
Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

—  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s
internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Council members.



¥R & Reports

BEEMET W F IR AIER  Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
—R=aC ) Financial Statements (continued)

P

HEBeK ERARKELE S ERNS
SR o RIBFIEDRETERE
BERLFERSHELBEABHENEAT
FEEME - el g BEENHER
LERENELEEARE - IRBFIRBSFE
BEATHEEN - MBS BEZHBENRE S
REEAEIEVHBRRFORERE -
BEAHENTETE - MIRMEEHRIE
BEREBR - RANGERSENZEED
W& B ARG RERTRE © A KK
FRRBEAAEEH SSTHEFEL

AEMBEHRROBEIHRTRN - EBEM
ANE - BREHEE  UANUBEHRREESTE
RERZZZFNEIA

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council members’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Council’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

BREMEIFIN - HMERFEEER TEIA We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
ETEHE - AL EAEFEIRE B3 among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
APEREETH 3B R EBIE IR EIE ARG o audit and significant audit findings, including any significant

deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

T%grt/‘?,

FRE ST S5
BRMEGETAD

E& 201946 A25H

F.S.Li&Co.
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 June 2019
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Statement of Comprehensive Income

HZE2019F3 A3 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2019

—E-)\F
(B%) (HKS) 2018
WA Income
BBERITTIN R BT Subventions from the Government of the
AL Hong Kong Special Administrative
—fRERG Region General subvention 24,045,926 23,869,886
RITA B U A Bank interest income 1,498 56
TR A Sundry income 3,330 10,661
24,050,754 23,880,603
i Expenditure
HEAERR T 4 B Approved establishment 3 5,851,498 5,656,369
HEET Project staff 4 1,785,606 2,008,251
EEREEER Publicity and promotion expenses 12,348,940 12,559,540
eHEH Conference expenses 168,577 185,043
DEEZERTY Reference books and periodicals 12,334 8,027
PAEHE ZHNEEE  Office rent, rates and management fee 2,923,928 2,909,615
ErfleMEBR Warehouse rent and expenses 225,304 217,937
HERREER Repairs and maintenance 74,790 15,007
BRIEREMA Cleaning wages and fees 54,972 57,216
e Depreciation 12,773 13,252
R Insurance 75,256 73,383
BE Electricity 42,407 40,856
BB EA Telephone and communication expenses 42,500 46,242
BIHESER Recruitment expenses 70,972 28,364
BIl@kEREER Staff training and development expenses 1,500 3,250
RE - BEMZEER Legal, professional and audit fees 32,800 26,100
e Postage 16,219 9,270
ENRI K 3 A Printing and stationery 84,944 58,879
MIES Sundry expenses 38,250 31,725
23,863,570 23,948,826
EERE/ (FHE) Surplus/(deficit) for the year 5 187,184 (68,223)
AEEZEBRA / (XH) Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year 187,184 (68,223)
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IS AR 3R
Statement of Financial Position

R2019F3 A31H
At 31 March 2019

—F—N\F
(B¥) (HKS) 2018
FRBEE Non-current assets
- X - #eskads  Property, plant and equipment 7 30,906 16,496
REBEE Current assets
e RFERNFIA Deposits and prepayments 8 961,754 843,223
IRITMIREET Bank and cash balances 514,501 380,915
1,476,255 1,224,138
B RBaE Less: current liabilities
EE A Accrued charges 1,088,461 1,010,469
FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 245,095 233,773
JEREEEZBCAEE Adjusted surplus for the year refundable
TR to the Department of Health 9 184,096 9,971
EREBIFEEE RERHK Accumulated surpluses refundable to
the Department of Health 10 203,640 203,640
1,721,292 1,457,853
MENEE Net current liabilities (245,037) (233,715)
FAE Net liabilities (214,131) (217,219)
ER: representing:
2REE Accumulated deficits (214,131) (217,219)

ZEEMN2019F 6 A25 BB RBEBMMNE  The financial statements on pages 104 to 125 were approved and
104 BEFE 125 BB MK © authorized for issue by the Council on 25 June 2019,

@—“ e
FEB4E 2% 55 4 MH thijiss 22+ MH REELL
B3 BlEE G
Mr Antonio KWONG Cho-shing, MH Ms Yolanda NG Yuen-ting, MH Ms Vienna LAl Wai-yin
Chairman Vice-chairman Executive Director
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Statement of Changes in Equity

HZE2019F3 A31 BILEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2019

BRE —E-N\F
(B%) (HKS) Note 2018
2EEE Accumulated deficit
LEESARZER Deficit brought forward (217,219)  (139,025)
NEFRER/ (BE)/ Surplus/(Deficit) for the year/
AEEZERERA/ (ZH) Total comprehensive
income/(expense) for the year 187,184 (68,223)
FEREIEER 2 &AL Adjusted surplus refundable to
the Department of Health 9 (184,096) (9,971)
AmEEZER Deficitatrbutable to the Counail 3088 (78,194)
BATFEZEE Deficit carried forward (214,131) (217,219)
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Cash Flow Statement

HZE2019F3 A3 HIEFE
For the year ended 31 March 2019

¥R & Reports

BRE —E-N\F
(B%) (HK$) Note 2018
LBEBCIRERE Cash flows from operating activities
AEERE%G/ (Ei8) Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 187,184 (68,223)
R Adjustments for :
HEHBA Interest income (1,498) (56)
e Depreciation 12,773 13,252
LBEESEERIZ Operating surplus/(deficit) before working
BERG/ (F8) capital changes 198,459 (55,027)
e RFERFRIE 2 M Increase in deposits and prepayments (118,531) (19,993)
ERERZIEM/ CRd) Increase/(Decrease) in accrued charges 77,992 (314,047)
FRB .25 M Increase in provision for annual
leave entitlements 11,322 68,300
EEBFTES/ ((FA)Z  Netcash from/(used in) operating activities
R 2 169,242 (320,767)
KREEB HERE Cash flows from investing activities
BAME - #as MR Purchase of property, plant and equipment (27,183) (3,358)
2 UF B Interest received 1,498 56
BRAERDMEALFRE  Netcashusedininvestingactivities (25685 (3302)
BETHZHRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BEVREIEEE Surplus refunded to
the Department of Health (9,971) (14,577)
 BERBAMERZFRE  Netcashusedinfinancingactivities (9.971) (14577).
B RREEEZF Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
#hn/ Cgd) cash equivalents 133,586 (338,646)
FURe RRSFEET Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of the year 380,915 719,561
FRR|e RRSFEET Cash and cash equivalents
at end of the year 514,501 380,915
ReRRSFEEFIN Analysis of the balances of cash
and cash equivalents
IRITMIREETT Bank and cash balances 514,501 380,915
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FESFEER
(a) #MBEEZE

AMBHRRERRBESAMNAE
BT A ERNE ST H RS ER
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2R - X1 KARER BT RS
BANERTA - HAGRASHERER
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BEATE -

AEW L ARERAAREE R ARER
ZEHERER 2BERYHRSE
RN - MR A RC NI EE 14

General

The Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health (“the

Council”) is an organization incorporated under the Hong
Kong Council on Smoking and Health Ordinance on
1 October 1987.

The office address of the Council is at Unit 4402-03, 44"
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,

Hong Kong.

Principal Accounting Policies

(a)

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), and accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong. The financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting year
of the Council. The adoption of these amendments
to HKFRSs had no material effect on the results and
financial position of the Council for the current and
prior accounting years.

The Council has not early adopted new and revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for the current
accounting year. Explanation of this is included in
Note 14.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(a)

(b)

Basis of Preparation (continued)

The preparation of the financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in
which the estimates is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Revenue Recognition

()  Government subventions are recognized
as income over periods necessary to match
them with the related costs they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis when
there is reasonable assurance that the Council
will comply with the conditions attaching of
them and the subventions will be received.
Government subventions received before
the revenue recognition criteria satisfied are
recognized as a liability.

(i) Bank interest income is recognized as it accrues
using the effective interest method.
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(c)
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign Currencies Translation

The Council’s functional currency and presentation
currency are Hong Kong dollars. Transactions arising
in foreign currencies are converted at exchange
rates approximating to those ruling at transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period
are translated at rates of exchange approximating to
those ruling at that date. All exchange differences are
dealt with in surplus or deficit.

Impairment Losses

At the end of each reporting period, where there
is any indication that an asset, including items of
property, plant and equipment, is impaired, the
recoverable amount of the asset should be estimated.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and value in use. If the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognized to reduce the asset
to its recoverable amount. Such impairment losses are
recognized in surplus or deficit. An impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss should not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined has no impairment
loss been recognized in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to surplus or deficit in
the year in which the reversals are recognized.
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2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less any subsidies received or receivable,
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment less subsidies received
or receivable and accumulated impairment losses over
their estimated useful lives using a straight-line basis
at the following rates:
Leasehold improvements  over unexpired period of lease
25 percent per annum

25 percent per annum

Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment

Assets Held Under Operating Leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases are charged to surplus or
deficit on a straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Deposits

Deposits are initially recognized at fair value and
thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Accrued Charges

Accrued charges are initially recognized at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortized cost unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.
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2. FESTERE@® 2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
i) RekFALEE (i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

§)]

(k)

ARHERERERMS - B2 MRE
FEEERSNINFAR=EARE

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits

HARYIRTTF R ° with banks within three months to maturity from date
of deposit.

EEEZRS (j) Employee Leave Entitlements

EEMEANFREEHEFRESR Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized

EERAR - EHEREHR - 22 when they accrue to employees. A provision is made

NEERBEORBIAIEENE H for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of

R - ELH A REE - services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

BREAL (k) Related Parties

A EmEMS - EHEALERE For the purposes of these financial statements, related

FEUTEENALTRELR - party includes a person and an entity as defined below:

()

THAATHEIHRRBBER () A person or a close member of that person’s
REASERE  G%BAT: family is related to the Council if that person:

@) ¥l ERESIAE (@ has control or joint control of the Council;

b) HEAEEEAXEN X (b) has significant influence over the Council;
or

© ARAGZIZEEENE - (© is a member of the key management

personnel of the Council.
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2. FESTERE@® 2. Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
(k) BEAEAL(E) (k) Related Parties (continued)
(i) & NIMER—HEEGEYE - 8l (i) An entity is related to the Council if any of the
FHRERBRERAREASEH following conditions applies:
&
@) uxiﬁ—ﬁ$Aiéﬁi$Aﬁ (@ The entity is a post-employment benefit
s B EJEEA?'Jﬁﬁux plan for the benefit of employees of either
S22 RRBEAETE o B the Council or an entity related to the
2B R%:TE - EHER Council. If the Council is itself such a plan,
HEFHEASFRHE - the sponsoring employers are also related

to the Council.

b) ZEBWHBEOME AL (b) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
72 1| %, FE [E 2 ) by a person identified in (i).

© BO@FTEBATEHER (© A person identified in (i)(a) has significant
BEARENSIRZER influence over the entity or is a member
ZEEERENE ° of the key management personnel of the

entity.

d ZEBXHMBEEET (d)  The entity, or any member of a group of
(EREINDE= ’R AR R which it is a part, provides key management
FEERABRE © personnel services to the Council.

3. MEBNHEHR 3. Approved Establishment
(E%) (HKS)
e &oEE Salaries and allowances 5,686,105 5,446,807
SRR K Mandatory provident fund contributions 146,912 145,597
FREAE Provision for annual leave entitlements made 18,481 64,465

5,851,498 5,656,869

117



118

BHHET 4, Project Staff
—ZE-N\F
(B¥) (HK$) 2018
e Salaries 1,710,310 1,923,551
SRTEE K Mandatory provident fund contributions 82,455 80,865
FR(BERR)/ BE Provision for annual leave entitlements
(written back)/made (7,159) 3,835
1,785,606 2,008,251
REERE/ (BEB) 5. Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year
AEERL/ (BER) BB TINER : Surplus/(Deficit) for the year is stated after charging the
following items:
VAN
(B¥) (HK$) 2018
B IR * Staff costs * 7,691,704 7,718,040
THREFLEMEEMESZE  Rentals of land and buildings
held under operating leases 2,641,056 2,637,656
* BIE XA E B EFCRRRIE G & R LB * including contribution of HK$229,367 (2018 : HK$226,462) to
229,367 7L (2018 4F : 226,462 JT) defined contribution provident fund scheme.
ZESKENME 6. Council Members' Remuneration
KefBLZEeXBRAFERNTREA None of the Council members received any remuneration in
A 7 € 12 44 AR 78 i W ER B 4 (2018 4F - respect of their services to the Council during the year
') o (2018: Nil).
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M og 71 .
7. D% - M KkEE 7. Property, Plant and Equipment
HEWE R WAE
RRIE R#ESE B3] M
Leasehold Furniture Office
(B%) (HKS) improvements and fixtures equipment Total
BN Cost
720173 A31H At 31 March 2017 36,305 111,376 539414 687,095
NE Additions = = 3,358 3,358
M 201843 A31 H At 31 March 2018 36,305 111,376 542,772 690,453
NE Additions = 3,885 23,298 27,183
7201943 A31H At 31 March 2019 36,305 115,261 566,070 717,636
2RTE Accumulated depreciation
R20179F3 A31H At 31 March 2017 36,305 108,009 516,391 660,705
B ZE2018F3H31H Charge for the year ended
I FERHE 31 March 2018 - 1,800 11,452 13,252
M2018F3 A31H At 31 March 2018 36,305 109,309 527,843 673,957
HZE2019F3A31H Charge for the year ended
IFFEFHE 31 March 2019 - 1,860 10913 12,773
7201943 A31H At 31 March 2019 36,305 111,669 538,756 686,730
R T F{E Net book value
20193 A31H At 31 March 2019 = 3,592 27314 30,906
120183 A31 H At 31 March 2018 = 1,567 14,929 16,496

BE RFENFIR

8. Deposits and Prepayments

TEEIE R —F R IKE 2 1S BB 643,856
TC (2018 4F : B ¥ 5475527T ) » TBAF A
5 #5317,898 7T (2018 4F : 85 295,671 7T )
BER—FRNEELEABA -

The amount of deposits expected to be recovered after one
year is HK$643,856 (2018 : HK$547,552). The prepayments in
sum of HK$317,898 (2018 : HK$295,671) are expected to be
recognized as expenses within one year.
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9. BREFEFZEHERER

HRBEEBU TARBEEFREBREN
REFEMENDEAR - REYE -
HE MRBOAERBAFENERM A
AR M ITE - Wit ERFERED
BEZBZBNRE - TEEFREE /BB
B - W% - #as MEB AV M E

MR - Mz RREBRORE ©

9. Adjusted Surplus Refundable to the

Department of Health

As the Department of Health does not recognize the
provision for annual leave entitlements as expenses
until actual payment is made, and regards additions to
property, plant and equipment as expenses during the
year of acquisition without recognition of write-off and
depreciation, accordingly, for the purpose of calculating
the surplus refundable to the Department of Health,
the provision/provision written back for annual leave
entitlements and write-off and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment have been excluded, and additions to
property, plant and equipment have been deducted.

—F)\F
(%) (HKS) 2018
AEZ R/ (EB) Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 187,184 (68,223)
m:eE Add: Depreciation 12,773 13,252
FREE Provision for annual leave entitlements 11,322 68,300
B W R RERERIARE  Less: Additions to property, plant and
equipment (27,183) (3,358)
IR BT A B R AR AR Adjusted surplus refundable to
the Department of Health 184,096 9971

0. BROEEZE 2 REEER

SEEBRAEEZ198FE3 31 HER
BB enNEAEBEREFRD -

10. Accumulated Surpluses Refundable to
the Department of Health

The management of the Council considers that the
accumulated surpluses up to 31 March 1998 will be
refunded to the Department of Health upon request.



¥R Reports

N cREEREMERE 11. Financial Assets and Liabilities
(@ EREERSEBESER (a) Categories of Financial Assets and Liabilities
—E-)\F
(B%) (HKS) 2018
eRMEE Financial assets
MENVEEE - 1 SHRK AME ©  Current assets — at amortized cost:
me Deposits 643,856 547,552
RITEBR & Bank and cash balances 514,501 380915
1,158,357 928,467
= =N Financial liabilities
RENA(E - ISR AME © Current liabilities — at amortized cost:
FEfT &R Accrued charges 1,088,461 1,010,469
FRE Provision for annual leave entitlements 245,095 233,773
JEREIEEB I AFE Adjusted surplus for the year refundable
RRRAMG to the Department of Health 184,096 9,971
EREFEEZ Accumulated surpluses refundable to the
ZEAH% Department of Health 203,640 203,640
1,721,292 1,457,853
(b) FHEEREENEERBE (b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies
HEBEBEEY AW FTEHFEEEAN In the normal course of the operation, the Council
EINE R ~ AR R BRI mm R B does not expose to significant foreign currency risk,
Rk - EfRERuiAT - interest rate risk and commodity and price risks. Other
risks are described below:
(i) EFE@EE (i)  Credit Risk
rgrzEERBEXRLERE The Council’s credit risk is primarily attributable
RITHFER EERESTRESR to cash at bank and is insignificant because the
=fERAFTRZERIT IREE counterparty is a bank with high credit rating.

BRI TERX -
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11.

12.

TREENESREE®) 11.

(b) MBEREENERERBEE(E)

(i) HEBEZEE

reggEREERKNEFD
MBESHER - ARERAES
M IRE W - e R

20194 K 20183 H31H
ELRMABEIFBRENER
HEE—FUAR 25/
BEZEREERENREEGOZ
REAPRIERE ©

(c) AEEE

2019 X 201853 A31 HETE & &L
EEACRHBECEERESEER
TEEAZE - R EEBEIIERA
B ME AR ETEREMm
& e

R TR AR 12.
RIBEER - AR RETT RO TR

BFE SR EMARNARE (0 RERE
3T -

Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

(b) Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

(ii) Liquidity Risk

The Council’s policy is to regularly monitor
current and expected liquidity requirements to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2018, the contractual
maturities of all the Council’s financial liabilities,
whose carrying amounts are equal to total
contracted undiscounted cash flows, are due
within one year.

(c) Fair Values

All financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 March 2019 and 2018. The fair value is estimated as
the present value of future cash flows, discounted at
current market interest rate.

Commitments under Operating Leases

At the end of the reporting period, the Council had the
following future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of land and
buildings:

T )\F

(B¥) (HKS) 2018

F—FERN Not later than one year 34,000 2,641,056
FEFRFA Later than one year but not later

than five years - 34,000

34,000 2,675,056
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13. BRAEALRS 13. Related Party Transactions
EFEARNGEEMEATFIETHNRE During the year the Council undertook the following
EERHWT - transactions with related parties in the normal course of its

operation:
—ZE-N\F
(E¥%) (HKS) 2018
FEEEA BRI Remuneration for key management personnel
FHAE TEA Short-term employee benefits 1,730,671 1,660,800
BER R R A Post-employment benefits 18,000 18,000
1,748,671 1,678,800
14. EREMEERERZIEF 14. Possible Impact of Amendments, New
i / .
EARZEDR FEZ%L Standards and Interpretations Issued But
Not Yet Effect
BERGSTMASER/MRAFE M ARER The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and
HI*EZIKEM‘%#&EQWﬁé%ﬂﬂ"]%lﬁi\ﬂ%ﬂ& new standards which are not yet effective for the current
TAER] > BIEAEEAGEBEN NI & accounting year and which have not been adopted in these
I,E ° financial statements. These include the following which may
be relevant to the Council.
EBRUBHREERFE 165 . HE HKFRS 16, Leases
R2019F 1 A1 H32#&FRZ &5 R Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
£ 2019
B8 HM‘“#&%@EE'J% 1658 N 2016 5 A HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17, Leases,
B MRE B ERIE 179 - HE HK(IFRIC)-Int 4, Determining whether an Arrangement contains
EE R BHREREZEE) - 2 a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15, Operating Leases — Incentives and
Fagg  BETLHELEHEZHE  &F HK(SIC)-Int 27, Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
(REEHERE)-2FEE 159  AKEHE - Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
BREREE(EEEFEZEE)- #F principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation
F279  AHE S RMELFEAR S8 and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognize
B - ZERHFHER - 518 - 27| RIKE assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes
MEWRE - WERFBARKRZEEE two elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of
BREEKAE - ZERBREL TEHEA low-value assets and short-term leases.
MIEREENEERRHRE - REEEE
HERGHHEE -
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14. CRMERRERZIERT ~ #

A RZEBAREELEZEE

&)
BRI R E 165 HE ()

RIEEFIR A - AEABERNEEH
FEHENRARE (IHEERE) MK
AfEAERAEENENSEE (AL
REE) BRIFFEAREENAEAS
APERIE 40 IR EMENTERE - SO RE
RBHBRIMYE  BEMREERN - B
QB EREEEERRAARRTTER
EfEEERTE - HEABEREIR
BRAE B B A8 Mt o0 & E AR E 5K im s

R REEREEENTERS - AHEA
AR ETEHEEREMFTERER
& IR ENEE AN EELS
R — IR Bsk He R E M 5| BOR KA
ENREE - AHA-REEFHFTERE
BEMNBEERSEEREEENTE

BEMBEREERE 16 RABLRELES
AERE 17 RAHBEANEHRETR -
HAE ARG AR (E R A B R RIS 17 5%
MR BRASAEEEETHIR X
RZnREEHERRERE -

BEMGEREERE 165 ESAFMEA RS
BABREBEEBEHERE17HRIELES
BEE - HAEAFEEN R EE N EARE
DEBER T A EAZER -

14.

Possible Impact of Amendments, New
Standards and Interpretations Issued But
Not Yet Effect (continueq)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognize a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease
liability) and an asset representing the right to use the
underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-
use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition
of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation
model is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for
the lease payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognize the interest expense on the lease liability and
the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognize the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset.

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will
continue to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases.

HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17. Lessees can
choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach.
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ZARZRRBUEREEZSE

& ()
BRI EAE 165 : HE ()

AEeBHR2019F481BRENE S
WIS IRE AR 1657 o AR IERHEHERAN
BBV BHRELENENTE  BEERS
BEEFNRRAENITHEAN  UEk&eE
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Possible Impact of Amendments, New
Standards and Interpretations Issued But
Not Yet Effect (continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)

The Council expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16
upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose
to take advantage of the practical expedients available
and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted.
As disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, at
31 March 2019, the Council had future aggregate minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
of approximately HK$34,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS
16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognized as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the
amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to
be recognized, including, but not limited to, any amounts
relating to leases of low-value assets and short term leases,
other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new
leases entered into before the date of adoption.
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B EBP9 Government Departments

PRAEERE Central & Western District Council
PRERERBEEE Central & Western District Office
BEEBEEER Clinical Genetic Service, Department of Health
BHE Correctional Services Department
BEE Department of Health
RRRES Eastern District Council
HER Education Bureau
LEEBELEEG Elderly Commission
ERERR Hospital Authority
BT #h B B Information Services Department
BSEES Islands District Council
NEREZS Kowloon City District Council
EEEES Kwai Tsing District Council
HiEEae Kwun Tong District Council
BAEETBRERERT Maternal and Child Health Centres, Department of Health
teEREE North District Council
BEHEES Quality Education Fund
AEEES Sai Kung District Council
VHEZEE Sha Tin District Council
FKEEE Sham Shui Po District Council
MREEE Southern District Council
REEHEE Tai Po District Council
TR The Land Registry
BETEEE The Road Safety Council
BHEBEERRAE Tobacco and Alcohol Control Office, Department of Health
RBFBAEES Transport Advisory Committee
ElE Transport Department
SEEEE Tsuen Wan District Council
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BEAUEZES Wong Tai Sin District Council
MR EEE Yau Tsim Mong District Council
TR RS Yuen Long District Council

130



#4 Organizations
BEAFHEEERE AMEEEFR L

BRESREREERERSHL
BREEHSATERERSPL

EMRIEEAEERESBEPLO

BERSEIRRE

BEFE AR S RBEREMET O
EREEBREBRAR

TEMESZH L

MR RIEFE AT

EREMEEHE

MREANLTHE

IUJI} |m|}

‘Hﬂ‘?rﬂ BH* EH*

BUERZEES
EBEHEBEE LREEFRA R
BEEEEM - AHAEEERSE
A
ME(BRX) I%%ﬁBE/AEJ
MEZERER D
HERE ﬁiﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ
BERAE
AR A MEREF O - FANEE

RAE REEF O - T8
AEREPL - BBT

BERERL - FE

BE R L - FH
FESNERTRARAT
hERET 2 (FE) ARAT
hERERAERAT

BEBEEE

EEHRERIFT L
EEHRERBH IR RELES D

HEBHRERBF OENIERERP O

Fft$% Appendices

Aberdeen Kai-fong Welfare Association Social Service Centre

Wah Kwai Day Care Centre for the Elderly

ABWE Cheung Hong Baptist Church Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
ABWE Lai King Bradbury Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
ABWE Po Lam Baptist Church Bradbury Neighbourhood

Elderly Centre

Airport Authority Hong Kong

AMSS Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

ARA Asset Management (Fortune) Limited
Asia Trade Centre

Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control

Asian Outreach Hong Kong

Association of New Territories Radio Taxicabs Ltd

Au Hon Sam Charity Association

Barnabas Charitable Service Association Ltd

Buddhist Ho Wong Cheong Po Neighbourhood Elderly Centre —

Heung Hoi Ching Kok Lin Association
Build King (ZENS) Engineering Limited
Build King Holdings Limited

Candy Television Network Limited

Caritas — Hong Kong

Caritas Day Care Centre for the Elderly — West Kowloon

Caritas District Elderly Centre — Yuen Long
Caritas Elderly Centre — Aberdeen

Caritas Elderly Centre — Central District
Caritas Elderly Centre - Tung Tau

China Overseas Building Construction Limited

China State Construction Engineering (Hong Kong) Ltd

China State Machinery Limited
Ching Wah Court Estate Management Office

Christian Family Service Centre

Christian Family Service Centre Shun On District Elderly

Community Centre

Christian Family Service Centre True Light Villa District

Elderly Community Centre
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Chung Shak Hei (Cheung Chau) Home for the Aged Limited

Chung Sing Benevolent Society Fong Wong Woon Tei
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Chung Sing Benevolent Society Tan Siu Lin Neighbourhood
Elderly Centre

Chung Ying Theatre Company

Clear The Air

CLP Power Hong Kong Limited

CLUB REACH

Committee on Home-School Co-operation
Computer And Technologies International Limited
Couple Co-creation Society Limited

Culture, Leisure, Community Building and
Services Committee under Eastern District Council

D. Mondo Ltd

Ding Shun Seen Koon

Dr Daniel LEE Plastic Surgery Centre Limited
Eating Establishment Employees General Union
Entrepreneur Exchange International Ltd.

Federation of Parent Teacher Associations in Kwun Tong
District Limited

Federation of Parent Teacher Associations of Hong Kong
Eastern District

Federation of Parent Teacher Associations of Islands District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Southern District, HK
Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Kowloon City District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Association, Tai Po District
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations (Kwai Tsing District) Ltd
Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Central and
Western District Limited

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Sai Kung
District

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations of Yuen Long
District Limited

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations Sham Shui Po
District Limited
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Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations Wongtaisin

District Limited

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations, Tuen Mun

Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations, Wanchai District

Fu Hong Society

Fu Hong Society Tin Yiu Home
Fuji Department Store Limited
Fujtiec (HK) Co. Ltd.

Fuk Loi Moon Lok Yin Ngai Society
Future Lighting Collection Ltd
Gammon Construction Limited
Geotech Engineering Limited
Hang Yat Enterprises Limited
Happy Valley Athletic Association

Harbourfront Landmark Premium Services Limited

Healthy Macau Association
Hero Pass Limited

Hing Fu Engineering Company Limited

HKMEA Jane Shu Tsao Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
HKPHAB Peng Chau Neighbourhood Elderly cum Children/

Youth Centre

HKSKH Central & Western District Day Care Centre for the Elderly

HKSKH Good Shepherd Home for the Elderly

HKSKH Lady MaclLehose Centre Dr Lam Chik Suen District Elderly

Community Centre

HKSKH Lok Wah Day Care Centre for the Elderly

HKSKH St Matthew's Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

HKSKH Tai Wo Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

HKSKH Wong Tai Sin Integrated Home Care Services Team

HKU Youth Quitline

Home Care for Girls

Hong Chi Pinehill Integrated Vocational Training Centre

Hong Kong Aided Primary School Heads Association

Hong Kong Alliance of Patients' Organization Limited

Hong Kong Anti-Cancer Society
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Hong Kong Association of Gerontology

Hong Kong Christian Service Family Ties Integrated Family
Service Centre

Hong Kong Christian Service Shek Lei Small Group Homes

Hong Kong Committee for United Nations International Children's

Emergency Fund

Hong Kong Construction Industry Employees General Union
Hong Kong Dental Association

Hong Kong Doctors Union

Hong Kong General Building Contractors Association

Hong Kong Green Nature Union (HKGNU)

Hong Kong Housing Society Elderly Resources Centre

Hong Kong Institute of Construction (Sheung Shui Campus)
Hong Kong Island School Heads Association

Hong Kong Island Women's Association

Hong Kong Juvenile Care Centre

Hong Kong Juvenile Care Centre Bradbury Hostel

Hong Kong Nutritionists Society

Hong Kong Outlying Islands Women's Association

Hong Kong Patients' Voices

Hong Kong Playground Association

Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui Welfare Council

Hong Kong Society for the Deaf Tseung Kwan O Multi-services
Centre

Hong Kong Southern District Women's Association
Hong Kong Subsidized Secondary Schools Council
Hong Kong Taoist Association

Hong Kong Taoist Shun Shin Tan

Hong Kong Women Foundation Ltd Ho Kwok Pui-chun
Social Centre for the Elderly

Hong Kong Young Women's Christian Association Cheung Ching

Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Hop Shing Household Product Ltd

Hsin Chong Construction Group Limited
| Wellness (HK) Ltd
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ERREEEVEREE Incorporated Owners of Chermain Heights
HEaee Institution of Dining Art

International Church of the Foursquare Gospel Kin Sang

R RS RS E L
RRmTRERREZEFT L Church Elderly Centre

HEEmM RS gRETE International Church of the Foursquare Gospel Lung Hang Church
RNEEIRAR AR - EEE International Property Management Limited — Baguio Villa
SEERAR AR - FEEH International Property Management Limited — Dragon Pride
BESREMTRRERSHEIENE Islands Healthy City and Age-friendly Community Working Group
EHEEEMERAT Ka Shing Management Consultant Limited
BB EIEREER AR - ¥ RES Kai Shing Management Services Limited — Grand Central Plaza
R BRI ER A A - HomeSquare Kai Shing Management Services Limited — HomeSquare
KeePer 1 T J& KeePer PROSHOP
BEEREERRAT Kent's Construction & Engineering Company
BB REER AR KKP Construction Limited

EMERALESRESAR AT Kowloon City District Recreation and Sports Council Limited

MR RIS Kowloon Region School Heads Association
MR Kwai Chung Hospital
ZEREHERRERRTHE Kwai Tsing Safe Community and Healthy City Association
BEEERATEELES Kwun Tong Healthy City Steering Committee
YEARIEERAA Lap Kei Engineering (Holdings) Limited
FFERBEMSZE Lee Chi-wing District Councilor Office
HERH B EEETE Life Education Activity Programme
CREEEEARAR Link Asset Management Limited
B= T DEIEWE LK Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Home for the Elderly
=1/ NS S A ET Lok Sin Tong Yang Xiao Ling Speech Therapy Centre
BERKE Lung Fung Café
M3 KRB M3 Storage
EEREEBHLAERAT] Man Hong Medical Clinic Limited
BEZEMN RGO GRFES Methodist Epworth Village Community Centre, Social Welfare
AR IRESEESS Mong Kok District Cultural Recreational & Sports Association

0T AT R @ IS Mongkok Kai-Fong Association Limited Chan Hing

Social Service Centre

REREEFR Monte Carlton Management Office
HEEEDHRIBIRE RS O NAAC Tung Chung Integrated Services Centre
(= EDER) (Discovery Bay Sub-office)
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Nan Fung Commercial Centre

Nan Fung Group — Hon Hing Enterprises Limited
(Fook Hong Industrial Building)

Nan Fung Group - Hon Hing Enterprises Limited (Lever Building)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited (Florient Rise)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited
(San Po Kong Plaza)

Nan Fung Group — Main Shine Development Limited
(Wah Fung Garden)

Nan Fung Group - Vineberg Property Management Limited
(Peaceful Mansion)

Nan Fung Property Management — Bolang Court

Nan Fung Property Management — Bolang Court Phase |l

Nan Fung Property Management — Fook Tin Building

Nan Fung Property Management — Nan Fung Commercial Centre
Nan Fung Property Management — Ricky Center

Nan Fung Property Management — Tai Fung Industrial Building
Nan Fung Property Management — Treasure Center

Nan Fung Property Management — Wang Yip Industrial Building
Nan Fung Property Management — Wayne Place

Nan Fung Property Management — Wing Hing Industrial Building

HARELEL (—htE=)BRAR New Lantao Bus Co,, (1973) Ltd.
EFEBYHESRAXEEREMESH L New Life Church of Christ Ho Man Tin Centre For the Elderly

New Life Psychiatric Rehabilitation Association Tuen Mun

B REES LM RIEER
Long Stay Care Home

HAREZ New Territories School Heads Association
FIRNLTEEERAT New Territories Taxi Merchants Association Limited

New Territories West Elder Academies Cluster

v R E S5 H
MAmmEN et g RGE - HREE

New Territories Women & Juveniles Welfare Association Social

=g =a T Services Division Limited — Pak U Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
SR EEBR AT New World Construction Company Limited

bl e 2 R T T /MR
8 =s Gl
tREEFeRRAR
BXRLZ2RER

North District Council Working Group on Healthy City
North District Federation of Parent-Teacher Associations
North District Sports Association Ltd

Occupational Safety & Health Council
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Ocean Park Corporation
Operation Dawn Ltd

Organizing Committee, Yau Tsim Mong Federation of Parent-
Teacher Associations

Our Lady of Maryknoll Hospital
Pak Sha Wan Correctional Institution
Paul Y Engineering Group Limited

Pentecostal Church of HK Good Neighbour Family Centre
(On Tat Estate)

Pentecostal Church of HK Sau Mau Ping Good Neighbour
Family Centre

Photo GIFT (HK) Ltd
Po Leung Kuk
Po Leung Kuk Lo Yau Yuk Sheung Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Po Leung Kuk Sai Ying Pun Home for the Elderly cum Day Care
Centre for the Elderly

Po Leung Kuk Wong Yau Cheung Memorial Neighbourhood
Elderly Centre

Pok Oi Hospital

Pok Oi Hospital — The Chinese University of Hong Kong Chinese
Medicine Centre for Training and Research (Sha Tin)

Pok Oi Hospital Chinese Medicine Mobile Vehicle —Team A, B, D &
Acupuncture Centre

Pok Oi Hospital Community Health Centre
Pok Oi Hospital Jockey Club Hostel for Single Persons

Pok Oi Hospital Mrs Chu Kwok King Memorial Kindergarten/Day
Nursery

Pok Oi Hospital Wong Muk Fung Memorial Elderly Health Support
and Learning Centre

Psychiatric Day Hospital (Yung Fung Shee Memorial Centre)
Quit-Winners Club

Rhythm Garden Lutheran Centre for the Elderly

SAGE Chai Wan District Elderly Community Centre

Sai Cho Wan Centre for the Elderly

Savills Property Management Limited — Queensway Plaza

Semk Products Limited
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Sha Tin Sports Association Limited

Shan King Integrated Children and Youth Services Centre of
Seventh-day Adventists

Shatin Rhenish Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Shatin Women's Association

Sheng Kung Hui Lok Wah Day Care Centre for the Elderly
Shine Skills Centre (Kwun Tong)

Shine Skills Centre (Tuen Mun)

Sik Sik Yuen

Sik Sik Yuen Ho Koon Nature Education cum Astronomical Centre
Sik Sik Yuen Ho Ping Neighbourhood Centre for Senior Citizens
Sino Estates Management Limited — Tsim Sha Tsui Centre
Smart Fair Limited

Smoking Abstention and Good Health Association

Smoking Cessation Project for Ethnic Minorities and New
Immigrants, United Christian Nethersole Community Health
Service

Social Services & Healthy and Safe City Committee, SKDC

Southern District Healthy and Safe Association
St James' Settlement
Stage Catering Services Limited

Steering Committee on Healthy City in the Central and
Western District

Strategic Public Relations Group Limited
Subsidized Primary Schools Council
Summit Terrace

Support Service Centre for Ethnic Minorities, Lok Sin Tong
Lee Yin Yee United Centre

Synergis Management Services Limited — Gold King
Industrial Building

Tai Po District Residents Association
Tai Po Safe and Healthy City

Tai Po Sports Association

Tai Po Youths Association

Tai Wo Motors Ltd

The "Star" Ferry Company, Limited
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The Association for Hong Kong Catering Services

Management Ltd

The Boys'and Girls' Clubs Association of Hong Kong

The Church of United Brethren in Christ, Social Service Division

The Committee of International Million Trees ( Forest ) Project
and Network (with the Billion Trees Campaign, and the "plant-
for-the-planet" program) under UNEP — Hong Kong Region, The
International Committee for Affairs of Reforestation Education
(I CARE), The Hima Foundation HK sub-unit, The Plant For The
Planet Foundation Hong Kong, under the framework of United

Nations Environment Program

The Endeavourers HK Bert James Young Neighbourhood

Elderly Centre

The Federation of Medical Societies of Hong Kong

The Federation of Tsuen Wan District Sports and Recreation

Association Limited

The Hong Kong Association of Property Management Companies

The Hong Kong Association of the Heads of Secondary Schools

The Hong Kong Exporters' Association

The Hong Kong Institute of Architects

The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

The Hong Kong Jockey Club

The Hong Kong Medical Association

The Hong Kong Schools Sports Federation

The Hong Kong Society for Surgery of the Hand

The Hong Kong Society for the Blind

The Hong Kong Tuberculosis Association — The University of

Hong Kong Clinical Centre for Teaching and Research in Chinese

Medicine (Aberdeen)

The Hong Kong Tuberculosis Association Chinese Medicine Clinic

cum Training Centre of The University of Hong Kong

The Joint Council of Parent-Teacher Associations of the Shatin

District Limited
The Kowloon Motor Bus Co. (1933) Ltd

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon

The Lok Sin Tong Benevolent Society, Kowloon, Chinese Medicine

Mobile Clinic
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The Neighbourhood Advice-Action Council

The Neighbourhood Advice-Action Council Tin Shui
Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

The New Voice Club of Hong Kong

The Pharmaceutical Society of Hong Kong

The Plant For The Planet Foundation Hong Kong
The Reach Management Limited

The Salvation Army Kowloon Central Corps

The Salvation Army Kwun Tong and Sai Kung Integrated Home
Care Service Team

The Salvation Army Po Lam Residence for Senior Citizens
The Salvation Army Tai Po Day Care Centre for Senior Citizens
The Society for the Aid and Rehabilitation of Drug Abusers
The Society of Hospital Pharmacists of Hong Kong

The Yuen Yuen Institute — Fanling Social Service Centre

The Yuen Yuen Institute Jockey Club Kwun Tong Social
Service Centre

The Yuen Yuen Institute Social Service Unit

The Yuen Yuen Institute Tsuen Wan West Neighbourhood
Elderly Centre

Tin Shui Wai Women Association Limited

Tsuen Wan District Parent Teacher Association Federation Limited
Tsuen Wan Safe and Healthy Community Steering Committee
TTMHK Jubilee Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

Tuen Mun Hospital Stoma Group

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Healthy Budgeting Family Debt
Counselling Centre

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Integrated Centre on
Smoking Cessation

Tung Wah Group of Hospitals Jockey Club Tin Shui Wai Integrated
Services Centre

TWGHs Fong Shiu Yee Neighbourhood Elderly Centre
TWGHs Lo Wong Yuk Man Nursing Home cum Day Care Centre
TWGHs Wilson T S Wang District Elderly Community Centre

Union Hospital
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EEHEA BT ELRRE United Christian Nethersole Community Health Service
EWYEEEERAR] Urban Property Management Limited
%Lﬁ%%ﬁf@ﬁﬁﬁ“ SR EER Urban Property Management Limited - Ka Lung Court (EMO)
ERMEERBR AR - ELTEE Urban Property Management Limited - Lung Fung Garden
EWMMEE I@ﬁﬁEA ET - H1E 26-36 5% Urban Property Management Limited - Management Office at
EXR Black's Link 26-36

ERMEERBR AR - M 1E62-705% Urban Property Management Limited — Management Office at
BXRE Black's Link 62-70

EHMEEEBRAR -BFEAE Urban Property Management Limited — Manning House
EBERMEEEREBRARF - HHRKNE Urban Property Management Limited — New World Tower
BEHMEEEER AR - MEAEES-105%  Urban Property Management Limited — No 8-10 Caldecott Road
ENMEEEBR AT - EEMN Urban Property Management Limited — Po Lai Court
BWEESIEBRE AR - HEP Urban Property Management Limited — Pok Hong Estate

EUYEREEBROA - BEES
BRMEEEBR AR - EES

EUMEEEARLR - RERPLERE

[

E Urban Property Management Limited — Ronsdale Garden
E

]

Urban Property Management Limited — Scholastic Garden

Urban Property Management Limited — Technology Plaza

Management Office

BRBNEFR EﬁiEEHﬁﬁQﬁﬁE@ﬁ Wai Yik HK & KIn & NT Taxi Owners Association Ltd
%J—%‘;‘ RIERBERA Waihong Environmental Services Limited
BYBEREARA Wanchai Sports Federation Limited
%ﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ% ET -ac Whampao Property Management Limited - ac
HEMEEEARAR - 280 Whampoa Property Management Limited — Cameron House
HHEMEEEAR AR - 2858 08 Whampoa Property Management Limited — 28 Barker Road
TR [RFT Wheel For Oneness
FHREE S FEKIS e REE Windshield Charitable Foundation Sham Shui Po Social Services
e EE ST SRR Windshield Charitable Foundation Social Services
7 2z AR TS B Women Service Association
‘AR EREZ 2T Wong Tai Sin District Healthy & Safe City
BAEEEESS Wong Tai Sin District Recreation and Sports Council
FEALERBREREZES Wong Tai Sin District School Liaison Committee

A g b Yan Chai Hospital
CEEBRARA Yan Oi Tong Limited
BRREBR AR Yau Lee Construction Company Limited
SHSSFE A [ A 4% T ED 7 Yau Tsim Mong Community Network New Dynamics
THARBEEETIHEERAR] Yuen Long District Healthy City Association Limited
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Yuen Long District Sports Association
Yuen Yuen Care & Attention Home for The Aged
Yuen Yuen Home for the Aged

Yuen Yuen Nursing Home cum Day Care Centre for the Elderly
(Lei Muk Shue Estate)

Yuen Yuen Nursing Home cum Day Care Centre for the Elderly
(Shun Lee Estate)

Yuen Yuen V-Learn Women Centre

BR - FREEREBDEH L Schools, Uniform Groups and Youth Centres
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Aberdeen St Peter's Catholic Primary School
AD & FD Pok Oi Hospital Limited Leung Sing Tak College

AD & FD Pok Oi Hospital Mrs Cheng Yam On
Millennium School

Agnes Kindergarten (Grandeur Terrace)
Aldrich Bay Government Primary School

Audio Visual Services Unit,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Auxiliary Medical Service

Baptist (Sha Tin Wai) Lui Ming Choi Primary School
Baptist Church Shining Grace Kindergarten
Baptist Lui Ming Choi Secondary School

Baptist Rainbow Primary School

Bishop Ford Memorial School

Bishop Hall Jubilee School

Bonham Road Government Primary School
Buddhist Chung Wah Kornhill Primary School
Buddhist Lam Bing Yim Memorial School
Buddhist Lim Kim Tian Memorial Primary School
Buddhist Sum Heung Lam Memorial College
Buddhist Tai Hung College

Buddhist Tai Kwong Chi Hong College
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RREMEREE RS Caritas Fanling Chan Chun Ha Secondary School
AEHRILFRE Caritas Ma On Shan Secondary School

A =N Carmel Alison Lam Primary School
MEEERELSPE Carmel Bunnan Tong Memorial Secondary School
M2 Carmel Secondary School
REEEHEETHE CCC Chuen Yuen College
REABHGTHENNE CCC Chun Kwong Primary School
REABHSRNE —HHER CCC Fuk Yau No 2 Kindergarten
FEAEBHSERE L P E CCC Fung Leung Kit Memorial Secondary School
REEEHHANE (RDE) CCC Heep Woh Primary School (Cheung Sha Wan)
REEEYIMRE/ NS CCC Hoh Fuk Tong Primary School
REABHGERTE CCC Kei Heep Secondary School
REEEHSLEEBEHHNHER CCC Mongkok Church Jeannette Kindergarten
PEEEHEOR/NE CCC Tai O Primary School
REREEHEETERE/NE CCC Wanchai Church Kei To Primary School
RERBHE ST EREE/NE (NEW) CCC Wanchai Church Kei To Primary School (Kowloon City)

Centre for University & School Partnership,

EBHXABRBESEL 0 | oY ¥

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

e Chai Wan Baptist Church Pre-School Education Lui Ming Choi

LR EGRARE L B D . g °
Kindergarten

SEmREHNE Chai Wan Kok Catholic Primary School
BRImAEL (R ) NE Chan Sui Ki (La Salle) Primary School

. . y N Centre for China Studies,
BB XREREITH O

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

RINEDLER Cheung Chau Sacred Heart School

BEeERSHEER Cheung Ching Lutheran Day Nursery

HHEERE Chi Lin Buddhist Secondary School

PEEZSEET L China Holiness Church Living Spirit College

REER China Holiness College

5FgEhk Chinese YMCA College

BB N2 Chiu Yang Primary School of Hong Kong

BEEREE R College of Nursing, Hong Kong

SRR LB E BT Chong Gene Hang College

FEGHR s PE Christian Alliance Cheng Wing Gee College
EEESRmS LTS Christian Alliance S C Chan Memorial College
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Chun Tok School

Chung Sing School

CNEC Christian College

Cognitio College (Kowloon)

Confucian Tai Shing Ho Kwok Pui Chun College
Cotton Spinners Association Secondary School
CUHKFAA Thomas Cheung School

CUHKFAA Thomas Cheung Secondary School
Daughters of Mary Help of Christians Siu Ming Catholic
Secondary School

Delia Memorial School (Broadway)

Department of Chinese Language & Literature,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong
Department of Economics,

The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Department of English, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Department of Geography & Resource Management,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Department of Information Engineering,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Department of Sociology,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Department of Sports Science and Physical Education,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Diocesan Girls' Junior School

Dr Catherine F Woo Memorial School
ELCHK Hing Wah Nursery School
ELCHK Wo Che Lutheran School
Emmanuel Primary School, Kowloon

Entrepreneurship and Innovation Minor Programme,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong
Fanling Lutheran Secondary School

Father Cucchiara Memorial School

FDBWA Cheung Chuk Shan Kindergarten

FDBWA Szeto Ho Secondary School

Finance Office, The Chinese University of Hong Kong



Fft$% Appendices

BEgOEEASRE S FMB Chun Lei Primary School

BRI 2 LR Fok Loy Estate Kam Chuen Kindergarten

CESLEINRVIGES Fuk Wing Street Government Primary School

BEFE dLA) Fukien Secondary School (North Point)
BURBEEERL SR Fung Kai Liu Yun Sum Memorial School

REIMAgRERNE GCCITKD Cheong Wong Wai Primary School

Gender Studies Programme,

7% B A B BT SRR
BERXABLAHTRE The Chinese University of Hong Kong

AR Grace Christian Academy

ERENE/ N2 Heep Yunn Primary School

HEFHEE /N2 (R#E) Hennessy Road Government Primary School (Causeway Bay)
BERA SR E Heung To Secondary School (Tseung Kwan O)
HEEEEHHAEEBELER HHCKLA Buddhist Ching Kok Lin Association School

HHCKLA Buddhist Ma Kam Chan Memorial English
Secondary School

BELEELHHEHRL AR E

FIRER Hing Tak School
EENEHTASHERTER HK Sze Yap C&IA San Wui Commercial Society School
BERRTEGRBEMBERTIREFR NS HKBUAS Wong Kam Fai Secondary and Primary School
BERERNERBNRER HKSKH Tung Chung Nursery School
BB TBENFE HKTA Ching Chung Secondary School
EREH S STRIENHEER HKTA Fei Ngan Kindergarten
AEABHEESRBEL ST E HKTA Tang Hin Memorial Secondary School
E A e ] 2 R S S HKTAThe Yuen Yuen Institute Chan Lui Chung Tak
Memorial School
BAEBEH A B ZBhE 2 HKTA The Yuen Yuen Institute No 1 Secondary School
BEBEH AR ZBRhE_FE HKTA The Yuen Yuen Institute No 2 Secondary School
ERBHEESERREBNLSER HKTA Wun Tsuen Ng Lai Wo Memorial School
EREHH S S B ZHHER HKTA Yuen Yuen Kindergarten
EHEHEA B ZNER (BEM) HKTA Yuen Yuen Kindergarten (Fu Shin Estate)
BABHEEGE Z MR (FHIE) HKTA Yuen Yuen Kindergarten (Ping Tin Estate)
ERBEHE S B ZNHER (RIRTT) HKTA Yuen Yuen Kindergarten (Tin Yat Estate)
BEBH S 2B ZhMEE (FRSET) HKTA Yuen Yuen Kindergarten (Tung Tau Estate)
BB R ZERAE A/ N2 HKTA YYI Shek Wai Kok Primary School
EBKNEBHEBER (NERSR) HKU SPACE Community College (Kowloon East Campus)
EER T EHHER Ho Ching Kindergarten (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)
LR EAE Ho Fung College (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)
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BEBEIMAILRE
BEET AR
BEETHAINE
BEE T A HER
SEETHAIETE
BERTRAIEHHEER
BEET AR HER
HEETRAEER

BERTRAIRHHER ARSI

BERTRACHEER

BeE T ETRERE NS

BHEHE L/ NE
TR T E 2R
IR e 2

BE= LR
BRERG/NE
BRBEEERE
BEHREEHE/ N2

B O ERIZ0
EREREERS
FAEERE KN ER
BRATTEHBE@FR D
BERAYTERBEERE
EBBLBREH L EE
BEEE IR E b

BRRXKREE MRS

FHRRBZLSHHEER

FREZ G HEE

EZUER M /NE

EHREEBERTHNE

RIRTKPER (FBFT)
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REBR
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Ho Lap College (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Lap Kindergarten (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Lap Primary School (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)
Ho Ming Primary School (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)
Ho Ngai College (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Oi Day Nursery (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Shui Kindergarten (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)
Ho Shun Primary School (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Tak Kindergarten and Ho Tak Child Care Centre
(Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Yan Kindergarten (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Ho Yu College and Primary School (Sponsored by Sik Sik Yuen)

Hoi Pa Street Government Primary School

Hoi Ping Chamber of Commerce Primary School

Hoi Ping Chamber of Commerce Secondary School

Holy Trinity Centre Kindergarten

Hong Kong & Macau Lutheran Church Primary School
Hong Kong Academy of Medicine

Hong Kong Baptist Convention Primary School

Hong Kong College of Cardiology

Hong Kong Girl Guides Association

Hong Kong Pentecostal Holiness Church

Wing Kwong College

Hong Kong Red Cross John F Kennedy Centre

Hong Kong Red Swastika Society Tai Po Secondary School
Hong Kong St John Ambulance Brigade Youth Command
Hong Kong Tang King Po College

Information Technology Services Centre,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Islamic Abu Bakar Chui Memorial Kindergarten
Jade Kindergarten

Jordan Road Government Primary School
Jordan Valley St Joseph's Catholic Primary School
Ju Ching Chu Secondary School (Tuen Mun)
Junior Police Call

Kam Tin Mung Yeung Public School
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b2/ If7GE ++Y£jﬁ’§ (FEFIE D) Karlam Anglo-Chinese Kindergarten (Qasis Garden)
B =P Kau Yan College

BEe @Ei)ﬁ’%. Kin Sang Lutheran Kindergarten

HEER King's College

Kowloon City Baptist Church Hay Nien (Yan Ping)
Primary School

NEWRESESF (BF)/NE

NBEEREHEEER Kowloon Tong Bishop Walsh Catholic School
JUBEYE L (R &) Kowloon Tong School (Secondary Section)
B REZ/R Kwok Man School
EWRze rmBEEHER Kwong Lam Baptist Lui Kwok Pat Fong Kindergarten
AR Kwong Ming School
BIEEL/NE Kwun Tong Government Primary School
M A ERELSEBR Lam Tsuen Public Wong Fook Luen Memorial School
FRBELEF %3 Lee Kau Yan Memorial School
ENCE YNl Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong
TRNE Li Sing Primary School
BrEERigEpE Ling Liang Church M H Lau Secondary School
REHESER Ling To Catholic Primary School
EEERAFEIER Lingnan Dr Chung Wing Kwong Memorial Secondary School
LN Lingnan University
mrethe Lions College
N o B S A R Little Newton Anglo-Chinese Kindergarten and
International Preschool
ﬁﬁj‘glﬁ EREEE/ NS LKWFSL Wong Yiu Nam Primary School

REXBNER Lok Sin Tong Cheung Yip Mou Ching Kindergarten
X E Lok Sin Tong Ku Chiu Man Secondary School
BB MR Lok Sin Tong Ku Lee Kwok Sin Kindergarten
DIEER Lok Sin Tong Lau Tak Primary School

FERHEE Lok Sin Tong Lee Yin Yee Kindergarten
RERLSFE Lok Sin Tong Leung Chik Wai Memorial School
RERIEERT Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui College

%ﬁ'ﬂ%ﬁﬁ‘x Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School

Lok Sin Tong Leung Kau Kui Primary School (Branch)

AR OHE R R AR R R R %ﬁ
He

O Dffc TW DM DMt Dt DMt DO O o Df
Hﬂ]E fok  Hak Hﬂ]E Hﬂ]E HQ]E fdk  Hak Hﬂ]E Hﬂ} Hﬂ]E

ol
\52?
5
r:
%F
i‘F

2] %%%’ E/z\:%i I Lok Sin Tong Leung Wong Wai Fong Memorial School
g X R hHEE Lok Sin Tong Man Ng Wing Yee Kindergarten
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REZNE Lok Sin Tong Primary School

REZ RV HHE Lok Sin Tong Stephen Leung Kindergarten

B TR ERNMEE Lok Sin Tong Tang Tak Lim Kindergarten

BEZT TP B Lok Sin Tong Wong Chung Ming Secondary School
HEEHIMEAER Lok Sin Tong Yeung Chung Ming Primary School
BEEGE/|\WMPE Lok Sin Tong Young Ko Hsiao Lin Secondary School
REDROPPE Lok Sin Tong Yu Kan Hing Secondary School
BEEaELER Lui Cheung Kwong Lutheran Kindergarten
EReaRAThE Lui Ming Choi Lutheran College

EEEIERVAEE- Lung Cheung Government Secondary School
BEEEEgHNERERNTER Lutheran Philip House Ma Tau Wai Nursery School
ETEN=~ Man Kiu Association Primary School

KGN Mary of Providence Primary School

ISR AR EBR (/NEEL) Maryknoll Fathers' School (Primary Section)
wmrS/ 2 Marymount Primary School

EHEDHEE May Nga Kindergarten

EHDHE (D) May Nga Kindergarten (Branch)
BEEBHELHH/KRFE (RE) iR MCC Little Angel (Tin Shing) Kindergarten
HiRPREES %ﬁ%ﬁﬁ”ﬁﬁﬁﬁqﬂ £ MKMCF Ma Chan Duen Hey Memorial College
BEEPNAREBREES] Morningside College, The Chinese University of Hong Kong
RHAENER Mu Kuang English School

REER/NE Munsang College Primary School

BRI EBH R ER New Asia College, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

HMNBER L RN R E

REHFHRER

REFRBFRSHRBLIEN

New Kowloon Women Association Sun Chui Nursery
Newman Catholic College

Ng Clan's Association Tai Pak Memorial School

REHMERS Ng Wah Catholic Secondary School

/N~ Ning Po College

tAENNE (EFE) North Point Government Primary School (Cloud View Road)
bAERENHER North Point Methodist Church Kindergarten
tAFEENE North Point Methodist Primary School

EERSI1= 7NN Northern Lamma School

REEEGHRER Notre Dame College

SR EB TR E NT Heung Yee Kuk Yuen Long District Secondary School
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S 59 2 T i 5 e s B N‘TWomen. and Juveniles Welfare Association Limited Leung
Sing Tak Primary School

BEPXABRMRRRE ?Ffzcgh?;:scjien:?/z:rsl_ilt;k;‘ Hong Kong

ERWIRER Our Lady of The Rosary College

EREEENHER (RKE) Peace Evangelical Centre Kindergarten (Tin Shui Wai)

h a2 Pentecostal School

REHERPZ Po Chiu Catholic Secondary School

REBRBCHE Po Leung Kuk CW Chu College

REBKREENE Po Leung Kuk Chee Jing Yin Primary School

RERETE IR HEE Po Leung Kuk Choi Koon Shum Kindergarten

REBATHE/NE Po Leung Kuk Fong Wong Kam Chuen Primary School

REBSELSNE Po Leung Kuk Fung Ching Memorial Primary School

BB BB 5 S BT Po Leung Kuk Gold & Silver Exchange Society Pershing Tsang
School

REBEEEHE Po Leung Kuk Lee Shing Pik College

REBEHRAHE Po Leung Kuk Ma Kam Ming College

RE BFRMEE R AL RBR Po Leung Kuk Madam Chan Wai Chow Memorial School

REBRBRIEEKER Po Leung Kuk Mr & Mrs Chan Pak Keung Tsing Yi School

REBASENE Po Leung Kuk Stanley Ho Sau Nan Primary School

REBEREHHEE Po Leung Kuk Vicwood KT Chong Kindergarten

REBEKE/ B Po Leung Kuk Wong Wing Shu Primary School

BT R ERNE Po On Commercial Association Wan Ho Kan Primary School

BEBRREL P E Pok Oi Hospital Chan Kai Memorial College

el Pui Ying Secondary School

ECEfehE Queen's College Old Boys' Association Secondary School

BmHER DK Regent's Kindergarten (Branch School)

HOR B (P EE) Rosaryhill School (Secondary Section)

AEFLELRLESER Sai Kung Central Lee Siu Yam Memorial School

Eairp & Saint Louis School

BERBRRER Saint Too Sear Rogers International School

HHE NP S Salvation Army William Booth Secondary School

FHNE Sau Ming Primary School

BB RGRNBEES School of Communication, Hong Kong Baptist University

School of Journalism and Communication,

= 7 ok 2 3 S B R B2
BB XA MEREE The Chinese University of Hong Kong
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EEABERNERR

BRI KEETREERT

S e S £F EEINE

School of Nursing, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,
The University of Hong Kong

School of Nursing, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
School of Public Health, Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine,

The University of Hong Kong

WHEMNE Shatin Government Primary School
WHEEEIENE Shatin Methodist Primary School
YOS T £ Shatin Pui Ying College

BB R IER
2 saeey

EERRPHEER

=2 1 & B E B &S
Efﬂl%%\/ngﬁi

Shek Wu Hui Public School
Shin Yat Tong On Yat Kindergarten
SiYuan School of the Precious Blood

SKH Bishop Baker Secondary School

YN JEESS e SKH Bishop Mok Sau Tseng Secondary School
SNyl SKH Chu Qi Primary School
BEReFETENE SKH Fung Kei Millennium Primary School
EEYN--=2 = SKH Fung Kei Primary School
BERNSHE/NE SKH Good Shepherd Primary School
BENSEFEHRE SKH Holy Carpenter Secondary School
BENSEAZ/NE SKH Holy Cross Primary School
BERgxE/NZ SKH Holy Spirit Primary School
BENERE/NE SKH Ling Oi Primary School
ENGERERE SKH St Benedict's School
ENSEHS/)NE SKH St James' Primary School

o=

ERgBEXPE=/NE

MBI/

MY EHEBGRAEFT —SLEIBR

SKH Tsing Yi Estate Ho Chak Wan Primary School
South Yuen Long Government Primary School
SRBCEPSA Lee Yat Ngok Memorial School

BLLEER St Anthony's School

Erg /N2 St Antonius Primary School

BEXERFHNE St Bonaventure Catholic Primary School
EREDHER - ) TE (K1) St Hilary's Kindergarten « Nursery (Hung Hom)
BREDHER - HRE (KF) St Hilary's Kindergarten « Nursery (Prince Edward)

PHREEHEERENHER
ERSREEHET L (BEHS)
REHBEEEHEDER
EEBRIHNE

HeBAHHEE (TTEA)

St James' Settlement Kathleen McDouall Kindergarten /
St James' Settlement Child Care Centre (Kennedy Road)

St Jerome's Catholic Kindergarten
St John The Baptist Catholic Primary School

St Lorraine Kindergarten (Yuen Long)
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BRAEHT AR B (/NEAEE) St Louis School (Primary Section)

B9 T fj1 ) B8 2 By ch /o B St Margaret's Co-educational English Secondary and Primary
School

S EIBE N ER St Mary's Canossian College

PR Eme B B KER (KK St Matthew's Lutheran School (Sau Mau Ping)

BN SR BN HEE] St Monica's Anglo-Chinese Kindergarten

KEHEBREHZE (KE) St Paul's Catholic Day Nursery (Tai Wai)

BRESH/NE St Paul's College Primary School

EriERERE St Stephen's Church College

EriRRERKBNE St Stephen's College Preparatory School

R e St Teresa Secondary School

BZFEHHE St Thomas' Church Kindergarten

[IER it s S == STFA Wu Siu Kui Memorial Primary School

BAHER Sun Fong Shung College

NN Tai Koo Primary School

NHREEAILER Tai Po Baptist Public School

REHKIBHHEER Tai Po Catholic Kindergarten

ANHEEM/NE Tai Po Government Primary School

KRB REE R Tai Po Methodist School

RNIBFER A ER (BHE) Tai Po Old Market Public School (Plover Cove)

B ch e ngoigzre;:CMhzr;rfacturers' Association of Hong Kong

EN LN The Chinese University of Hong Kong

BB EE B The College of Surgeons of Hong Kong

BB EEERE The Hong Kong Academy of Nursing Limited

ot A RS B ;fcw:dl—lec;:wj Kong Chinese Christian Churches Union Logos

EEPRELZEHER The Hong Kong Chinese Women's Club Kindergarten

BBIRERSMR The Hong Kong College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

EERXARBBEGESERAAFEREE The Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care,

B2 Faculty of Medicine, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

The Nethersole School of Nursing, Faculty of Medicine,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

BEBEKRE The University of Hong Kong

The Yuen Yuen Institute MFBM Nei Ming

Chan Lui Chung Tak Memorial College

BEPXKEE S AT REIE S0

B Z2RYAFARRBERL T E
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SERALE

BEERPE (NE)

e EE|||rhE2
PEERRFHNE
1R E /) &
SREEHHEERE
BEREg/NE
EEXTHNE
ZEFNEER
RENBEHHEE
BENENERFHNE
RBAREHER
RE=ProREARH 2
RE=IFIKRPE
RE=[ZHALST L
RE=[ZHx/NB
RE=IrBERELSHHER
RE=fra B LT
REE =P EPE5 R LB 22
RE=I T RKZLSNE
BB RBEZENGRERN T E
BEALBER B LR AIE NS
CEBRRRE NE

CEEhH G/ N2

CBERETENE

CEBRERRHMER 520
Cmabe T T HER,4h 520
CEBER A/ N2

BB R SR, 2h 520

Cm b 28 FRRINHER,2h 50

Tin Ka Ping Secondary School

True Light Middle School of Hong Kong (Primary Section)

Tsang Pik Shan Secondary School

Tseung Kwan O Catholic Primary School

Tseung Kwan O Government Primary School
Tsing YiTrade Association Kindergarten

Tsing YiTrade Association Primary School

Tsuen Wan Catholic Primary School

Tsuen Wan Trade Association Primary School
Tsung Tsin Primary School and Kindergarten

Tsz Wan Shan St Bonaventure Catholic Primary School
Tung Chung Catholic School

TWGHs Chang Ming Thien College

TWGHSs Chen Zao Men College

TWGHSs Lee Ching Dea Memorial College

TWGH:s Li Chi Ho Primary School

TWGH:s Liu Yan Tak Memorial Kindergarten
TWGHs Lui Yun Choy Memorial College

TWGHs Mr & Mrs Kwong Sik Kwan College
TWGHs Wong Yee Jar Jat Memorial Primary School
WWC(ED) HK Lai Kwai Tim Day Nursery
Xianggang Putonghua Yanxishe Primary School
Yan Chai Hospital Chan lu Seng Primary School
Yan Chai Hospital Chiu Tsang Hok Wan Primary School
Yan Chai Hospital Choi Hin To Primary School

Yan Chai Hospital Choi Pat Tai Kindergarten/Child Care Centre

Yan Chai Hospital Fong Kong Fai Kindergarten/
Child Care Centre

Yan Chai Hospital Ho Sik Nam Primary School
Yan Chai Hospital Ju Ching Chu Kindergarten/
Child Care Centre

Yan Chai Hospital Kwok Chi Leung Kindergarten/
Child Care Centre

Yan Chai Hospital Lan Chi Pat Memorial Secondary School

Yan Chai Hospital Law Chan Chor Si College
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Yan Chai Hospital Law Chan Chor Si Primary School

Yan Chai Hospital Lim Por Yen Secondary School

Yan Chai Hospital Ming Tak Kindergarten
Yan Chai Hospital Nina Lam Kindergarten
Yan Chai Hospital No 2 Secondary School

Yan Chai Hospital Shan King Kindergarten/Child Care Centre

CEBRECREPE
T ERRNHER, 27 H 0

(BB KR DR, 4D A

(T ERpy TR &

CEBRRE DR, R0
— BB B iR T4

CEERNEREL MR R H 0

Yan Chai Hospital Tung Chi Ying Memorial Secondary School

Yan Chai Hospital Tung Pak Ying Kindergarten/
Child Care Centre

Yan Chai Hospital Wing Lung Kindergarten/Child Care Centre
Yan Chai Hospital Wong Wha San Secondary School

Yan Chai Hospital Yau Oi Kindergarten

Yan Chai Hospital Yim Tsui Yuk Shan Kindergarten

Yan Chai Hospital Zonta Club of Kowloon Kindergarten/
Child Care Centre

Yan Oi Tong Chan Wong Suk Fong Memorial

CEERENTLP S
Secondary School

CEEZ2HRANE
SRR E N (B8

Yan Oi Tong Madam Lau Wong Fat Primary School
Yaumati Catholic Primary School (Hoi Wang Road)

HEENE Ying Wa Primary School

BRZEEHHEER Yiu Tung Baptist Kindergarten
FEAEHSTTHERE X DHER Yuen Long Church (CCC) Chan Kwong Kindergarten
TLRABR SN Yuen Long Government Primary School

TR g N2 Yuen Long Merchants Association Primary School
TCEARA R BN B4 Yuen Long Ping Estate Wai Chow School

TRAEE/ N2 Yuen Long Po Kok Primary School

Yuen Long Tung Koon District Association Hung Ting Ka
Kindergarten

TLEAR SRR & ARTE Z2 40 FE R

E
HBNHEREREHZE (JTER) Zenith Kindergarten (Yuen Long)
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List of Supporting Organizations & Corporate Members for
“Smoke-free Drivers Club” Programme

S E#E R P¥ = E Supporting Organization & Corporate Member

HENTERRBES D ABA Taxi Radio Call Services Centre
REANTHE Association of New Territories Radio Taxicabs Ltd.

Bauhaus International (Holdings) Ltd
China Hong Kong and Macau Boundary Crossing

PARERED TS =
Bus Association
PEEEEARAR] Chinalink Express Holdings Limited
EHEEN TG HERAR] Chuen Lee Radio Taxis Association Ltd.
BHEBETAERAF Chung Shing Taxi Ltd.
WEABRAT] Citybus Limited
BEEEnERTES Container Transportation Employees General Union
=R BB CSX World Terminals Hong Kong Ltd
MR TE A E AR AR CTOD Association Company Limited
D. Mondo Ltd
HEREREEEERRAR Detellstudio Ltd.
HEERRE (BE) BRAF DHL Express Hong Kong
BRELEEYR(BE)BRAT DHL Global Forwarding (Hong Kong) Limited
HENTELGRLBERAA Digital Taxi Telecommunication Center Limited
SERRREEER AT ECO Environmental Investments Limited
Fantastic Home
BEA L (FhR) BRAR] Fighting Arts Centre (Expand) Limited
MR LEEMEE Fraternity Association of New Territories Taxi Merchants
RESMTETEES Fraternity Taxi Owners Association
HTRIAR A E S Front Line Taxi Driver Association
BERERRAA Hang Po Transportation Co,, Ltd.
BN THEER AR Happy Taxi Operator's Association Ltd.
BFLBITIEE Harry Workshop
A EERR AR Hi-Speed Supply Chain Limited
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List of Supporting Organizations & Corporate Members for “Smoke-free Drivers Club” Programme

HK KIn & NT Public & Maxicab Light Bus Merchants'

BERNEFALNRER/ B THARES . o
United Association

BEERTE/NBEXRRIpERS HK Public-light Bus Owner & Driver Association
BNEBNLTEFRSARAA Hong Kong & Kowloon Radio Car Owners Association Ltd.
BEAEG Hong Kong Automobile Association
BAEREXYNE S Hong Kong Construction Materials Association Ltd.
BEAERBHEEXB2ERAR Hong Kong Container Drayage Services Association Ltd.
BEARBERERTIHED Hong Kong Federation of Transport Workers Organizations
s EmE e Hong Konig Quangdong Boundary Crossing

Bus Association
BAANLRAKES Hong Kong Kowloon & New Territories Taxi Association
BERYRHE Hong Kong Logistics Association
BRENER Hong Kong School of Motoring Limited

EEAEERYEETHE Hong Kong SForehouses, Transportation & Logistic
Staff Association

BATIEEE Hong Kong Taxi Association
BEAENTEEERAR] Hong Kong Taxi Owners' Association Ltd.
HEENTEBRLBERAR] Hong Kong Taxicab Call Centre Limited
BEAEGENLHES Hong Kong Tele-call Taxi Association
BEAAEERER¥EE Hong Kong Vehicle Repair Merchants Association Limited
BEABEYRENE Hongkong Association of Freight Forwarding & Logistics
MEMRPLEERERAR] Hutchison Logistics Centre Management Limited
ERiE TEREER AR K&F Tourist Bus Services Company Ltd.
NEAEERHMAE Kowloon Motor Driving Instructors’ Association Limited
BEBtTEERRAR Kwoon Chung Bus Holding Limited
NU L BB Lantau Taxi Association
TREBZER Lee Kin Driving School
BomtEEEARAR] Luen Pun Enterprise Group Limited
ITERBERFEETE Motor Transport Workers General Union
RERBRERELTSSNLTAMY D Motor Transport Workers General Union, Taxi Driver Branch
BAEKEERAA MTR Corporation Limited

N-able Solutions Company Limited
AN TR New Territories Taxi Drivers Association
TSRt B A A 2 K HGE BR New Territories Taxi Drivers' Rights Alliance
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List of Supporting Organizations & Corporate Members for “Smoke-free Drivers Club” Programme

AN LTEERERAR
RN TEERS

RN TEERMARAS
R E B LREBERAR
Tt SR E — R EmIRIS B R A A
bR tTEE

R T ARFEH O

AIHNAIBE RS
AHETRIFHE
SEBEZEARREERA
miﬁﬁﬂai$”$uﬁﬁﬂﬁ
WS EARAR
SEBENLIERHS
AEFENANLTEEMR
FAEMTIEEES
BEEHEARAT
2 BAE
MERTEQME
MENTRZEBE

\

AR R

FMBITERAT]
RN E A R T
METEITEEHE
MEREERERS

BEERMREE

EBERE

HENT/ B
NEBL(—h==)BRAA
NENTETBEERAA
Wt REBEERAR]
RREENEEHE
BRYRERIS
BRNTRZEBEERAF

SRR AT

New Territories Taxi Merchants Association Limited
New Territories Taxi Operations Union

New Territories Taxi Owners & Drivers Fraternal Association
New World First Bus Services Ltd

New World First Ferry Services Ltd

North District Taxi Merchants Association

NT Taxi Service Centre

Public Light Bus General Association

Public Omnibus Operators Association

PuYU Horticultural Therapy Services Limited

Rights of Taxi (Si Hai) Telecommunication Centre Limited
Rights of Taxi Owners & Drivers Association Ltd.
Royal Best Quality Taxi Association

Sai Kung ABA New Territories Taxi Radio Call Centre
Sai Kung Taxi Operators Association

School Buses Operators Association Ltd.

smart trendy

Sun Hing Taxi Radio Association

Sun Star Taxi Operators Association

Swantix Limited

Tai Wo Motors Ltd.

Taxi Association Limited

Taxi Dealers and Owners Association

Taxi Drivers & Operators Association

The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport
in Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Society for Rehabilitation

The Hong Kong Taxi and Public Light Bus Association
The Kowloon Motor Bus Co. (1933) Ltd

The Kowloon Taxi Owners Association Ltd

The Taxi Operators Association Ltd.

Traffic Services Employees Association

Transport and Logistics Workers Union

United Friendship Taxi Owners & Drivers Association Ltd.
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List of Supporting Organizations & Corporate Members for “Smoke-free Drivers Club” Programme

MER T AMEZ e AR AR Urban Taxi Drivers Association Joint Committee Co. Ltd.

BENTEIBEARAT Wai Fat Taxi Owners Association Ltd.

BEaA AN TEIBE AR AR Wai Yik HK & KIn & NT Taxi Owners Association Ltd.
web-on(asia) Itd.

HEREEER AR Western Harbour Tunnel Company Limited

ENEGESEREARAR Wing Lee Radio Car Traders Association Ltd.

BRBEF LA eERAR Wing Tai Car Owners & Drivers Association Ltd.

LB Yung Kee

FEILNTETRIKgS
ol (B WL ETHE
RBBEREEBER AR
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BEBEEG 2B
Terms of Reference of Standing Committees

A ITHREES

RREERS A SRR EP NER
TrRRERR -

ERMREZE A MR 2 TR
AHE -

EEWERMNENE  LAAZRTK
EEHRE -

EEZASAMRRER -

Z - EHEES

ER(RE (RREE) GO RER
SR (RIETR) RODM BRI B
ZBITER

WA RAE B RN AN
HETH -

MEBRZ HEARFRREEE
ER 2 RSB AR ETER o

A HBEREBERES

MABRLITEAAE ARG ERE
BRI 2 R E R AL RS HEE
EETNZER -

RENABA 2B EERE) - A
E{REREBREEES

=%

=

Executive Committee

To advise COSH on the strategic planning of COSH
programmes and initiatives.

To consider and endorse the budget of COSH projects
and activities.

To oversee the functioning of COSH secretariat, in
particular staffing and financial matters.

To oversee the information security management of
COSH.

Legislation Committee

To monitor the implementation of various tobacco
control measures stipulated in the Smoking (Public
Health) Ordinance and the Fixed Penalty (Smoking
Offences) Ordinance.

To review and recommend to COSH appropriate
action on legislative matters.

To consider ways and means to promote public
awareness of the legislative requirements and
encourage their compliance.

Education and Publicity Committee

To consider ways and means that can best educate the
general public on the harm of smoking and passive
smoking, and to promote a smoke-free lifestyle in the
community.

To plan and organize territory-wide publicity
campaigns to de-normalize smoking and promote
smoking cessation.
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3. REIRMITEDRERTLFREZ 3. To plan and implement education projects to prevent
HEEE - children and youth from taking up the habit of
smoking.
4. EBSEYRZEE BE:ESR
SEEE SR SEEE LA 4. To oversee the production of publicity materials such
REDR o as TV Commercials, posters, leaflets, souvenirs and

annual reports.
5. REHEREEEES IR ARE
BRI ETE o 5. To evaluate the education and publicity campaigns
and to initiate improvements where appropriate.

HEBEKEES . .. .
T uefiaEss D. Community Liaison Committee

1. B[R St R AR AR RS - M (P LT , ith district and :
TS B > 10 B2 T4 o . To communicate with district and community groups

EE
on COSH's tobacco control works and initiatives.

2. HEEZESEMABRAEEETIELD

2. To serve as a focal point for community liaison on

28
A - matters related to COSH and tobacco control.
NGk A ES
3. Eﬁi?ﬂaﬁlu—j'zﬂ MaEREIREITIRE 3. To partner with various community groups in the
HE REE °

planning and implementation of tobacco control
programmes and activities.

X BRERHEZES

1. EBELEBEGERE EﬁfiiﬁZﬁﬂ
WEBRRREERELE AR 1. To collect and collate all information related to
smoking and health and to disseminate such

E. Information and Research Committee

2. RITHAEMFEE RER- information through appropriate means and networks.
3. BAEHMRIRIARERAMBMR 2. To identify appropriate themes of research and survey
BR o projects to be carried out.
4, EETHREEITII  WEEKER 3. To provide advice for the design of research and
FTEMRERIESTEIZE  BEHT surveys and the subsequent presentation of results.
FEENAEZEGHERBEIARE
B o 4. To commission out research projects; and to invite
submission of research proposals on targeted research
5 NMEEBHELR REZEEY topics; to examine research proposals and recommend
THe o projects for funding to COSH.
6. BT AR A R R I B AR I O B4 5 To publicize the research/survey results and
' &% EH"—J.AjZIMEijJ_/\ a recommend follow-up actions having regard to such
=R R =
results.

6.  Toinitiate and organize scientific conference, seminars
or workshops on smoking and health research.
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1. Introduction

Although smoking prevalence is decreasing in Hong Kong,
there are still 615,000 daily smokers (10.0%)' and half will
be killed by smoking® which accounts for about 7,000
deaths per year in Hong Kong®. Smoking also accounts
for a large amount of medical costs, long-term care costs
and productivity loss of about HK$5,585 million (US$716
million, 0.3% Hong Kong GDP)". Smoking is a highly
addictive behaviour and many smokers with strong nicotine
dependence encounter difficulties to quit without assistance.
On the other hand, reaching and helping many smokers who
have no intention to quit is a challenge, because they are
unlikely to seek professional help from smoking cessation (SC)
services.

The Quit and Win programme provides an opportunity to
reach and encourage a large number of smokers to initiate
quitting and maintain abstinence. It also provides a golden
opportunity to examine the effectiveness of brief and low
cost SC interventions by a randomized controlled trial (RCT)
so as to generate new evidence for future evidence-based
interventions to reach, recruit and help a large number of
smokers to quit.

The Quit and Win model posits that smokers participating in
SC contest will have higher motivation to quit with incentives
and better social support®. Studies have found that such
quitting contests or incentive programmes reached a large
number of smokers and showed a significantly higher
abstinence rate in the Quit and Win group than the control
group®.

Since 2009 (except 2011), the Hong Kong Council on Smoking
and Health (COSH) has been collaborating with the Schools
of Nursing and Public Health of The University of Hong Kong
(HKU), to organize the “Quit to Win” (QTW) Contest. Over
7,000 smokers were recruited from the community”" since
2009. Small cash incentives and fabulous prizes of lucky
draw or selection interview were awarded to participants
whose abstinence was biochemically validated. The
competition helped in boosting up participants’ confidence
and motivation to quit and allowed rooms for designing and
evaluating the effectiveness of new SC interventions at low
cost.

SC services substantially increase abstinence rate and the
World Health Organization (WHO) has urged to promote
SC services™. SC services in Hong Kong are under-used as
most of the daily smokers (76.8%) had never tried smoking
cessation services or specified methods and only 3.1% of
these smokers were willing to use the services'. Our previous
RCT in the 6™ “Quit to Win” Contest conducted in 2015
evaluated the effects of low-intensity active referral (LAR) vs.
very brief general SC advice (VBA) on quitting. LAR included
on-site. AWARD counseling and referring smokers contact
information for SC services providers to connect with the
smokers. The 6-month findings of this RCT showed the LAR
intervention was effective, with a significantly higher self-
reported abstinence rate than that in the control group
(17.2% vs. 11.5%. p=0.02)"*. It is warranted to evaluate if a
higher intensity active referral (HAR) and/or text messaging
on encouraging SC service use can achieve even higher
abstinence rate when compared with only VBA is given in the
control group.



In 2016, COSH collaborated with HKU, 18 District Councils,
various district working partners and supporting
organizations to organize the 7" “Quit to Win” Contest to
promote SC in the community. A 3-arm RCT was conducted
to evaluate the effectiveness of a high intensity personalized
active referral to existing SC services including the SC Hotline
(1833 183) and other SC services (HAR Group), and text
messaging on encouraging SC service use to increase quitting
(Text Group), compared with a self-help booklet and general
SC advice (Control Group).

2. Methods

2.1 Recruitment

From 19 June to 30 September 2016, participants were
recruited from 68 recruitment sessions of the QTW Contest
in all 18 districts in Hong Kong. Each recruitment session was
treated as a unit of cluster randomization (22 recruitment
sessions for each RCT group). All participants in a recruitment
session were allocated to the HAR Group, Text Group or
Control Group.

In all the recruitment sessions, the trained SC ambassadors
measured smokers’ level of carbon monoxide (CO) in exhaled
air and screened participants’ eligibility for the Contest and
the RCT:

1. Hong Kong residents aged 18 or above;

2. Daily smokers who smoked at least 1 cigarette per day in
the past 3 months;

3. Able to communicate in Cantonese (including reading
Chinese); and

4. Exhaled carbon monoxide (CO) of 4 parts per million (ppm)
or above.

The SC ambassadors then explained and invited smokers
to join the RCT. Written consent for voluntary participation
in the RCT was obtained before administering the
baseline questionnaire and delivery of the interventions
to participants. Eligible participants who were unwilling
to join the RCT could still join the QTW Contest, but were
excluded from the RCT analysis (Non-trial Group). Cluster
randomization was used to allocate the participants in each
recruitment session into 1 of the 3 intervention groups:

1. High intensity and personalized active referral group;

2. Text group;

3. Control group.

Block randomization was used to ensure the number of
recruitment sessions for the 3 RCT groups was balanced.

The primary investigator, who was not involved in the
recruitment, randomly generated blocks, with each block

size equal to 3, 6 or 9, containing random permutations of
the 3 RCT groups using the website http://www.random.
org (a website for generating random integers). The primary
investigator combined all the blocks and generated a list of
group allocation for all recruitment sessions. The recruitment
staff was informed about the group allocation one day prior
to the recruitment activities. The trained SC ambassadors
were unknown about the group assignment until they arrived
at the recruitment venue. All outcome assessors were blinded
to the group assignment.

A lucky draw and a publicity programme for SC promotion
were organized by COSH. A total of 5 participants, whose
abstinence were biochemically validated at 3-month, won
the lucky draw prize (HK$10,000 gift voucher each). Among
the 137 participants who joined the publicity programme, the
biochemically validated quitters had been interviewed and
a champion was selected to receive a prize of travel voucher
at HK$25,000 to Australia, where the 1% and the 2™ runner-up
received a prize of travel voucher at HK$15,000 to Singapore
and at HK$10,000 to Thailand, respectively.

2.2 Interventions and Follow-up

High intensity and personalized active referral group:
Participants received brief SC advice and were actively
referred to existing SC services in Hong Kong. Brief advice
was delivered using the AWARD model’ face-to-face at
baseline and via telephones at follow-ups. The AWARD model
consists of the following components: Ask about smoking
history; Warn about the high risk with the use of the health
warning leaflet; Advise to quit as soon as possible and to
quit within 3 months (to become eligible to win the prizes);
Refer smokers to SC services; and Do it again. Participants
also received an A4 color double-page printed leaflet which
contained highlights of the risks of 1/2 smokers and 2/3
smokers started smoking at young age died from smoking, a
full list of diseases related to active and secondhand smoking,
10 scary pictures featuring smoking-induced diseases,
information on the benefits of quitting, and messages
encouraging participants to quit and call the Integrated SC
Hotline managed by the Department of Health. Participants
received brief telephone booster advice at 1 and 2 months
and validation of smoking status at 3 and 6 months.

To increase the chance of getting an earlier SC appointment
and attendance, research staff helped smokers book their
preferred SC services for the available appointment time on-
site. For smokers who were not ready to book the SC services
on-site, they were encouraged to set a date for appointment
booking within a week and were followed up by telephone at
1-week. They could inform us to book the SC service through
instant messaging (IM) or telephone calls anytime between
1-week and 1-month after baseline. Once smokers had chosen
the SC services, we helped them book the SC appointment by
sending the relevant information to SC providers. Participants
received help to book the following SC services in Hong
Kong: Department of Health, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals
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Integrated Centre on SC, Hospital Authority SC clinics, Pok Oi
Hospital Acupuncture SC Services, and Youth Quitline of The
University of Hong Kong.

SC ambassadors introduced the SC services to participants
using a pocket size SC services information card containing
brief information and highlights of each SC service.
Participants who consented for the transferal of their
contact details through COSH to their selected SC service
providers received proactive phone calls from the service
providers for telephone SC counseling or booking an SC clinic
appointment.

Tailored, automatic, fix-schedule messages were sent three
times in the 1" week via IM services (e.g. WhatsApp) since
initial contact and then one message per week until 8 weeks
after baseline. Any smokers who did not use IM or refused
to receive IM messages were contacted via SMS messages.
SC messages included the harms of smoking, the benefits
of SC, the importance of adherence to SC appointment
and encouragement on abstinence. The messages were
sent according to smokers’ SC appointment status e.g.
(1) Not yet decided to book SC appointment, (2) Booked SC
appointment; (3) Booked but had not yet attended the SC
service. All participants received a reminder to attend the
SC service in the 7" IM messages. Research staff monitored
the use of SC services by smokers at each follow-up (1, 2, 3 &
6 months) and assisted participants to book or re-book the
appointments if necessary.

Text group: Participants were introduced and motivated to
use the SC services on-site. IM/SMS messages (3 per week
in the first month, then 1 per week in the second month)
were sent to encourage them to book an SC appointment
by themselves since initial contact. A total of 16 messages
were sent to the smokers. The IM/SMS messages in this
group were simpler and more generic than the IM messages
in HAR Group. Research staff monitored the use of SC
services by smokers at each follow-up (1, 2, 3 & 6 months)
and encouraged participants to book or re-book the
appointments if necessary.

Control group: Participants received very brief, minimal
general SC advice and a 12-page self-help SC booklet which
was designed by COSH and routinely used in QTW Contests.

Non-trial group: The following participants joined the QTW
Contest and were classified as the non-trial group: (1) chose
to participate in the COSH publicity programme, which had
different prizes; (2) refused to participate in the RCT; and
(3) were recruited from the workplace where additional
incentives might be provided by the employers. The non-trial
participants received the same intervention(s) received by the
RCT participants in the same recruitment session. All of them
could receive the same monetary incentive after passing the
biochemical validation for abstinence at 3- and 6-month.

All participants were assessed for their smoking status and
quitting progress through telephone interview at 1- and
2-month, followed by a booster intervention (HAR Group
and Text Group only), and then at 3- and 6-month with
assessment only. Both HAR Group and Text Group received
booster interventions which involved brief AWARD advice,
enquiry and reinforcement of the use of SC services, but HAR
Group additionally received assistance in booking/re-booking
SC services through telephone and IM at 1-, 2- and 3-month
follow-ups. No booster intervention was provided to the
Control Group. About 7 calls and 1 voice message were made
before a participant was treated as unreachable. Self-reported
quitters (did not smoke, even a puff, in the past 7 days) at 3-
and 6-month were invited to participate in the biochemical
validations. HKU staff assessed self-reported quitter’s
exhaled CO level and saliva cotinine level in the biochemical
validation and all validated quitters could receive a cash
incentive of HK$500. To boost the retention rate, participants
who completed all the 4 follow-up interviews could receive
another cash incentive of HK$100.

The primary outcomes were the self-reported 7-day point
prevalence (PP) abstinence rate at 3- and 6-month. The
secondary outcomes were (1) biochemically validated SC,
(2) smoking reduction (50% reduction or above in cigarette
consumption compared with baseline), and (3) self-reported
SC service use at 3- and 6-month.

The socio-demographic and smoking characteristics at
baseline of all participants (N=1,317) were described. We
compared the primary and secondary outcomes, perceived
importance, difficulty and confidence to quit among the
three groups. We adopted the intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis
(assuming that non-respondents at the follow-up did not
change their baseline smoking behavior) and complete-case
(CQ) analysis (excluding participants who were lost to follow-
up) to calculate the self-reported and biochemically validated
abstinence rates and other outcomes.

We also reported participants’ reasons to quit, methods to
quit, withdrawal symptoms experienced, perceived social
support for quitting, use of SC aids and perception of follow-
up calls.

3. Results

In all the 68 recruitment sessions of the 7 “Quit to Win”
Contest, more than 60 trained SC ambassadors participated in
the on-site promotion and recruited 1,344 adult daily smokers
to participate in the Contest. About 124,000 people passed
by the QTW promotion booths. About 13,000 people made
enquiries about SC or participated in the game booth. The
SC ambassadors approached nearly 7,000 smokers and over
12,000 non-smokers in all the activities.



Of the 1,344 screened smokers who were interested to join
the Contest, 15 (1.1%) did not meet the inclusion criteria, and
12 (0.9%) refused to participate in the Contest, making up a
final of 1,317 participants in the Contest. Among the 1,317
eligible participants, 1,163 (88.3%) consented to participate in
the RCT. 137 (10.4%) participants in the publicity programme
and 17 (1.3%) participants who refused to join the RCT or
were recruited from a specific workplace were combined and
analyzed in the non-trial group. Of the 1,163 participants in
the RCT, 395 (34.0%) were allocated to the HAR Group, 385
(33.1%) to the Text Group, and 383 (32.9%) to the Control
Group.

The recruitment booth of the QTW Contest was the leading
source of information about the QTW Contest for the
participants (85.7%). The second source was the community
centres (7.4%) and few participants knew it from leaflets/
posters (3.0%) (Figure 1).

Figure 1

Sources of knowing the 7" “Quit to Win” Contest
(N=1,317)"*

Recruitment booth or promotion 85.7%

Community centres 74%
Leaflets/posters 3.0%
Colleagues/friends 2.1%
Family members 1.9%

Websites 0.8%
Newspaper/magazine 0.6%
TV ads 0.5%

Radio 0.4%

'Missing data were not displayed.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

3.1 Socio-demographic characteristics of all
participants

The average age of participants was 41.4 (SD=16.6) years and
most participants were male (79.1%) and employed (61.2%)
and had received junior secondary or above education
(75.0%). Near half (49.8%) were married and two-fifths had
children (40.2%). Near half had a monthly household income
less than HK$20,000 (46.5%), and less than half lived in public
housing (43.4%) (Table 1).

3.2 Smoking profile

The mean age of starting smoking was 19.1 (SD=6.4) years,
37.5% started smoking before 18 and the mean year of
smoking was 22.1 (SD=16.0) (Figure 2). The mean daily
cigarette consumption was 14.4 (SD=9.4) cigarettes, while
50.0% consumed 1-10 cigarettes and 38.7% consumed 11-
20 per day (Figure 3). According to the Heaviness of Smoking
Index (HSI), 48.9% had light nicotine dependence (HSI<2)
(Figure 4). Only 36.7% had made a quit attempt (smoking
abstinence =24 hours) before, and 60.7% of them had the
attempt more than 1 year ago (Figure 5). Only 27.9% of
participants intended to quit smoking within 7 days (Figure 6).

Figure 2
Age of starting weekly smoking in all participants
(N=1,317)"
B HAR B Text H  Control M Non-trial Total
60%
501 509
50% — 468 468

40% —

30% —

20% —

10% —

0% —

<17 18-25 =226

'Missing data were not displayed.

Figure 3

Daily cigarette consumption at baseline in all
participants (N=1,317)'

H HAR

B Text & Control B Non-trial Total

60%
50% 46.047-450'0
40%
30%
20%

10%

)0/
0% 1-10 " 11-20 " 21-30 " 230 '

'Missing data were not displayed.
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Table 1. Socio-demographic characteristics of all participants (N=1,317)

0 (%) Total Non-trial HAR Text Control
(N=1,317) (N=154) (N=395) (N=385) (N=383)
Age, mean £ SD, years 414 +16.6 414 £ 16.1 409 £ 16.3 41.0+16.7 42.3 £ 171
Gender
Male 1,042 (79.1) 139 (90.3) 311 (78.7) 301 (78.2) 291 (76.0)
Female 274 (20.8) 15(9.7) 84 (21.3) 84 (21.8) 91 (23.8)
Missing 1(0.1) 0(0.0) 0(0.0) 0(0.0) 1(0.3)
Marital status
Single 510 (38.7) 54 (35.1) 157 (39.7) 162 (42.1) 137 (35.8)
Married/ Cohabited 656 (49.8) 87 (56.5) 199 (50.4) 185 (48.1) 185 (48.3)
Others 50 (3.8) 4(2.6) 12 (3.1) 15 (3.9) 19 (4.9)
Missing 101 (7.7) 9(5.8) 27 (6.8) 23 (6.0) 42 (11.0)
Had a child
Yes 530 (40.2) 75 (48.7) 159 (40.3) 160 (41.6) 136 (35.5)
No 582 (44.2) 60 (39.0) 183 (46.3) 171 (44.4) 168 (43.9)
Missing 205 (15.6) 19 (12.3) 53(13.4) 54 (14.0) 79 (20.6)
Education level
No formal education 28 (2.1) 6(3.9) 4 (1.0) 10 (2.6) 8(2.1)
Elementary education 111 (8.4) 13 (8.4) 26 (6.6) 32 (8.3) 40 (10.4)
Junior secondary education 251 (19.1) 28 (18.2) 96 (24.3) 61 (15.8) 66 (17.2)
Senior secondary education 469 (35.6) 55(35.7) 149 (37.7) 142 (36.9) 123 (32.1)
Post-secondary or above 267 (20.3) 36 (23.4) 80 (20.3) 76 (19.8) 75 (19.6)
Missing 191 (14.5) 16 (10.4) 40(10.1) 64 (16.6) 71 (18.5)
Employment status
Student 108 (8.2) 6(3.9) 36 (9.1) 32(8.3) 34 (8.9)
Self-employed/ employed 806 (61.2) 103 (66.9) 264 (66.8) 231 (60.0) 208 (54.3)
Unemployed 49 (3.7) 8(5.2) 12 (3.0) 15(3.9) 14 (3.7)
Housewife 34 (2.6) 2(1.3) 4(1.0) 15(3.9) 13(3.4)
Retired 152 (11.5) 21 (13.6) 40 (10.1) 44 (11.4) 47 (12.3)
Missing 168 (12.8) 14 (9.1) 39(9.9) 48 (12.5) 67 (17.5)
Monthly household income (HKS$)
Less than 10,000 182 (13.8) 21 (13.6) 50 (12.7) 53 (13.8) 58 (15.1)
10,000-19,999 430 (32.7) 52(33.8) 140 (35.4) 123 (31.9) 115 (30.0)
20,000-29,999 279 (21.2) 30 (19.5) 97 (24.6) 83 (21.6) 69 (18.0)
30,000-39,999 88 (6.7) 9(5.8) 31(7.8) 19 (4.9) 29 (7.6)
40,000 or more 111 (8.4) 21 (13.6) 29(7.3) 31 (8.1) 30(7.8)
Missing 227 (17.2) 21 (13.6) 48 (12.2) 76 (19.7) 82 (21.4)
Housing condition
Public housing (rental) 482 (36.6) 68 (44.2) 131 (33.2) 137 (35.6) 146 (38.1)
Public housing (purchased) 89 (6.8) 5(3.2) 36 (9.1) 22 (5.7) 26 (6.8)
Home Ownership Scheme 204 (15.5) 25(16.2) 63 (16.0) 64 (16.6) 52(13.6)
Private housing (rental) 146 (11.1) 11 (7.1) 56 (14.2) 48 (12.5) 31(8.1)
Private housing (purchased) 167 (12.7) 25(16.2) 55 (13.9) 43 (11.2) 44 (11.5)
Others 20 (1.5) 3(2.0) 8(2.0) 3(0.8) 6 (1.6)
Missing 209 (15.9) 17 (11.0) 46 (11.6) 68 (17.7) 78 (20.4)




Figure 4 3.3 Baseline referral status of participants who
received active referral intervention

Nicotine dependence (Heaviness of Smoking Index) at At baseline, 450 participants received active referral
baseline in all participants (N=1,317) intervention. 395 (87.8%) were participants in the HAR Group

of the RCT and 55 (12.2%) were in the non-trial group. Most of

B HAR B Text = Control B Non-trial Total them (76.7%) had chosen an SC service provider at baseline

60% — . and the proportion was 74.2% in the HAR Group and 94.5%

in the non-trial group. The remaining participants were not
ready to use SC service (13.3%) or refused to be referred
(10.0%) (Table 2).

50% —

40% —

30% —

20% Table 2 Referral status for active referral group at

10% 75 65 86 278 baseline (N=450).

0% —

Light (HSI<2) Moderate (HSI=3-4) Heavy (HSI=5-6)
Non-trial
"Missing data were not displayed. (J:iglo) (?\lr:;';) HG\?:?.;?)IP
. Had chosen any
Figure 5 smoking cessation  345(76.7)  52(94.5) 293 (74.2)
service
Past quit attempt at baseline in all participants Had not decided a
9 P (N=1,317)" P P smoking cessation 60 (13.3) 2(3.6) 58 (14.7)
! service yet
B HAR B Text M Control B Non-trial Total Beeffel:'iztj to be 45 (10.0) 1 (1.8) 44 (11.1)
70% 666

60% —
50% —
40%
30% —

3.4 1-,2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups results

20% Retention rate
10% 1 2531343931
0% T Withinpast | Withinpast | Withinpast | More than 1 Never All participants were followed up by telephone interviews
month  6months year yearago at 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month with the corresponding overall
retention rates (including non-trial group) of 71.1%, 63.8%,
'"Missing data were not displayed. 64.5% and 72.4%. At 3-month, the retention rate of the HAR

Group, Text Group and Control Group were 64.3% , 68.8%
and 57.2%, respectively. While at 6-month were 73.9%, 73.8%

Figure 6 and 71.0% (Figure 7).
Intention to quit at baseline in all participants Figure 7
(N=1,317)"
Retention rate of 1-, 2-, 3- and 6-month follow-ups
B HAR M Text M Control B Non-trial Total (N=11317)1
60% — 556548

50% H HAR B Text H Control B Non-trial Total

40% 80%

30% 75%

20% 70%

10%
65%

Within 7 days Within 30 days Within 60 days Undetermined

60%

- . 55% —
'Missing data were not displayed. ° 1-month 2-month 3-month 6-month

'Missing data were not displayed.
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Primary outcome: Self-reported 7-day point
prevalence abstinence rate at 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

By ITT analysis, the overall self-reported 7-day point
prevalence of abstinence (PPA) at 3-month follow-up was
12.7%. The HAR Group (14.4%) had the highest abstinence
rate among 3 RCT groups, which was non-significantly greater
than that in the Text Group (13.0%, p=0.56), and significantly
(p=0.01) greater than that in the Control Group (8.6%), while
the Text Group also had a greater PPA than the Control Group
with marginal significance (p=0.05). By CC analysis, the overall
abstinence rate was 19.7%, the HAR Group (22.4%) had the
highest self-reported abstinence rate when compared with
the Text Group (18.9%, p=0.32), and the Control Group (15.1%,
p=0.04). The difference between the Text Group and the
Control group was not significant (p=0.27) (Figure 8).

At 6-month follow-up, by ITT analysis, the overall self-
reported 7-day PPA was 16.0%. The PPA in the HAR Group
(17.7%) was similar to that of the Text Group (17.1%, p=0.83)
but significantly greater than that of the Control Group (12.0%,
p=0.03). The PPA in the Text Group was also significantly
greater than that of the Control Group (p=0.04). By CC
analysis, the overall abstinence rate was 22.1%. The PPA in
the HAR Group (24.0%) was similar to that in the Text Group
(23.2%, p=0.84) but significantly greater than that in the
Control Group (16.9%, p=0.04). The Text Group also had
marginally significantly higher PPA than the Control Group
(p=0.06) (Figure 8).

Figure 8

Self-reported abstinence rates at 3-month and 6-month
follow-ups, by intention-to-treat and complete-case
analysis

B HAR B Text Control B Non-trial Total

30%
25% _ 2053,
20%
15%
10%

5%

0% —

3-month ITT
(N=1,317)

3-month CC
(N=849)

6-month ITT
(N=1,317)

6-month CC
(N=954)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Biochemically validated abstinence rate at 3- and
6-month follow-ups

At 3-month follow-up, among the 167 self-reported quitters
(including non-trial group), 102 (61.1%) participated in the
biochemical validation and 79.4% passed the test. By ITT
analysis, the overall validated abstinence rate was 6.2%. The
corresponding rate in the HAR, Text and Control Group were

6.8%, 6.0% and 4.7% respectively. By CC analysis, the overall
validated abstinence rate was 9.5%. HAR Group and Text
Group had higher validated abstinence rate than the Control
Group but the differences were not significant (Figure 9).

At 6-month follow-up, 109 out of 211 (51.7%) self-reported
quitters (including non-trial group) participated in the
biochemical validation and 81.7% passed the test. By ITT
analysis, the overall validated abstinence rate was 6.8%. It
was significantly lower in the Control Group (3.9%), when
compared with the HAR Group (7.6%, p=0.03) or the Text
Group (7.8%, p=0.02). By CC analysis, the validated abstinence
rate was 9.3%. The HAR Group (10.3%) had a similar validated
abstinence rate with the Text Group (10.6%, p=0.91). Both the
HAR Group and Text Group had significantly greater validated
abstinence rate than the Control Group (5.5%, p=0.04 and
0.03) (Figure 9).

Figure 9

Biochemically validated abstinence rates at 3-month
and 6-month follow-ups, by intention-to-treat and
complete-case analysis

B HAR B Text Control B Non-trial Total

103106

3-month [TT
(N=1,317)

3-month CC
(N=849)

6-month [TT
(N=1,317)

6-month CC
(N=954)

ITT: Intention-to-treat analysis; CC: Complete-case analysis

Smoking reduction rate at the 3- and 6-month
follow-ups

By ITT analysis, after excluding the quitters, 18.3% and 18.4%
participants reduced daily cigarette consumption by at least
50% at 3- and 6-month follow-ups, when compared with
the baseline. The HAR Group, Text Group and Control Group
had similar (all p>0.05) results at 3-month follow-up: 18.7%,
16.9% and 16.2%, respectively. The results were also similar (all
p>0.05) at the 6-month follow-up: 20.3%, 16.1% and 19.3%,
respectively. By CC analysis, the overall reduction rates were
28.4% and 25.4% at 3- and 6-month follow-ups. The HAR, Text
and Control groups had similar (all p>0.05) results at both
follow-ups (Figure 10).



Figure 10

Rate of smoking reduction by 50% or more at 3- and
6-month follow-ups, by intention-to- treat analysis and
complete-case analysis'

H HAR B Text I Control B Non-trial Total

360

3-month ITT
(N=1,317)

3-month CC
(N=849)

6-month [TT
(N=1,317)

6-month CC
(N=954)

'Quitters were excluded in the numerator but included in the denominator.

By ITT analysis and including quitters, 31.0% and 34.4% of all
participants had reduced daily cigarette consumption by at
least 50% at 3- and 6- month follow-ups. The reduction rate
in the HAR Group was marginally significantly higher than
that in the Control Group (38.0% versus 31.3%, p=0.052) at
6-month. By CC analysis, the reduction rate in the HAR Group
was marginally significantly higher than that in the Control
Group (51.6% versus 43.4%, p=0.08) at 3-month (Figure 11).

Figure 11

Rate of smoking reduction by 50% or more at 3- and
6-month follow-ups, by |ntent|on-to-treat analysis and
complete-case analysis'

B HAR B Text H  Control M Non-trial Total

100%

80%

60% —

40%

20%

0% —

3-month ITT
(N=1,317)

3-month CC
(N=849)

6-month [TT
(N=1,317)

6-month CC
(N=954)

'Quitters were included in the numerator and denominator.

Smoking cessation service use at the 1-, 2-, 3- and
6-month follow-ups

Among 395 participants in the HAR Group, 74.2% chose a
smoking cessation service provider at baseline (Table 2).
The HAR Group had a significantly (all p<0.001) higher rate
of SC service use when compared with the other 2 groups
at all follow-ups (Table 3). At any time point, over three
quarters (77.0%) in the HAR Group had chosen a SC service
and among them, 34.9% used the SC service. The 4 most
common services being used were: (1) nicotine replacement

therapy (e.g. gum/patch/inhaler) (39.6%), (2) medications
prescribed by doctors (34.0%), (3) face-to-face counseling
(27.4%), and (4) telephone counseling (27.4%) (Figure 12). In
the 198 participants who had not used the SC service, the
most common reasons were busy schedule (80.8%) and time
mismatch (24.7%) (Figure 13).

Table 3 Use of SC service (cumulative at 6 month)'

Total Non-trial HAR Text Control

(N=1,317) (N=154) (N=395) (N=385) (N=383)
Have
chosenthe 356 (27.0) 52(33.8) 304 (77.0) NA NA
service
Have used
the service 193 (14.7) 29(18.8) 106(26.8) 31(8.1) 27(7.1)

'Only all participants of HAR Group and 55 non-trial participants chose the
service with assistance at baseline and follow-ups. The records for Text and
Control groups are not available.

Figure 12

Smoking cessation services or medlcatlons being used
(among service users, N=106) '

Nicotine replacement therapy
(e.g. gum/patch/inhaler)

Medications 34.0%

39.6%

Face-to-face counseling 274%

Telephone counseling 274%
Acupuncture 19.8%

Group counseling

'Participants could choose more than one option.

Figure 13

Reasons for not using the smoking cessation services
(among non- service users, N=198)

Busy schedule 80.8%

Time mismatch

No interest 19.2%

Perceived it not useful 16.7%

Inconvenient location

'Participants could choose more than one option.
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Self-efficacy of quitting
Perceived importance of quitting

In a scale of 0 (minimum) to 10 (maximum), the mean scores
of “perceived level of importance to quit smoking”, “perceived
level of difficulty to quit smoking”, and “perceived level of
confidence to quit smoking” at baseline were 6.71, 6.98, and

5.72, respectively.

The mean score of perceived importance to quit smoking
in the HAR Group dropped significantly from baseline to
3-month (from 6.62 to 6.32, p=0.007), and further declined
(from 6.62 to 5.88, p<0.01) at 6-month. In the Text Group, this
score decreased significantly from baseline to 3-month (from
6.67 to 6.27, p=0.003), and further decreased to 5.82 (p<0.01)
at 6-month. In the Control Group, this score also decreased
from baseline to 3-month (from 6.42 to 6.39, p=0.21), and
to 6.32 (p=0.02) at 6-month. The HAR and Text group had
significantly lower scores than that in the Control Group at
6-month (p=0.02 and 0.05, respectively) (Figure 14).

Figure 14

Perceived level of importance to quit smoking'

All —— HAR

—%— Text Control —o— Non-trial

Months

Within-group pair-sample t-test (p-values):

Baseline versus Baseline versus

3-month 6-month

HAR 0.007 <0.001
Text 0.003 <0.001
Control 0.21 0.02
Between group independent t-test (p-values):

HAR HAR Text

versus Text versus Control | versus Control

Baseline 0.75 0.22 0.12
3-month 0.77 0.67 0.48
6-month 0.73 0.02 0.05

'Scale 0-10, 0 lowest, 10 highest; analysis excluded missing data.

Perceived difficulty of quitting

The mean score of perceived difficulty to quit smoking in the
HAR Group increased from 6.96 at baseline to 7.39 at 3-month
then slightly decreased to 7.37 at 6-month, but the changes
were not statistically significant (all p>0.05). When compared
with the baseline (7.06), the mean score in the Text Group
increased to 7.75 at 3-month (p<0.001) and to 7.38 at 6-month
(p=0.04). This score in the Control Group significantly
increased from 6.93 at baseline to 7.63 at 6-month (p<0.001).
The Text Group perceived quitting as more difficult than the
HAR (7.75 vs. 7.39, p=0.03) and Control Group (7.75 vs. 7.39,
p=0.06) at 3-month (Figure 15).

Figure 15

Perceived level of difficulty to quit smoking'
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Months

Within-group pair-sample t-test (p-values):

Baseline versus Baseline versus

3-month 6-month

HAR 0.11 0.29
Text <0.001 0.04
Control 0.37 <0.001
Between group independent t-test (p-values):

HAR HAR Text

versus Text | versus Control | versus Control

Baseline 0.56 0.83 0.43
3-month 0.03 >0.995 0.06
6-month 0.95 0.09 0.12

'Scale 0-10, 0 lowest, 10 highest; analysis excluded missing data.

Perceived confidence of quitting

The HAR Group’s mean score of perceived confidence to quit
smoking increased from baseline (5.68) to 3-month (5.98),
but decreased to 5.74 at 6-month, although the changes
were not significant (all p>0.05). This score in the Text Group
also increased from 5.65 at baseline to 6.00 at 3-month but
decreased to 5.50 at 6-month, and the changes were also
not significant (all p>0.05). This score in the Control Group
dropped from 5.58 at baseline to 5.39 at 3-month but then
increased to 5.47 at 6-month without statistical significance



(all p>0.05). The mean scores in the HAR and Text Group were
significantly higher than that in the Control Group (both
p=0.01) at 3-month (Figure 16).

Figure 16

Perceived level of confidence to quit smoking'

All —+— HAR —*— Text —&— Control —o— Non-trial

Score (0-10)

Months

Within-group pair-sample t-test (p-values):

Baseline versus Baseline versus
3-month 6-month

HAR 0.40 0.61
Text 0.17 0.18
Control 0.19 0.28
Between group independent t-test (p-values):

HAR HAR Text

versus Text | versus Control | versus Control

Baseline 0.86 0.53 0.66
3-month 0.93 0.01 0.01
6-month 0.24 0.19 091

'Scale 0-10, 0 lowest, 10 highest; analysis excluded missing data.

Cessation attempt at the 3- and 6-month follow-
ups

At 3-month follow-up, the rate of cessation attempt, including
quitters was 43.1%. The HAR Group had a significantly
higher rate than the Control Group (46.8% vs. 38.1%, p=0.01).
However, the difference was not significant when quitters
were excluded (37.9% vs. 32.3%, p=0.13). At 6-month follow-
up, the overall rate of cessation attempt including quitters
was 49.5%. The HAR Group had a significantly higher rate than
the Control Group (52.7% vs. 43.3%, p=0.01). The difference
was marginally significant when quitters were excluded
(42.5% vs. 35.6%, p=0.07) (Figure 17). The rates of cessation
attempt were similar between Text and Control groups at 3-
and 6- month.

Figure 17

Rate of cessation attempt at 3-month and
6-month follow-ups

B HAR B Text I Control B Non-trial Total
60% 591
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40%
30%
20%

10%

0% —1
? 3-monthinclude  3-monthexclude  6-monthinclude  6-month exclude
quitters (N=1,317)  quitters (N=1,150) quitters (N=1,317)  quitters (N=1,106)

For those who could be followed up at 6-month, the 4
most common reasons of having cessation attempts were:
(1) illness prevention (52.1%), (2) commitment to the QTW
Contest (38.4%), (3) cigarettes are expensive (22.3%), and (4)
concerned about family’s health (19.4%) (Figure 18).

Figure 18

Reasons for quit attempts among participants who had at
least one cessation attempt during the study period
(N=649)"*

Smoking-related illnesses prevention 52.1%

Commitment to the QTW Contest 384%

Cigarettes are expensive 22.3%
Concern about family’s health 19.4%

Encouragement/Pressure from others
Receiving medical treatment due to illness

Bonus/prize of the Contest

Inconvenient to smoke due
to less smoking area

Appearance
Becoming role model of children
Pregnancy

The self-help booklet

'Participants who were lost to follow up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

About three-quarter (72.9%) participants did not use any
specific methods to quit. The 3 most common methods
used by participants were: (1) stopping purchasing cigarette
(24.7%), (2) drinking water/eating snack (23.3%), and (3) using
Nicotine Replacement Therapy (NRT) (13.6%) (Figure 19).
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Figure 19

Methods of quit attempt among participants who had
at least one cessation attempt during the study period
(N=649)"*

Stopping purchasing cigarettes 24.7%

Drinking water/eating snacks 233%

Using NRT 13.6%
Using prescribed medicine from doctor 12.6%

Using recommendations provided by others
Using information obtained from the Internet

Using self-help booklet

Receiving counseling through cessation hotline

Joining in smoking cessation activities
held by the community

'Participants who were lost to follow up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

The 4 most common withdrawal symptoms for participants
who had quit attempt were: (1) craving for tobacco (62.7%),
(2) difficult to concentrate (18.5%), (3) cannot sleep well (15.1%),
and (4) feeling irritated or losing temper or angry (13.3%)
(Figure 20).

Figure 20

Withdrawal symptoms in all participants who had at least
one cessation attempt during the study period (N=649) "

Craving for tobacco 62.7%

Difficult to concentrate 18.5%

Cannot sleep well 15.1%
Irritated/lose temper/angry 13.3%
Difficult to fall asleep
Increase appetite
Anxiety

Gaining weight

Depression

'Participants who were lost to follow up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.
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Social support during smoking cessation

Participants who responded to the 6-month follow-up
perceived support in the quitting process from: (1) spouse /
partner (17.5%), (2) friends (12.9%), (3) parents (8.1%), and
(4) children (7.7%). However, over 40% (41.9%) did not receive
any social support (Figure 21).

Figure 21

Perceived support in the quitting process in all
participants at 6-month follow-up (N = 954) "2

Spouse/partner

Friends

Parents

Children

Other relatives

Siblings

Colleagues

Healthcare professionals

No social support 41.9%

'Participants who were lost to follow up were excluded.
*Participants could choose more than one option.

Use and satisfaction of smoking cessation aids

Printed materials

In participants who responded to the 6-month follow-up,
nearly three quarters (72.1%) had read the printed smoking
cessation materials. The three RCT groups showed similar
results (all p>0.05). Of the 688 participants who read the
materials, 72.4% reported that the printed materials could
motivate them to quit, and 44.9% reported that these
materials could increase their cessation attempt (Figure 22).



Figure 22

Figure 24

Use of printed smoking cessation materials in all
participants at 6-month (N=954) "?

Perceived helpfulness of “Tangle” in all
participants at 6-month (N=954) "

H HAR B Text = Control B Non-trial [ Total

716
80% 2 N1 707 7 g 124

70 117 721
70%

60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%

The materials could motivate  The materials could increase
him/her to quit (n=688) his/her quit attempt (n=688)

Read the printed
materials (n=954)

191
1.88
1.85
1.82
1.79
1.76
173

1.70
Non-trial Total

HAR Text Control

! Participants could choose more than one option.

*Participants who were lost to follow up at 6-month were excluded;
Missing data were not displayed.

Of the 266 (27.9%) participants who did not read the
materials, the three most common reasons were:
(1) perceived it ineffective (29.7%), (2) too busy (26.7%), and
(3) lost it (15.0%) (Figure 23).

Figure 23

Reasons of not reading the materials of
participants at 6-month (N=266) ">

Perceived it ineffective 29.7%
Too busy 26.7%
Lost it 15.0%
No interest 12.0%

! Participants could choose more than one option.

? Participants who were lost to follow up at 6-month and missing data were
excluded.

Tangle

At 6-month follow-up, in a scale of 1 (very helpless) to 5
(very helpful) for the perceived helpfulness of the “Tangle”
for smoking cessation, the mean score of helpfulness was
1.83 (SD=0.83). No significant difference was observed in
between group comparisons (all p>0.05) (Figure 24).

' Score 1-5: 1 lowest, 5 highest.
? Participants who were lost to follow up at 6-month were excluded;
missing data were not displayed.

Perception on the follow-up calls

Of the 954 participants responded to the 6-month follow-up,
85.7% agreed that the frequency of the follow-up calls was
appropriate. All groups had similar results (all p>0.05) (Figure
25).

Figure 25
Perception on the follow-up calls in1aII
participants at 6-month (N=954)
Too many I Appropriate M Too few M Others
100% — 44 57 66 28 52
38 1.1 18 09 20
80% [~
60% |~ 842 866 838 925 857
40% [—
20% [—
75 67 77 38 69
0% T T T : )
HAR Text Control Non-trial Total

! Participants who were lost to follow up at 6-month were excluded;
missing data were not displayed.
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4. Discussion

In about three months from June to September 2016, the A
“Quit to Win” Contest successfully disseminated the smoking
cessation messages in the community by organizing
68 recruitment activities in streets and shopping malls
with 74 university students, NGO helpers and volunteers
taking part in health promotion and recruitment in 18
districts throughout Hong Kong. Near 7,000 smokers were
approached by the SC ambassadors and about 5,700
smokers received SC promotion leaflets and 1,317 smokers
participated in the Contest. By ITT analysis, the overall self-
reported abstinence rate was 12.7% at 3-month and 16.0% at
6-month for all participants. Compared to the results of the
recent years, the abstinence rate at 6-month of the 7™ "Quit
to Win" Contest was the highest.

Aside from the attraction of financial incentive, different
interventions and strategies were provided to the
participants of the 7" "Quit to Win" Contest accordingly.
Our RCT findings indicated that motivating smokers to quit
using higher intensity and personalized active referral to
SC services could increase self-reported abstinence by near
50% and double the biochemically validated abstinence
rate of the control condition. Compared with last Contest’s
active referral intervention, this year’s active referral was
more intensive and personalized to smokers as an on-
site SC appointment booking services were provided. SC
appointments were made according to smokers’ decision
and research staff assisted the booking process accordingly.
The higher intensity and personalized active referral
intervention was well accepted by the smokers as most
participants in the HAR group consented to be referred (77%)
and over one-third of them used the SC service eventually
(34.9%). Yet, the proportion of smokers who chose the SC
referral service was slightly smaller than that of last year’s,
and only 34.4% of smokers from HAR group were intended
to quit within seven days (reported at baseline), suggesting
that smokers might not be ready to decide or confirm the
use of SC services immediately on-site or within 1-week.

In spite of the lower acceptance to SC services, high intensity
and personalized active referral enhanced by approximately
20% (29.1% in 2015 and 34.9% in 2016) the proportion of
smokers who actually used SC services compared with last
year's Contest. This suggested that face-to-face introduction
of SC services followed by immediate (or within one-
week) booking could motivate participants to attend SC
appointment afterwards. On the contrary, SC service usage
rate was significantly lower in the Text Group than that of
the HAR Group at all follow-up time points, as there was
no active referral service provided in the Text Group and
the participants had to book the SC service appointment
themselves. Thus, higher intensity of active referral to SC
services enhanced the actual usage rate of SC services as it
was more motivating and convenient.

Research showed that one of the major barriers to accept
SC services was the lack of understanding towards SC
treatments . With sufficient knowledge about SC treatments
provided through face-to-face introduction and the
information card, cessation attempt and quit rate could be
enhanced. Yet, busy schedule and time mismatch were the
two major reasons for not using the SC service. Over 60% of
the participants were employees and not available to attend
the SC clinics which generally operated during weekdays
from 9am to 5pm. Thus, more support from employers
such as providing leave allowance for SC might enhance SC
service use. Besides, 40% of the participants reported that
they did not have social support for SC. Although reminder
texts were sent to participants of "Quit to Win" Contest, text-
based interventions could not provide real-time responses
from the counselors, which might affect smokers’ intention
to quit and lower the intensity of social support ™. Thus, an
instant communication through text messaging would be
advantageous. Smokers found that instant messaging is
quick, instant to respond and easy to use. Instant messaging
might provide some social support and motivation to
smokers for SC"°.

Regarding smoking cessation aids, a warning leaflet was
distributed to the HAR Group and the Text Group, but a
12-page self-help SC booklet was given to participants in
the Control Group. Although over 70% of participants did
read the printed smoking cessation materials, many of
them reported that they lost or were not interested in the
printed aids. Similar to those in the last Contest, this cohort
of smokers might be less receptive to the health warning
leaflet. Health warnings had already been widely publicized
and probably those hard-core smokers in the cohort were
not motivated by these warnings at all. Nevertheless, the
results highlighted the importance to continue to design
and evaluate the most effective advice, leaflet, or using social
media and other modes on referring smokers to evidence-
based SC intervention.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, the 7" "Quit to Win" Contest successfully
reached a large number of smokers and non-smokers in the
community and promoted SC messages and the existing
services. "Quit to Win" Contest provides an important
platform to disseminate SC messages to a vast number
of smokers and non-smokers. The higher intensity active
referral intervention effectively increased abstinence rate at
six months. Early proactive contact and referring smokers
to SC service providers enhanced SC service use, which
significantly increased abstinence. Longer-term follow-up
and cocktail interventions including different combinations
of very brief intervention are warranted.

6. Clinical trial Registration

Clinical trial registration number: NCT02804880

(ClinicalTrials.gov) (https://clinicaltrials.gov/)



7.

1.

References

Census & Statistics Department, Hong Kong SAR
Government. (2018). Pattern of Smoking. Thematic
Household Survey, Report No.64. Hong Kong: Census &
Statistics Department.

Lam, TH. (2012). Absolute risk of tobacco deaths: one
in two smokers will be killed by